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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

(x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 20:
Or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number (-31313

Broad

ENERGY

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its @mart

Delaware 88-040916C
(State of or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organizatior Identification No.)

3240 S. Central Avenue
Cicero, lllinois 60804
(Address of principal executive office (Zip code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area ¢(708) 780-4800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(thefExchange AcNone
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢heExchange Act: Common Stock, $0.001 par v
Indicate by check mark whether the Regjigtis a well-known seasoned issuer, as defin@&lle 405 of the Securities Act. Yd3 No
Indicate by check mark if the Registriamot required to file reports pursuant to Secfi@ror 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Y& No X

Indicate by check mark whether the Regigt(1) has filed all reports required to be filgdSection 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act dutimgy preceding 12 months (or for such sht
period that the Registrant was required to filehsweports), and (2) has been subject to such fikgmirements for the past 90 days. Y@s  No O

Indicate by check mark whether the Regigthas submitted electronically and posted oodtporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Diita required to be submitted and posted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.40thisf chapter) during the preceding 12 monthsd¢ostich shorter period that the Registrant wasiredjtio submit and post such
files). Yes & No O



Indicate by check mark if disclosure efidquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulat®i# is not contained herein, and will not be cared, to the best of Registrant's knowledge,
in definitive proxy or information statements inporated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 1®#any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the Regjidtis a large accelerated filer, an accelerated & non-accelerated filer or a smaller repgriompany. See the definitions of "large
accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smatkporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the ExchaAge

Large accelerated fildd Accelerated fileE1 Non-accelerated filed Smaller reporting comparisi
(Do not check if a smaller reporting
company,

Indicate by check mark whether the Regpidtis a shell company, as defined in Rule 12lbtB@Exchange Act. YeBl No

As of June 30, 2013 the aggregate maskee of the Registrant's voting common stock glcon-affiliates of the Registrant was approxirya$#5,807,796, based upon the $4.78
per share closing sale price of the Registrantisncon stock as reported on the NASDAQ Capital Market purposes of this calculation, the Registsatitectors and executive officers and
holders of 10% or more of the Registrant's outstanshares of voting common stock have been asstwneel affiliates, with such affiliates holding aggregate of 4,893,506 shares of the
Registrant's voting common stock on June 30, 2013.

The number of shares of the Registraotsmon stock, par value $0.001, outstanding asartM6, 2014, was 14,692,177.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant's Proxy Staenfior the Registrant's 2014 Annual Meeting ofc8tmlders are incorporated by reference in Paxdflthis Form 10-K.
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PART |
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statemen$

This Annual Report on Form 10-K ("Annual Reportihtains "forward-looking statements"—that is, stag¢ats related to future, not
past, even—as defined in Section 21E of the Securities Exgihdct of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act),réflect our current
expectations regarding our future growth, result®perations, financial condition, cash flows, meriance, business prospects and
opportunities, as well as assumptions made by jifiodmation currently available to, our managemedrrward-looking statements include
any statement that does not directly relate to ment or historical fact. We have tried to identffyrward-looking statements by using words
such as "anticipate,” "believe," "expect," “intehtlyill," "should," "may," "plan" and similar expresions, but these words are not the exclL
means of identifying forward-looking statementeskhstatements are based on information currentyjlable to us and are subject to various
risks, uncertainties and other factors, includibgt not limited to, those discussed in Item 1AKRiactors" in Part | of this Annual Report,
that could cause our actual growth, results of @tiens, financial condition, cash flows, performanbusiness prospects and opportunities to
differ materially from those expressed in, or iradlby, these statements. Our forward-looking statésnmay include or relate to the
following: (i) our plans to continue to grow our siness through organic growth; (ii) our beliefs viespect to the sufficiency of our liquid
and our plans to evaluate alternate sources of ifumd necessary; (iii) our plans and assumptionsjuding estimated costs and saving
opportunities, regarding our ongoing restructuriatforts designed to improve our financial performan(iv) our expectations relating to
state, local and federal regulatory frameworks etffeg the industries in which we compete, includimgwind energy industry, and the related
extension, continuation or renewal of federal tageintives and grants and state renewable portgibmdards ("RPSs"); (v) our expectations
with respect to our customer relationships andrésfto diversify our customer base and sector fans leverage customer relationships
across business units; (vi) our ability to realiz@enue from customer orders and backlog; (vii) plans with respect to the use of proceeds
from financing activities and our ability to opeeadur business efficiently, manage capital expengtand costs effectively, and generate
flow; (viii) our beliefs and expectations relatibgthe economy and the potential impact it may laveur business, including our custome
(ix) our beliefs regarding the state of the win@:egy market and other energy and industrial marigeiserally and the impact of competition
and economic volatility in those markets; (x) oypectations relating to the impact of the inquigytbe U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC") and environmental complianedters; and (xi) the potential loss of tax betsdfithe Company experiences an
"ownership change" under Section 382 of the InteRevenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "IRC")skould not consider any list of such
factors to be an exhaustive statement of all ofigies, uncertainties or potentially inaccurate asgtions that could cause our curre
expectations or beliefs to change. Except as esfyresquired by the federal securities laws, weartake no obligation to update such factors
or to publicly announce the results of any of tmvard-looking statements contained herein to wffature events, developments or changed
circumstances or for any other reason.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

As used in this Annual Report, the termsg,"Wus," "our," "Broadwind" and the "Company" refe Broadwind Energy, Inc., a Delaware
corporation headquartered in Cicero, lllinois, &sdvholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Subsidiarie®dllars are presented in thousands unless
otherwise stated.

Business Overview

Broadwind provides technologically advanbégh-value products and services to energy, miaimgjinfrastructure sector customers,
primarily in the U.S. Our most significant preseiigvithin the U.S. wind energy industry, althougé have diversified into other industrial
markets in order to
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improve our capacity utilization and reduce oura@pe to uncertainty related to favorable goverraigrolicies currently supporting the U.S.
wind energy industry. Within the U.S. wind energguistry, we provide products and services to terbianufacturers and wind farm
developers and operators. Outside of the wind gn@iarket, we provide precision gearing, specialgyjdments and services to a broad rang
industrial customers for oil and gas, mining, sta@ other industrial applications.

In 2013, 80% of our sales were linked ®wind energy industry, predominantly for towersdifor new wind turbines, but also to sen
the installed base of wind turbines. The marketfaw U.S. wind energy installations is affectedalayumber of factors, including: (i) econor
growth and the associated demand for new elegtig@heration; (ii) the cost of competing energyrses, primarily natural gas; (iii) federal
and statdevel wind energy development incentives; (iv) dafale transmission infrastructure and the prolifieraof smart grid technology; ai
(v) improvements in wind energy cost competitivene=sulting from the maturation of technologies sanvices within the wind energy
industry. The highest impact development incenlize been the federal Production Tax Credit (theC'Tor new wind turbines placed into
service. Legislation supporting this incentive basn intermittent, which has caused volatilitylie temand for new wind energy projects. Fol
example, after the industry achieved record nevailagions totaling 13,131 megawatts ("MW") in 2012e level of wind turbine installations
in 2013 dropped sharply to 1,084 MW, a reductiomofe than 90% as a result of the expected expirati the PTC at the end of 2012. This
decrease was largely due to the temporary expirafithe PTC at the end of 2012, anticipation ofoltbroadly curtailed wind farm
development across the U.S. beginning in mid-2@ithough the PTC was reinstated at the beginning0df3, the lack of advanced stage
projects in the development pipeline at that tiesutted in only a minimal level of installationsngpleted during 2013. In response to the
reinstatement of the PTC, there has been a restegdrevelopment activity, and new installatiors expected to rise significantly beginning
in 2014.

Our sales of wind towers and services avadly correlated to the demand for new wind tugbirHowever, demand for our products also
reflects the level of competition in our respectinarkets, as well as other macro-economic faciusing 2013, despite the sharp drop in wing
turbine installations, demand for our wind toweissvetrong because several competitors had exiggoutsiness, and we have started working
with large customers representing a significantiporof the market which we did not previously serBy contrast, demand for our service
offerings dropped sharply in 2013 as customersuresal a larger share of their service activitiea yrear of low installation activity.

Outside of wind energy, we serve a numibetieer industrial markets, including oil and gasning and steel production. Although sales
to these customers currently represent only ab@Ut gercent of our revenue, our strategic objedtite grow in these markets, with a
medium-term target of deriving up to half of ouveaue outside of the wind energy industry. Our potsl sold into these markets include
gearboxes (both new and rebuilt), loose gearingagyg industrial weldments. The following tabldalls the percentage of our revenue
generated in each sector for the past two years:

Annual
Revenue
2013 2012
New Wind Installation: 69% 62%
Wind Installed Base Suppc 11% 13%
Industrial Gearing & Weldmen 20% 25%
Total 100% 10(%
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Segments

See Note 17, "Segment Reporting" in Partti&mn 15 in the notes to our consolidated finanstiatements for a discussion of our financial
information related to geographic areas, revermsiating income or loss and total assets by segielowing is a description of products
and services offered in each segment:

Towers and Weldments

Our Towers and Weldments segment specsiizéhe production of towers to support wind tads, and the fabrication of large industrial
weldments for oil and gas, mining and other indakttustomers. Our production facilities, locatadManitowoc, Wisconsin and Abilene,
Texas, are situated in close proximity to the prymd.S. domestic wind energy resources and equipmeanufacturing hubs, and are also
easily accessible to key oil and gas deposits mahgistrial equipment manufacturers.

Our towers are sold to wind turbine oridiequipment manufacturers ("OEMs") who utilize puoducts in the installation of wind
turbines. We specialize in heavier "next generdtwind towers that are larger, more technically athed towers, designed for two MW and
larger wind turbines. Our two manufacturing fa@kt have a combined annual tower production capatipproximately 500 towers,
sufficient to support turbines generating more th@90 MW of power.

Our industrial weldments product line applour core competency in welding large structtoegher industries, including the oil and gas
mining and heavy equipment industries. We fabritiaése large industrial weldments in or adjacemiLiotower plants in Manitowoc,
Wisconsin and Abilene, Texas. These facilities hi#neescale, capacity, cranes and ancillary equipmesded to support integrated blasting,
cutting, beveling, rolling and welding capabilitiés addition, the Abilene facility offers the insluy a large, modern blast booth and a large,
modern paint booth.

Due to the customized nature of our pragiubiey are generally sold through our direct stdese following an evaluation, qualification
and testing period, which may occur over a numibenanths. We compete based on product performaqnadity, price, location and available
capacity.

Gearing

We engineer, build and remanufacture piatigears and gearing systems for oil and gas, em&tgy, mining, steel and other industrial
applications. We use an integrated manufacturioggss, generally starting with steel bars or fagginvhich are then machined in our Cicero,
lllinois facility. Most precision gears are heatdted in our Neville Island, Pennsylvania faciityd then returned to the Cicero facility for
finishing and assembly.

For several years prior to 2010, we predamily focused on manufacturing gearing for windbitoes. As production of gearing for wind
turbines has increasingly moved outside of the & sales to this industry are now mainly folaepment gearing for the existing installed
wind turbine fleet. Beginning in 2010, we increased sales force and shifted our focus to the matufe of custom-engineered gearing
systems and gearboxes for oil and gas, mining #mel andustrial customers, which now comprise ttagamity of this segment's sales. Due to
the highly specialized nature of our gearing, gémerally sold through our direct sales forceofelhg an evaluation, qualifying, and
prototyping and testing period, which may occurrav@umber of months. We compete based on produfdrmance, quality, on-time
delivery, price and lead time.

Services

We offer a comprehensive range of serviizasarily to wind farm developers and operators. $fdecialize in non-routine maintenance
services for both kilowatt and megawatt class hebi We also offer comprehensive field servicaheavind energy industry. We are
increasingly focusing our efforts
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on the identification and/or development of prodamd service offerings which will improve the réiliity and efficiency of wind turbines, and
therefore enhance the economic benefits to ounmests. We provide wind services across the U.$h grimary dispatch locations in South
Dakota and Texas. We operate drivetrain serviceecgin Abilene, Texas for multi-megawatt wind s, and in Howard, South Dakota for
kilowatt class turbines.

Our Services business competes with a nuofheind turbine manufacturers and independentisemproviders in a highljragmented bt
growing industry. Sales contacts are typicallyiéd through a small direct sales force, and tiincaperating managers located in our service
locations. Sales are generally made under indiViduahase orders, although we periodically enttr blanket purchase orders with key
customers.

Business and Operating Strategy

We intend to capitalize on the markets indrenergy, oil and gas, mining and other industaaticals in North America by leveraging ¢
core competencies in large precision gearing avetiains, industrial welding and non-routine figlervice repairs. Our strategic objectives
include the following:

. Expand and diversify our customer base. In 2013, due to growth in sales to two large toetestomers added in 2012, and
weaker gearing and services markets, sales defiomdour top five customers represented 83% of sakes, up from 67% in
2012. To reduce the concentration of sales andceedur wind energy industry concentration, we hexganded our market
research activities and our sales force in supgfagkpanding and diversifying our customer base.aféepositioned to expand
industrial sales of both gearing and weldmentshane expanded our manufacturing of gearboxes fanei gas, mining and
steel customers. In the Services segment, we auséd on expansion with large wind farm owners@gis and on
developing new value-added products for our custeme

. I mprove capacity utilization and profitability. Tower and gear manufacturing and drivetrain rarfesturing all require
significant capital investments. As a result ohgfigant capital expenditures made in 2008 and 20@9have manufacturing
capacity available that will potentially allow ws gignificantly increase our annual revenues. VWenairking to improve our
capacity utilization and financial results by usmg existing manufacturing capacity to continu@émetrate the North Americ
wind energy market, and further expand into otlmergy and infrastructure sectors. In 2013, we talers for wind towers that
will substantially consume all of our available gvproduction capacity in 2014 for the first tinmeour history. In addition, we
are nearing completion of a multi-year restructygtan to reduce overhead and operating cost$ af alr businesses and
increase the overall efficiency of our operatiorglgrmaintaining required manufacturing capacitye #kpect this multi-year
plan to be complete by mid-2014.

. I mprove production technology and operational efficiency. We believe that the proper coordination and irgtgn of the
supply chain plus Continuous Improvement initiasiege key factors that enable high operating efficies, increased reliabilit
better delivery and lower costs. Our manufactufawglities include state-of-thafrt equipment and lean processes to help en
our operational efficiency and flexibility. The arigg restructuring of our Gearing facilities shofddther enhance operating
efficiency in this segment. We have staffed ourapens with Continuous Improvement experts in otd€urther optimize our
production processes to generate increased olgpatage our scale and lower our costs while miaimg product quality.

. Leverage customer relationships across business units. We believe that there is a significant opportyiit support our wind
energy and industrial customers by bundling oudpots and

4
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services into integrated solutions. We are tramgjatur cross-business competencies in gearinglimghnd services into
solutions for customers in the wind energy, oil gad and mining market verticals. In wind energg,centinue to leverage our
deep precision gearing expertise and services dapai the remanufacturing of gearboxes both op#tr and in our drivetrain
service centers.

Restructuring Activities

During the third quarter of 2011, we cortédca review of our business strategies and prquans based on the outlook for the economy
at large, the forecast for the industries we sanaour business environment. We concluded thataunufacturing footprint and fixed cost
base were too large and expensive for our medium-teeds and began restructuring our facility cipand management structure to
consolidate and increase the efficiencies of oarafons.

We are executing a plan to reduce ourifgddotprint by approximately 40% through the sated/or closure through the end of 2014 of
facilities comprising a total of approximately 6000 square feet. As part of this plan, in the tljuérter of 2011, we determined that our idle
tower manufacturing facility in Brandon, South D&ké@he "Brandon Facility") should be sold, andhassult we reclassified the Brandon
Facility property and equipment to Assets HeldSate and the related indebtedness to Liabilitielsl e Sale. In April 2013, we completed
the sale of the Brandon Facility, generating apjnately $8,000 in net proceeds after closing caststhe repayment of the mortgage on the
Brandon Facility. Including the sale of the Brandeatility, we have so far closed or reduced ousdégpresence at six facilities and achieved
reduction of approximately 400,000 square feetim@uR013, we determined that our Clintonville, Wissin facility (the "Clintonville
Facility") was no longer required in our operati@ml reclassified the property and equipment aatativith the Clintonville Facility to Asse
Held for Sale. The most significant remaining retthrcrelates to the anticipated closure and digjposof one of our gearing facilities located
in Cicero, lllinois (the "Cicero Avenue Facility"The use of the Cicero Avenue Facility in our prctibn was significantly curtailed at the end
of 2013 and we recorded a related $1,732 impairnpemharily in cost of sales in the fourth quané2013. We believe our remaining
locations will be sufficient to support our Towensd Weldments, Gearing, Services and general cagand administrative activities, while
allowing for growth for the next several years.

In the third quarter of 2012, we identifi@$352 liability associated with the planned sdithe Cicero Avenue Facility. We further
adjusted the liability in the fourth quarter of 3y recording an additional $258 charge. The liigtis associated with environmental
remediation costs that were originally identifietile preparing the site for sale.

Including costs incurred to date, we expleat a total of approximately $13,200 of net cegtsbe incurred to implement this
restructuring initiative. To date, we have incureggbroximately $11,500, or 88% of the total expeéctstructuring costs. Of the total
restructuring costs incurred, a total of approxeha$4,800 consists of non-cash charges.

COMPANY HISTORY

We were incorporated in Nevada in 1996 laslBoot Enterprises, Inc. ("Blackfoot"). In Febry&2006, Blackfoot completed a reverse
shell transaction with Tower Tech Systems Inc. (f&éoTech"), whereupon Blackfoot became a holdinggany for Tower Tech and
subsequently changed its name to Tower Tech Haddimg ("Holdings"). In 2008, Holdings reincorpadtin Delaware and changed its name
to Broadwind Energy, Inc. Through our October 286guisitions of R.B.A. Inc. ("RBA") and Brad Fodgzar Works, Inc. ("Brad Foote"), a
acquisitions of Energy Maintenance Services, LLEMS") and Badger Transport Inc. ("Badger"”) in Jagwand June of 2008, respectively,
expanded upon our core platform as a wind towerpmrant manufacturer and established our gearirtgregs

5
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industrial products, technical services, precisgpair and engineering and logistics businessdgalith 2011, we divested Badger which has
been treated as a discontinued operation. EffeEuary 1, 2011, EMS changed its name to Broadi8grvices, LLC ("Broadwind
Services"), and effective March 1, 2011, Tower Teleanged its name to Broadwind Towers, Inc. ("Bvaad Towers").

SALES AND MARKETING

We market our towers, gearing and industveéddments products and our maintenance servigesply through our direct sales force.
Our sales and marketing strategy is to developnaaidtain long-term relationships with our energy a&frastructure sector customers and to
offer an integrated suite of products and servicgeem. We believe this strategy best leveragegearbox and blade knowledge and our cor
competency in specialty welding with customers. Wekeve this strategy also offers opportunitiesrmss-sell products and services across ot
platform of product and service offerings. We atgend for our offerings to fulfill needs that otustomers may consider non-core and do nof
desire to provide for within their organizationsithih the wind energy industry, our customer bameststs of wind turbine manufacturers who
supply end-users and wind farm developers with detag wind turbines, as well as wind farm develspard wind farm operators themselves
Within the oil and gas and mining industries, oustomer base consists of manufacturers of hydrémaldturing and mud pumps, mining
equipment and off-highway vehicles. To supportdfferts of our sales force, we utilize a numbemafrketing tactics to build our brand and
position and promote our products and services.dffarts include participation in industry confecess, media relations, use of social media
channels, use of our website and other channelsrnect with customers.

COMPETITION

We do not believe that any competitors hdereeloped a suite of products and services foNtmgh American wind energy industry
directly comparable to those offered by our busieesHowever, each of our businesses faces compdtitm both domestic and international
companies, and some of our customers maintaimiateapabilities that compete with our offeringsay of these competitors are larger and
better capitalized than we are.

For our Towers and Weldments segment,atgebt North American based competitor is Trinitgustries. Emerging competitors include
Vestas Wind Systems, which has begun to producertofer third party customers in addition to megiis own captive tower requirements,
and Marmen Industries, a Canadian manufacturehtimtecently expanded into the U.S. market. IrR28Ihumber of tower producers,
including DMI Industries, Katana Summit, Amerondmtational and SIAG, exited the market. We alse fammpetition from imported towers,
predominantly from Asian manufacturers. Howevempants from China and Vietnam have substantiallyseddollowing a determination by
the U.S. International Trade Commission that wimaldrs from those countries were being sold in tt& dt less than fair value. As a result of
the determination, the U.S. Department of Comm&sged antidumping and countervailing duty ordersnaports of wind towers from China
and an antidumping duty order on imports of toviesm Vietnam.

The market for blade repair, drivetrain diett services in which our Services segment cdegps highly fragmented, and includes
OEMs such as General Electric and Siemens, largle-service providers such as enXco, and a nunfiedependent service providers,
including Outland Energy Services and UpWind Solusi

In our Gearing segment, which is focusedhanoil and gas, mining and steel markets, ourdagpetitors include Overton Chicago Gear,
Cincinnati Gearing Systems, Merit Gear and Horsh&dscott. In addition, we also compete with thieinal gear manufacturing capacity of
relevant equipment manufacturers and face growimgpetition from foreign competitors. We also mastiige wind energy gear sets, but do
not manufacture complete gearboxes for this inglustr
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE

Our operations are subject to numerousréddstate and local environmental laws and regrat While it is our objective to maintain
compliance with these laws and regulations, it matybe possible to quantify with certainty the moie impact of actions regarding
environmental matters, particularly remediation attter compliance efforts that we may undertakidénfuture. Several of our facilities hav
history of industrial operations and contaminaragéehbeen detected at some of our facilities. Reféem 3 "Legal Proceedings" for further
discussion of environmental regulation and compgkan

BACKLOG

We sell our towers under either long-teupmy agreements or individual purchase ordersedéing on the size and the duration of the
purchase commitment. Under long-term supply agreésneve typically receive purchase orders on aopéribasis based upon our customer's
forecast of production volume requirements. In galn¢he mix of purchase orders versus supply ages¢s depends on the availability of
towers and the firm planning horizon of the custarver our Services and Gearing segments, purclsegenerally based on individual
purchase orders. As of December 31, 2013, therdatfeunt of our backlog believed to be firm under supply agreements, purchase orders
awarded and service contracts was approximatel§ #dflion, of which $215 million is expected to Helivered during 2014. This represen
153% increase from the backlog at December 31, 2@irdarily due to a tighter supply/demand balafizevind towers in the U.S. market,
and we do not expect backlogs to remain at thisllem an ongoing basis.

SEASONALITY

The majority of our business is not affeldy seasonality. Within our Services segment,mags can be negatively affected by weather
related constraints, typically during portions lo€ ffirst and fourth quarters of the year.

EMPLOYEES

We had 775 employees at December 31, 26Mhich 614 were in manufacturing, service anttifipport related functions and 161
were in administrative functions. Approximately 1&8¥our employees were covered by collective baniggi agreements with local unions in
Cicero, lllinois and Neville Island, PennsylvanteDeecember 31, 2013. The collective bargaining exguent with the Neville Island union is
expected to remain in effect through October 20heé collective bargaining agreement with the Ciasrimn expired in February 2014; the
parties are currently negotiating a new collechaegaining agreement.

RAW MATERIALS

The primary raw material used in the cargtton of wind towers and gearing products is site¢he form of steel plate, bar stock, forgings
and castings. Although we are generally responsilslprocurement of the raw materials, in some sasg customers have sourced and
retained title to steel plate which we convert ifibdshed wind towers.

We operate a multiple supplier sourcingtsigy and source our raw materials through vasopgliers located throughout the U.S. and
abroad. We do not generally have long-term supgigements with our raw materials suppliers andetyomatch terms with those of our
customers to limit our exposure to commodity pfloetuations. We believe that we will be able tdaib an adequate supply of steel and othe
raw materials to meet our manufacturing requiresieadthough from time to time we have faced shadagf specific grades of steel, which
may limit our ability to meet customer demand aadse manufacturing inefficiencies.

7
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QUALITY CONTROL

We have a long-standing focus on procefssemnsuring the manufacture of higiality products. To achieve high standards of petidn
and operational quality, we implement strict antbagive quality control and inspection throughaut production processes. We maintain
internal quality controls over all core manufaatgriprocesses and carry out quality assurance itisps@t the completion of each major
manufacturing step to ensure the quality of oudpots. The manufacturing process at our Gearingatipe, for example, involves
transforming forged steel into precision gearsulgtogear cutting, heat treating, testing and finghWe inspect and test raw materials before
they enter the assembly process, re-test the raeriala after rough machining, test the functioniiggear teeth and cores after thermal
treatment and accuracy test final outputs for caampk with product specifications. We believe aweistment in industry-leading heat
treatment, high precision machining, specializedding technologies and cutting-edge welding hagrifmuted to our high product reliability
and the consistent performance of our productsuwalging operating conditions. Our Gearing segnieibO 9001:2008 certified. Our tower
manufacturing plants in Manitowoc, Wisconsin andléie, Texas are ISO 9001:2010 certified. In additour Services segment has receivec
ISO 9001:2008 certification related to the remaotufee of gearboxes, main shafts and other driveesysomponents.

CUSTOMERS

We manufacture products for and provideises to a variety of customers in the wind enedilyand gas, mining and other infrastructure
industries. The majority of our wind energy indystustomer base consists of wind turbine manufactuvho supply wind farm operators and
wind farm developers with completed wind turbiniesthe other industrial sectors, we sell our prdadudlerough our trained sales force or
through manufacturers' representatives to a widietyaof customers. The wind turbine market is veoypcentrated. According to American
Wind Energy Association 2013 industry data, thefte@ wind turbine manufacturers constituted appraately 90% of the U.S. market. As a
result, our concentration with a limited numberco$tomers accounted for the majority of our reven@ales to each of Siemens and General
Electric represented an amount greater than 108tio¢onsolidated revenues for the year ended Deee8ih 2013, and sales to each of
Gamesa, General Electric and Siemens representath@mt greater than 10% of our consolidated rezefor the year ended December 31,
2012. The loss of one of these customers could hAamaterial adverse effect on our business. Asidssd as a component of our business
strategies, we are seeking to diversify our custdrase.

WORKING CAPITAL

Our primary customers are wind turbine nfacturers, wind farm developers and wind farm ofmesa The industry has historically
entered into customized contracts with varying teamnd conditions between suppliers and customepgrdling on the specific objectives of
each party. Our practices mirror this historicalustry practice of negotiating agreements on a-bgsgase basis. As a result, working capital
needs, including levels of accounts receivable R"}/ customer deposits and inventory, can varyiBaantly from quarter to quarter based on
the contractual terms associated with that quarsates, such as whether we are required to puwemassupply steel pursuant to such
contractual terms.

In analyzing our liquidity, we focus on oggng working capital, which is comprised of A/Rdainventories, net of accounts payable and
customer deposits. Our operating working capit@etember 31, 2013 was $5,348 or 2% of trailingelmonths of sales annualized. This is
decrease of $16,239 from December 31, 2012, wheratipg working capital was $21,587, or 12% oflimgi three months of sales annualiz
The decrease reflects low levels of past due rabéds and growth in advance payments, predomin&ottly tower customers due to stronger
demand and their desire to
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opportunistically lock in lower steel prices foest plate. The reduction in operating working caditas significantly enhanced our liquidity
position compared to the prior year.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Our principal executive office is locatad3240 South Central Avenue, Cicero, IL 60804. hwne number is (708) 780-4800 and our
website address isww.bwen.com.

OTHER INFORMATION

On our website atww.bwen.comwe make available under the "Investors" menuwucsiele, free of charge, our Annual Reports on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, CuriReports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these sefiled or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as smoreasonably practicable after such reports ondments are electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the SEC. Materials that we file amigh to the SEC may also be read and copied & H@&s Public Reference Room at 100 F
Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Informatiortloa operation of the Public Reference Room maytiteined by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internetagitevw.sec.gothat contains reports, proxy and information staets, and other
information that we file electronically with the SE

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The U.S. wind energy industry isreliant in part on tax and other economic incentives and political and governmental policies. A significant
changein these incentives and policies could negatively impact our results of operations and growth. More generally, our financial and
operating performanceis subject to certain factors which are out of our control, including the state of the wind energy market in North
America.

We supply products and services to wintihg manufacturers and owners and operators of aniredgy generation facilities. The U.S.
wind energy industry is dependent in part upon ifeldax incentives and state RPSs and may notdoetically viable in its current form
absent such incentives. The federal governmentigige\economic incentives to the owners of wind gpéacilities, including the PTC, an
investment tax credit ("ITC") and cash grant ednafalue to the ITC. The PTC was extended by theeAtan Recovery and Reinvestment Ac
in February 2009, and further extended by the Aca@riTaxpayer Relief Act in January 2013. It prositiee owner of a qualifying wind ener
facility under construction before the end of 20dith a ten-year tax credit against the owner's f@idacome tax obligations based on the
amount of electricity generated by the qualifyinigpdvenergy facility and sold to unrelated third tjes.

These programs provide material incentteedevelop wind energy generation facilities arerdby impact the demand for our
manufactured products and services. The increasmdund for our products and services that genemedlylts from the credits and incentives
could be impacted by the impending expiration esthprograms. Because of the long lead times ragessdevelop wind energy projects,
any delay by Congress in extending or renewingetiesentives beyond their impending expiration sl@@uld negatively impact potential
wind energy installations. The failure to furthenew or extend these incentives would likely inthibé development of wind energy genera
facilities and the demand for wind turbines, toweesaring and related components. It is possilaettiese federal incentives will not be
extended beyond their current expiration dates.ddiay or failure to extend or renew these or simitcentives in the future could have a
material adverse impact on our business, resultperfations, financial performance and future dgwelent efforts.

State RPSs generally require or encourege-segulated electric utilities to supply a certaroportion of electricity from renewable
energy sources or devote a certain portion of {ilaint capacity to renewable energy generationicByiy, utilities comply with such standards
by qualifying for
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renewable energy credits evidencing the shareestridity that was produced from renewable sourdesler many state standards, these
renewable energy credits can be unbundled from #ssiociated energy and traded in a market systowing generators with insufficient
credits to meet their applicable state mandates&k&andards have spurred significant growth iwtine energy industry and a corresponding
increase in the demand for our manufactured pred@irrently, the majority of states and the Distof Colombia have RPSs in place and
certain states have voluntary utility commitmewntsapply a specific percentage of their electrifiityn renewable sources. The enactment of
RPSs in additional states or any changes to egi&PSs (including changes due to the failure teweor extend the federal incentives
described above), or the enactment of a federal ®8position of other greenhouse gas regulatioresy impact the demand for our products
and services. We cannot assure that governmenbgupp renewable energy will continue. The elintioa of, or reduction in, state or federal
government policies that support renewable eneogydchave a material adverse impact on our busimesslts of operations, financial
performance and future development efforts.

As a supplier of products and servicesitwviurbine manufacturers and owners and operaforsnd energy generation facilities, our
results of operations (like those of our customars)subject to general economic conditions, aedigpally to the state of the wind energy
market. In addition to the state and federal govenmt policies supporting renewable energy descritiede, the growth and development of
the larger wind energy market in North Americaubject to a number of factors, including, amongeothings:

. the availability of financing for the estimatpipeline of wind development projects;

. the cost of electricity, which may be affected hyuanber of factors, including government regulatipower transmission,
seasonality, fluctuations in demand, and the aodtavailability of fuel and particularly naturalgga

. the general demand for electricity or "load growth"

. the development of new power generating technotmggdvances in existing technology or discoverpafier generating
natural resources;

. the development of electrical transmission istfinacture;

. state and federal laws and regulations regarasign protection plans and noise or turbine sétbaguirements;
. state and federal laws and regulations, pagitythose favoring low carbon energy generatioarahtives;

. administrative and legal challenges to proposediwlievelopment projects; and

. public perception and localized community resporisagind energy projects.

In addition, while some of the factorsdidtabove may only affect individual wind projecvd®pments or portions of the market, in the
aggregate they may have a significant effect orstlreessful development of the wind energy market @whole, and thus affect our operating
and financial results.

We are substantially dependent on a few significant customers.

Historically, the majority of our revenua® highly concentrated with a limited number astomers. In 2013, two customers—Siemens
and General Electric—each accounted for more ti886 af our consolidated revenues and our five ldargastomers accounted for 83% of our
consolidated revenues. Our customers periodicalye lexpressed their intent to scale back, delagstructure existing customer agreements,
which has led to reduced revenues from these cestoand which may
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occur again in the future. As a result, our oparpprofits and gross margins have historically beegatively affected by a decline in
production levels, which has created productiomrnw inefficiencies in our operations and cost stnes.

Additionally, if our relationships with sigicant customers should change materially, itiddae difficult for us to immediately and
profitably replace lost sales in a market with sachcentration, which could materially adverselgeif our results. We could be adversely
impacted by decreased customer demand for our pt®dnd services due to (1) the impact of currefiitore economic conditions on our
customers, (2) our customers' loss of market sloatteeir competitors that do not use our produatsl (3) our loss of market share with our
customers. We could lose market share with ouoousts to competitors or to our customers themsgshenild they decide to become more
vertically integrated and produce our productseadiver the services we provide internally.

In addition, even if our customers contimelo business with us, we can be adversely &ffidoy a number of other potential
developments with our customers. For example:

. our customers may not comply with their contnatpayment or volume obligations. The inabilityfaiture of our customers to
meet their contractual obligations could have aematadverse effect on our business, financiaitipmsand results of
operations;

. certain customer contracts provide the customdr thik opportunity to cancel a substantial portibtheir volume obligation by

providing us with notice of such election priordommencement of production. Such contracts geyaeduire the customer to
pay a sliding cancelation fee based on how fadiraace of commencement of production such notipeasided,;

. our customers have in the past sought, andeifiuture may seek, to renegotiate the terms okati@greements or renewals. For
example, some customers have sought payments sdor alaims despite contractual limits that prelelwur obligation to mal
payments for such claims;

. if we are unable to deliver products to our custienie accordance with an agreed upon schedule webe@me subject to
liquidated damages provisions in certain supplyegrents for the period of time we are unable tvelefinished products.
Although the liquidated damages provisions are galyecapped at certain levels, they can becomaifeignt and may have a
negative impact on our liquidity and financial résu

. although the Subsidiaries operate independentlispute between a significant customer and us erobithe Subsidiaries could
have a negative effect on the business relationgbipave with that customer across our entire aegéinn. Among other thing
such a dispute could lead to an overall decreasadh customer's demand for our products and seracdifficulty in collectini
amounts due to one or more of the Subsidiariesatigabtherwise not related to such dispute; and

. a material change in payment terms for A/R of aificant customer could have a material adversecefin our short-term cash
flows.

We have generated net losses since our inception.

We have experienced operating losses fr efithe years during which we have operateddtitan, in light of current economic
conditions and the state of the wind energy mark#te U.S., we anticipate that losses may occthéforeseeable future. We have incurred
significant costs in connection with the developtour businesses, and there is no assurancevéhafll generate sufficient revenues to
offset anticipated operating costs. Although wecgpdite deriving revenues from the sale of our paisl and services, no assurance can be
given that these products and services can be
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sold on a profitable basis. If vexhieve profitability, we cannot give any assurathet we would be able to sustain or increase fadaifity on a
quarterly or annual basis in the future.

Disruptionsin the supply of partsand raw materials, or changesin supplier relations, may negatively impact our operating results.

We are dependent upon the supply of certainmaterials used in our production process,these raw materials are exposed to price
fluctuations on the open market. Raw material cfistfems such as steel, our primary raw matehiave fluctuated significantly and may
continue to fluctuate. To reduce price risk causgdharket fluctuations, we have generally matclaed material purchases to our sales
contracts or incorporated price adjustment clairsesir contracts. However, limitations on availépibf raw materials or increases in the cost
of raw materials (including steel), energy, tranggidon and other necessary services may impacvperating results if our manufacturing
businesses are not able to fully pass on the egstsciated with such increases to their respectisimers. Alternatively, we will not realize
material improvements from declines in steel prizeshe terms of our contracts generally requiagle pass through these cost savings to ol
customers. In addition, we may encounter suppbestraints, be unable to maintain favorable suppli|mngements and relations or be
affected by disruptions in the supply chain causeduch events as natural disasters, power outagekbor strikes. In the event of significant
increases or decreases in the price of raw matgepalticularly steel, our margins and profitabitbuld be negatively impacted.

Our diversification outside of the wind energy market exposes us to business risks associated with the oil and gas and mining industries,
among others, which may slow our growth or penetration in these markets.

While we have some experience in the dil gas and mining markets through our gearing ardially weldments businesses, these
industries have not been our primary focus. Inheirdiversifying our business to serve these manketwill face competitors who may have
more resources, longer operating histories and meteestablished relationships than we do, andnag not be able to successfully or
profitably generate additional business opportasiin these industries. Moreover, if we are ableutessfully diversify into these markets oul
business may be exposed to risks associated vesie industries, which could adversely affect oturiearnings and growth. These risks
include, among other things:

. the prices and relative demand for oil, gas,arats and other commaodities;

. domestic and global political and economic ctinds affecting the oil, gas and mining industries;

. changes in oil, gas and mining technology;

. the price and availability of alternative fuelsd energy sources, as well as changes in enengyption or supply; and

. fedgral, state and local regulations, includiemgong others, regulations relating to hydraubetiuring and greenhouse gas
emissions.

Our customers may be significantly affected by disruptions and volatility in the economy and in the wind energy market.

Market disruptions and regular market vititgtmay have adverse impacts on our customeifityato pay amounts payable to us and
could cause related increases in our working claqitaorrowing needs. In addition, our customengehia the past attempted and may attempt
in the future to renegotiate the terms of contracteduce the size of orders with us as a re$uitsouptions and volatility in the markets. We
cannot predict with any degree of certainty the am@f our backlog that we will ultimately ship ¢oir customers.
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Market disruptions and regular market vibtgtmay also result in an increased likelihoodoafr customers asserting warranty or
remediation claims in connection with our produmtservices that they would not ordinarily asser imore stable economic environment. In
the event of such a claim, we may incur costs ileeide to compensate the affected customer argage in litigation against the affected
customer regarding the claim. We maintain prodiatility insurance, but there can be no guarartiaeguch insurance will be available or
adequate to protect against such claims. A suadedafm against us could result in a material aggesffect on our business.

We may have difficulty obtaining additional financing when needed or on acceptable terms and there can be no assurances that our
operationswill generate cash flowsin an amount sufficient to enable usto pay our indebtedness.

We rely on banks and capital markets asuace of liquidity for capital requirements notiséied by cash flows from operations or asset
sales. We have experienced operating losses farafdbe years during which we have operated andntieipate that we will incur additional
outlays in the near term in connection with ourteamplated restructuring efforts. We expect to fondfacility restructuring efforts in part by
using proceeds from the sale of surplus assetangyebe unable to complete these sales on a tinaalg band our committed sources of
liquidity may be inadequate to satisfy our openadicand restructuring needs. There can be no assgdhat our restructuring efforts will be
successful in improving our profitability. If weeanot able to access capital at competitive réttesability to implement our business plans |
be adversely affected. In the absence of accesapital resources, we could face substantial litgujgtoblems and might be required to disg
of material assets or operations at times wheptices for such assets or operations are depresssdch event, we may not be able to
consummate those dispositions. Furthermore, thegpids of any such dispositions may not be adeqoateet our debt service obligations
when due.

Additionally, our ability to make schedulpdyments on our existing or future debt obligagiand fund operations will depend on our
future financial and operating performance. Theme lse no assurances that our operations will gensudficient cash flows to enable us to
our remaining indebtedness or to fund our otheridily needs. If we cannot make scheduled paymamisur debt, we will be in default and,

a result, among other things, our debt holdersdccdatlare all outstanding principal and interedig¢alue and payable which could force us to
liquidate certain assets or alter our businessatiogis or debt obligations. Moreover, if we arehlado obtain additional capital or if our
current sources of financing including customeraabes, are reduced or unavailable, we will likedyrdquired to delay, reduce the scope of, ¢
eliminate our plans for restructuring and expansind this could affect our overall operations. didition, raising capital in the equity capital
markets could result in limitations on our abilibyuse our net operating loss carryforwards.

Our plansfor growth and diversification may not be successful, and could result in poor financial performance.

We have made a strategic decision to difyeosir business further into oil and gas, miniagd other industries, particularly within our
gearing and specialty weldments businesses. Whalaave historically participated in these linebafiness, there is no assurance that we wi
be able to grow our presence in these businessesatd sufficient to compensate for a potentiayaker wind energy market. Moreover, our
participation in these markets may require additionvestments in personnel, equipment and operatiofrastructure. If we are unable to
further penetrate these markets, our plans to sifyeour operations may not be successful and oticipated future growth may be adversely
affected.

We may also grow our existing businessughoincreased production levels at existing faesit Such growth will require coordinated
efforts across the Company and continued enhandsrteenur current operating infrastructure, inchgdimanagement and operations
personnel, systems, equipment
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and property. Moreover, if our efforts do not adately predict the demand of our customers and otarpial customers, our future earnings
may be adversely affected.

We face competition from industry participants who may have greater resources than we do.

Our businesses are subject to risks agedoigith competition from new or existing indusparticipants who may have more resources
and better access to capital. Many of our compstdod potential competitors may have substantiaater financial, customer support,
technical and marketing resources, larger custdrases, longer operating histories, greater nanmgnétion and more established relationsl
in the industry than we do. Among other thingsséhimdustry participants compete with us based pioe, quality, location and available
capacity. We cannot be sure that we will have &saurces or expertise to compete successfullyeifiutture. Some of our competitors may ¢
be able to provide customers with additional beasefi lower overall costs to increase market sh&ecannot be sure that we will be able to
match cost reductions by our competitors or thatwiliebe able to succeed in the face of currerfiuture competition. In addition, we may face
competition from our customers as they seek to bemertically integrated and offer full serviceckages. Some of our customers are also
performing more services themselves.

If our projections regarding the future market demand for our products and services are inaccurate, our operating results and our overall
business may be adversely affected.

We have previously made significant capitaestments in anticipation of rapid growth in thés. wind energy market. However, the
growth in the U.S. wind energy market has not legate with the expectations we had when some oé tbasital investments were made, and
there can be no assurance that the U.S. wind emeagyet will grow and develop in a manner consistéth our expectations, or that we will
be able to fill our idle capacity through the fiathdiversification of our operations. Our internznufacturing and service capabilities have
required significant up-front fixed costs. If matrkiemand for our products and services does notdse at the pace we have anticipated and
align with our manufacturing capacity, we may bahie to offset these costs and to achieve econarhigsale, and our operating results may
continue to be adversely affected as a resultgif fiked costs, reduced margins and underutilimadibcapacity. In light of these
considerations, we may be forced to temporarilg &histing capacity or sell to third parties mawtidiaing capacity that we cannot utilize in the
near term, in addition to the steps that we haraadly taken to adjust our capacity more closeljetmand. Alternatively, if we experience ra
demand for our products and services in excesaréstimates, or we have reduced our manufacteapgcity, our installed capital equipm:
and existing workforce may be insufficient to sugigogher production volumes, which could adverssfgct our customer relationships and
overall reputation. In addition, we may not be ablexpand our workforce and operations in a tinmanner, procure adequate resources or
locate suitable third-party suppliers to resporidatively to changes in demand for our existingducts and services or to the demand for nev
products and services requested by our customear business could be adversely affected. Oilityalo meet such excess customer
demand could also depend on our ability to raisktadal capital and effectively scale our manufaictg operations.

We rely on unionized labor, the loss of which could adversely affect our future success.

We are dependent on the services of urednizbor and have collective bargaining agreemeitkscertain of our operations workforce at
our Cicero, lllinois and Neville Island, Pennsylieagearing facilities. The loss of the serviceshafse and other personnel, whether through
terminations, attrition, labor strike or otherwise,a material change in our collective bargairaggeements, could have a material adverse
impact on us and our future profitability. A coliee bargaining agreement has been ratified bycttlective bargaining unit in place at our
Neville Island facility and is expected to expineQctober 2017. The collective bargaining agreeméthithe Cicero union expired in Febru
2014;
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the parties are currently negotiating a new cdlledbargaining agreement. As of December 31, 20dB¢collective bargaining units
represented approximately 18% of our workforce.

We may need to hire additional qualified personnel, including management personnel, and the loss of our key personnel could adversely
affect our business.

Our future success will depend largelytom gkills, efforts and motivation of our executofficers and other key personnel. Our success
also depends, in large part, upon our ability tcaat and retain highly qualified management andgersonnel throughout our organization.
We face competition in the attraction and retentbpersonnel who possess the skill sets that wik. $e addition, key personnel may leave the
Company and subsequently compete against us. Shefdhe services of any of our key personnebuoifailure to attract and retain other
qualified and experienced personnel on acceptabhes; could have a material adverse effect on osinkss, results of operations or financial
condition.

Our ability to comply with regulatory requirementsis critical to our future success and our current level of controls cannot guarantee that we
arein compliance with all such requirements.

As a manufacturer and distributor of wimdi ather energy industry products we may be or fmecsubject to the requirements of federal,
state and local or foreign regulatory authoritlesaddition, we are subject to a number of industandard-setting authorities, such as the
American Gear Manufacturers Association and the igaa Welding Society. Changes in the standardseqdirements imposed by such
authorities could have a material adverse effeai®nn the event we are unable to meet any sactiatds when adopted, our business could
be adversely affected. We may not be able to olathiregulatory approvals, licenses and permit$ i@y be required in the future, or any
necessary modifications to existing regulatory apals, licenses and permits, or maintain all respliiegulatory approvals, licenses and
permits. There can be no guarantee that our bissieese in full compliance with such standardsragdirements. We continue to develop our
internal controls with a goal of providing a greadegree of certainty that our businesses arenmptiance with applicable governmental and
regulatory requirements, but our current levelndéinal control may fail to reveal to us matenadtances of non-compliance with such
requirements, and such non-compliance could hawatarial adverse effect on our business.

Current or futurelitigation and regulatory actions could have a material adverse impact on us.

From time to time, we are subject to litiga and other legal and regulatory proceedinggtired to our business. We are currently
defendants in certain litigation matters and tHgextt of certain investigations by governmentalrajes as further described under in Part I,
Item 3 "Legal Proceedings" of this Annual Report. &surances can be given that the results of tresmwv matters will be favorable to us.
adverse resolution of lawsuits, investigationsrbiteations could have a material adverse effecbwnfinancial condition and results of
operations. Defending ourselves in these matteyshmdimeeonsuming, expensive and disruptive to normal lessiroperations and may re:
in significant expense and a diversion of manag#siéme and attention from the operation of ousibass, which could impede our ability to
achieve our business objectives. Additionally, amount that we may be required to pay to satigiylgment or settlement may not be cow
by insurance. Under our charter and the indemnifinaagreements that we have entered into withoffizers, directors and certain third
parties, we are required to indemnify and advaxpemses to them in connection with their partidggratn certain proceedings. There can be
no assurance that any of these payments will notdterial.
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We could incur substantial costs to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations and to address violations of or
liabilities under these requirements.

Our operations are subject to a varietgrofironmental, health and safety laws and regulatin the jurisdictions in which we operate anc
sell products governing, among other things, healfety, pollution and protection of the enviromiand natural resources, including the use
handling, transportation and disposal of non-haaasdind hazardous materials and wastes, as wathigsions and discharges into the
environment, including discharges to air, surfaegern; groundwater and soil, product content, perforce and packaging. We cannot
guarantee that we have been or will at all timesl®mpliance with such laws and regulations. @eanin existing environmental, health and
safety laws and regulations, or their applicatmyld cause us to incur additional or unexpectestiscim achieve or maintain compliance.
Failure to comply with these laws and regulatiaigain the necessary permits to operate our businesomply with the terms and conditions
of such permits may subject us to a variety of aistrative, civil and criminal enforcement measuiesluding the imposition of civil and
criminal sanctions, monetary fines and penaltiesiedial obligations, and the issuance of compliaegairements limiting or preventing some
or all of our operations. The assertion of claielating to regulatory compliance, on or off-siteamination, natural resource damage, the
discovery of previously unknown environmental llakgs, the imposition of criminal or civil fines @enalties and/or other sanctions, or the
obligation to undertake investigation, remediattormonitoring activities could result in potentiaflignificant costs and expenditures to adc
contamination or resolve claims or liabilities. 8uwwosts and expenditures could have a materialrsehwdfect on our business, financial
condition, or results of operations. Under certainumstances, violation of such environmental land regulations could result in us being
disqualified from eligibility to receive federal g@rnment contracts or subcontracts under the fedev@rnment's debarment and suspension
system.

We also are subject to laws and regulatibasimpose liability and cleanup responsibility feleases of hazardous substances into the
environment. Under certain of these laws and reguis, such liabilities can be imposed for cleanfipurrently and formerly owned, leased or
operated properties, or properties to which haasdaibstances or wastes were sent by currentroefarperators at our current or former
facilities, regardless of whether we directly califee contamination or violated any law at the tihéischarge or disposal. Several of our
facilities have a history of industrial operatioasd contaminants have been detected at some fdalities. The presence of contamination
from hazardous substances or wastes could intesfiieongoing operations or adversely affect oulitgtto sell, lease or use our properties as
collateral for financing. We also could be heldlaunder third-party claims for property damageunal resource damage or personal injury
and for penalties and other damages under suchoenvental laws and regulations, which could maligrand adversely affect our business
and results of operations. Under certain circunt&ayviolation of such environmental laws and ratjohs could result in us being disqualif
from eligibility to receive federal government catts or subcontracts under the federal governmdabarment and suspension system.

Limitations on our ability to utilize our net operating losses may negatively affect our financial results.

We may not be able to utilize all of out operating losses ("NOL's"). To the extent avddalwe will use any NOL carryforwards to
reduce the U.S. corporate income tax liability aggted with our operations. However, if we do nchiave profitability prior to their
expiration, we will not be able to fully utilize olOL's to offset income. For financial statemerggentation, all benefits associated with the
NOL carryforwards have been reserved. Section 382e0lRC generally imposes an annual limitatiortlim amount of NOL carryforware
that may be used to offset taxable income wherrocation has undergone certain changes in stoclemship. Our ability to utilize NOL
carryforwards and built-in losses may be limitexder this section or otherwise, by our issuanasaimon stock or
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by other changes in stock ownership. Upon compiatioour analysis of IRC Section 382, we have deieed that aggregate changes in our
stock ownership have triggered an annual limitatibNOL carryforwards and builtz losses available for utilization. Although tleigent limits
the amount of pre-ownership change date NOL's aiitib losses we can utilize annually, it wouldtmpoeclude us from fully utilizing our
current NOL carryforwards prior to their expiratioio the extent our use of NOL carryforwards argbamted built-in losses is significantly
limited in the future due to additional changestiock ownership, our income could be subject to. do§porate income tax earlier than it wa
if we were able to use NOL carryforwards and bumillesses without annual limitation, which couldué in lower profits and the loss of
benefits from these attributes. To address theseeras, in February 2013 our Board of Directors (fBoard") approved the adoption of a
Section 382 rights plan designed to preserve our sryforwards and other tax benefits; our stodtts subsequently ratified the

Section 382 rights plan at our 2013 Annual Meetii§tockholders. There can be no assurances th&dbtion 382 rights plan will be
effective in protecting our NOL carryforwards.

If our estimates for warranty expenses differ materially from actual claims made, or if we are unable to reasonably estimate future warranty
expense for our products and services, our business and financial results could be adversely affected.

We provide warranty terms generally randietiveen one and five years to our towers, geanmjservices customers depending upol
specific product or service and terms of the custoagreement. We reserve for warranty claims basdddustry experience and estimates
made by management based upon a percentage alesiravenues related to such products or senfices: time to time, customers have
submitted warranty claims to us. However, we halimited history on which to base our warranty resties for certain products that we
manufacture and services that we provide. Our ag8ans could be materially different from the adtpaerformance of our products in the
future and could exceed the levels against whiclhaxe reserved. In some instances our customessihgrpreted the scope and coverage of
certain of our warranty provisions differently framar interpretation of such provisions. The expseressociated with remediation activities in
the wind energy industry can be substantial, amekifare required to pay such costs in connectitim avcustomer's warranty claim we could be
subject to additional unplanned cash expenditufesir estimates prove materially incorrect, ow# are required to cover remediation
expenses in addition to our regular warranty cayerave could be required to incur additional expsrend could face a material unplanned
cash expenditure, which could adversely affectfimancial condition and operating results.

We may be unable to keep pace with rapidly changing technology in wind turbine and other industrial component manufacturing.

The global market for wind turbines, aslvaslfor other industrial components we manufactisreapidly evolving technologically. Our
component manufacturing equipment and technology meabe suited for future generations of prodbeing developed by wind turbine
companies. For example, some wind turbine manufatare using wind turbine towers made from cdedrestead of steel. Other wind
turbine designs have reduced the use of geariefiroinated the gearbox entirely through the usdict or compact drive technologies. To
maintain a successful business in our field, wetrkesp pace with technological developments andgihg standards of our customers and
potential customers and meet their constantly ewgldemands. If we fail to adequately respond #otdthnological changes in our industry
are not suited to provide components for new tygfesind turbines, our financial condition and ogerg results may be adversely affected.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located @e@i lllinois, a suburb located west of Chicadimdis. In addition, the Subsidiaries own or
lease operating facilities, which are presentedfmrating segment as follows:

Owned / Approximate

Operating Segment and Facility Type Location Leased Square Footage
Towers and Weldments
Tower Manufacturing Manitowoc, WI Leasec 206,00(
Tower Manufacturing Abilene, TX Ownec 146,00(
Specialty Structure Manitowoc, WI Leaset 45,00(
Specialty Structure Clintonville, WI(1) Ownec 63,00(
Gearing and Corporate
Gearing System Manufactur—Machining Cicero, IL(2) Ownec 149,00(
Gearing System Manufacturing—Machining anc

Corporate Administratio Cicero, IL Leaset 301,00
Gearing System Manufacturingdeat Treatment ¢

Gearbox Repal Neville Island, PA  Ownec 70,00(
Services
Service and Maintenan Abilene, TX Leaset 80,00(
Service and Maintenan Howard, SB Ownec 25,00(

(1)  The Clintonville Facility is listed as Assets Héldr Sale as of December 31, 2013 in conjunctioh wianagement's
determination that the property was no longer neglin our operations.

(2)  The use of the Cicero Avenue Facility in our prathrcwas significantly curtailed at the end of 2Gi8 we recorded a
related $1,732 impairment in the fourth quarte2@13.

We consider our facilities to be in gooadition and adequate for our present and futurésiee
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Shareholder Lawsuits

On February 11, 2011, a putative clas®aatias filed in the United States District Count ttee Northern District of Illinois (the "USDC
against us and certain of our current or formeicefs and directors. The lawsuit was purportedbulght on behalf of purchasers of our
common stock between March 17, 2009 and AugusDP).2A lead plaintiff was appointed and an amerm®dplaint was filed on
September 13, 2011. The amended complaint namadditsonal defendants certain of our current anch&r directors, certain Tontine entiti
and Jeffrey Gendell, a principal of Tontine. Thenptaint sought to allege that the defendants wol&ection 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and
Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, and/or Sectiifa)2f the Exchange Act by issuing or causingdadsued a series of allegedly false
and/or misleading statements concerning our firrdmesults, operations, and prospects, includirth véspect to the January 2010 secondary
public offering of our common stock (the "OfferingThe plaintiffs alleged that our statements wiatse and misleading because, among othe
things, our reported financial results during thess period allegedly violated accounting princgpyenerally accepted in the U.S. ("GAAP")
because they failed to reflect the impairment afdyaill and other intangible assets, and we allegéalled to disclose known trends and other
information regarding certain customer relationskapBrad Foote. In support of their claims, thanilffs relied in part upon six alleged
confidential informants, all of whom were allegedde former employees of the Company. On Novem8g2Q11, we filed a motion to
dismiss. On April 19, 2012, the USDC granted it pad denied in part our motion. The USDC dismisséd
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claims with prejudice against each of the namedetiand former officers except for J. Cameron Dlleand held that the plaintiffs had failed
to state a claim for any alleged misstatements raftde March 19, 2010. In addition, the USDC disaisall claims with prejudice against the
named Tontine entities and Mr. Gendell. The USD@ietthe motion with respect to certain of theroiasserted against us and Mr. Drecoll.
We filed our answer and affirmative defenses on [9ay2012. The plaintiffs' class certification wisd on June 22, 2012, and the parties
agreed to a briefing schedule. The parties subsdiguygarticipated in a mediation session on Audist2012, and reached agreement on a
settlement of the matter in the amount of $3,9&yaple by our insurance carrier. The USDC graritead &pproval of the settlement on

June 27, 2013.

Between February 15, 2011 and March 301 20tee putative shareholder derivative lawsuisenfiled in the USDC against certain of
our current and former officers and directors aadain Tontine entities, seeking to challenge @ltehreaches of fiduciary duty, waste of
corporate assets, and unjust enrichment, incluiditgnnection with the Offering. One of the lawsuatso alleged that certain directors violz
Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act in connectiomwitr Proxy Statement for our 2010 Annual Meetih§tckholders. Two of the matters
pending in the USDC were subsequently consolidated,on May 15, 2012, the USDC granted the defdsdamtion to dismiss the
consolidated cases and also entered an order diagnithe third case. On January 17, 2014, we amg@ltintiffs from the consolidated
derivative lawsuit filed a joint motion to reopédretderivative action and preliminarily approve adsive settlement. The USDC subsequently
reopened the derivative action and granted pretirgiapproval of the settlement on February 3, 20h4. final approval hearing is scheduled
for April 3, 2014. If finally approved by the USD@e settlement would resolve the outstanding $twdder derivative claims, including those
raised in certain shareholder demand letters redddy our Board. The terms of the settlement ireling adoption by us of certain corporate
governance reforms, along with other remedial mess he settlement provides for payment by ourrenrsce carrier and/or Broadwind of
plaintiffs’ counsel's attorneys' fees and expeirstt®e amount of $600, subject to USDC approval.

We received a request from the Tontinemi#dets for indemnification in the derivative swted the class action lawsuit from Tontine
and/or Mr. Gendell pursuant to various agreemeaiéded to shares of our common stock owned by MentWe maintain directors and officers
liability insurance; however, the costs of inderwgifion for Mr. Gendell and/or Tontine would not t@vered by any Company insurance
policy. We subsequently entered into an agreeméhtWeontine providing, among other things, for gettlement of these indemnification
claims and related matters in consideration foayampent in the amount of $495, which was paid in201

SEC Inquiry

In August 2011, we received a subpoena fiSEC seeking documents and other records ddlateertain accounting practices at Brad
Foote. The subpoena was issued in connection withfarmal inquiry that we received from the SEQ\Niavember 2010, which likely arose
out of a whistleblower complaint that the SEC reedirelated to revenue recognition, cost accourgimgintangible and fixed asset valuations
at Brad Foote. We have been in regular contact thithlSEC, and in its communications the SEC haffielhor supplemented its requests. We
have produced documents responsive to such recaregtsompleted the process of responding to theaara for documents. Following the
issuance of subpoenas for testimony, the SEC hassdd certain current and former Brad Foote andpgaosmnemployees. We cannot currently
predict the outcome of this investigation. We db lmglieve that the resolution of this matter wilve a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position or results of opiers. No estimate regarding the loss or rangess,lif any, that may be incurred in connec
with this matter is possible at this time. All pamgireimbursement requests from Tontine relateti¢cSEC inquiry were resolved in the above
referenced settlement.
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Environmental

On February 15, 2011, pursuant to a seaerhant, officials from the United States Enviromta Protection Agency ("USEPA") entered
and conducted a search of the Cicero Avenue Ratilitonnection with the alleged improper dispagahdustrial wastewater to the sewer.
Also on or about February 15, 2011, in connectidh the same matter, we received a grand jury seb@oequesting testimony and the
production of certain documents relating to thee@cAvenue Facility's past compliance with cereinironmental laws and regulations
relating to the generation, discharge and dispafsabistewater from certain of its processes betva& and the present. On or about
February 23, 2011, we received another grand juippsena relating to the same investigation, requegeststimony and the production of
certain other documents relating to certain ofGmero Avenue Facility's employees, environmental emanufacturing processes, and dispose
practices. On April 5, 2012, we received a lettent the United States Attorney's Office, Northeiistiict of Illinois ("USAQO") requesting the
production of certain financial records from 2008Hhe present. We subsequently completed our regpornthe subpoenas and to the USAQO's
request and also voluntarily instituted correctiveasures at the Cicero Avenue Facility, includingrges to its wastewater disposal practices
On September 24, 2013, the USAO commenced a chimatian in the USDC based on this investigatiomb&quently, Brad Foote entered
into a plea agreement with the USAQO (the "Plea Agrent") with regard to this criminal action, punsu which Brad Foote agreed to plead
guilty to one count of knowingly violating the Cle&lvater Act, Title 33, United States Code, Seclidh9(c)(2)(A) and pay a $1,500 fine
(payable in three installments of $500 within thyears of the date of sentencing), subject to t8®C's approval of the Plea Agreement. Brac
Foote pled guilty pursuant to the Plea Agreemeritiomember 13, 2013, and the USDC approved the Rje@ement on February 19, 2014.

Other

We are also a party to additional claimd kgal proceedings arising in the ordinary cowfseusiness. Due to the inherent uncertainty of
litigation, there can be no assurance that thdutsn of any particular claim or proceeding woulot have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations, financial position or ligtyd It is possible that if one or more of the neastdescribed above were decided against us, tt
effects could be material to our results of operetiin the period in which we would be requiredegicord or adjust the related liability and
could also be material to our cash flows in theqeein which we would be required to pay such ligi

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable

20




Table of Contents

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQi@G& Market ("NASDAQ") under the symbol "BWEN." €Hollowing table sets forth the
high and low bid prices of our common stock tradedhe NASDAQ.

Common Stock

High Low
2013
First quartel $ 6.0 $ 2.2¢
Second quarte 5.0t 3.9t
Third quartel 8.2: 4.5C
Fourth quarte 10.4: 5.1C
__Common Stock
High Low
2012
First quartel $ 8.6C $ 4.5
Second quarte 4.8( 2.5C
Third quartel 3.7C 1.7¢
Fourth quarte 3.2C 2.0C

The closing price for our common stock Bsarch 6, 2014 was $10.65. As of March 6, 2014r¢hwere 54 holders of record of our
common stock.

We have never paid cash dividends on ommgon stock and have no current plan to do so ifidieseeable future. The declaration and
payment of dividends on our common stock are stilbjethe discretion of our Board and are furthenitéd by our credit agreements and other
contractual agreements we may have in place frora to time. The decision of our Board to pay futdiredends will depend on general
business conditions, the effect of a dividend paymoa our financial condition, and other factors Board may consider relevant. The current
policy of our Board is to reinvest cash generatedur operations to promote future growth and taifpotential investments.
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Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related infotima shall not be deemed "soliciting material” dil¢d" under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended or the Exchange Act (collectitedy,Acts"), nor shall such information be incoragted by reference by any general
statement incorporating by reference this AnnugldReinto any filing under such Acts, except to ¢liéent that we specifically incorporate it
by reference into such filing.

The following graph compares cumulativershalder returns for our common stock as compar#dtive S&P 500 and the First Trust |
Global Wind Energy Index Fund for the period frompri\9, 2009 (the date our common stock began tigadn the NASDAQ) to December
2013. The graph assumes an investment of $100/Agrit@, 2009 and that dividends were reinvesi#fé. discontinued the comparison to the
Clean Edge Global Wind Energy Index as quoted saluere unavailable for most of 2013.
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Repurchases

We did not engage in any repurchases otommmon stock during the fourth quarter or forybar ended December 31, 2013.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

There were no unregistered sales of egeityrities for the years ended December 31, 202 ar 2011.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

See Part lll, Item 12 "Security OwnershifCertain Beneficial Owners and Management andtBeél&tockholder Matters" of this Annual
Report for information as of December 31, 2013 wétbpect to shares of our common stock that magsbed under our existing share-based
compensation plans.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical consotethfinancial and other data are qualified in tlegitirety by reference to, and should be read in
conjunction with, our consolidated financial stagerts and the related notes thereto appearing edsewilerein and Part Il, Item 7
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of FinarnC@idition and Results of Operations." Our selestatement of continuing operations ¢
set forth below for each of the years ended Dece®be2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009, and thenbalsheet data as of December 31, 2
2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009, are derived from ousa@dated financial statements.

(In thousands, except per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Selected Statement of Operation
Data
Revenue: $ 215,71( $ 210,70° $ 185,85 $ 136,89¢ $ 184,79
Gross profi 12,34t 6,83¢ 7,181 1,94¢ 11,90«
Gross profit percentac 5.7% 3.2% 3.€% 1.4% 6.4%
Intangible asset and goodwill
impairment charge $ — 9 — $ — $ 40,777 $ 82,21
Intangible amortizatiol 1,552 1,75¢ 85¢ 2,992 9,52¢
Operating los! (13,210 (17,297 (20,429 (69,227 (112,25

Loss from continuing operatiol (10,389 (17,907 (20,749 (69,759 (107,026

Net loss per share—basic and
diluted:
Loss from continuing
operations (0.72) (1.27) (2.79) (6.5€) (11.09

Cash dividends per common
share — — — — —

As of December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Selected Balance Sheet Da
Assets:;
Property and equipment,
net $ 69,077 $ 79,88¢ $ 87,76t $ 106,31 $ 129,61
Total assets 163,69: 142,91( 172,89: 183,50t 231,48t
Liabilities:
Total long-term debt, net of
current maturitie! 2,75k 2,95¢ 4,79 9,671 13,39¢
Total stockholders' equit 95,33( 103,30¢ 117,85¢ 126,19¢ 155,59!

For the Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Selected Other Data—Non GAAP
Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA(1) $ 10,34¢ $ 5511 $ (2,129 $ (9,210 $ 2,00¢
Adjusted EBITDA margin percentage
(2) 4.8% 2.6% -1.1% -6.7% 1.1%

1) For any period, earnings from continuing operatioefore interest, taxes, depreciation, amortizatiestructuring and
share-based payments ("Adjusted EBITDA") are caled as presented below. We believe that AdjusBi@iBA is
particularly meaningful due principally to the r@equisitions have played in our development amdstfnificant non-
recurring restructuring program underway. Histdicaur growth through acquisitions has resulte:
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significant non-cash depreciation and amortizatigpense because a significant portion of the psecpace of our
acquired businesses is generally allocated to digie fixed assets and long-lived assets, whighamily consist of
goodwill and amortizable intangible assets. Pleede that Adjusted EBITDA should not be consideardilternative to,
nor is there any implication that Adjusted EBITD&Amore meaningful than, any measure of performantiquidity
promulgated under GAAP.

(2)  Adjusted EBITDA margin percentage is equal to AthdsEBITDA divided by total revenu

For the Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Operating los: $ (13,210 $ (17,297) $ (20,429 $ (69,22) $ (112,25)
Depreciation and amortizatic 13,96: 15,67¢ 14,53¢ 16,46: 22,69¢
Restructuring 6,07t 2,35¢ 572 — —
Other income 1,00( 1,271 1,16¢ 48¢ 6,45¢
Intangible asset and goodwill

impairment charge — — — 40,77 82,21
Share-based compensation ar

other stock paymen 2,51¢ 3,50¢ 2,02t 2,291 2,89¢

Adjusted EBITDA $ 10,34¢ $ 5511 $§ (2,129 $ (9,210 $ 2,00¢
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

As used in this Annual Report, the terms "we,""t@yr," "Broadwind," and the "Company" refer to @&dwind Energy, Inc. and its
wholly-owned Subsidiaries.

(Dollar amounts are presented in thousands unless otherwise stated)
Business Overview

Broadwind provides technologically advanbégh-value products and services to energy, miaimgjinfrastructure sector customers,
primarily in the U.S. Our most significant preseicvithin the U.S. wind energy industry, althougé have diversified into other industrial
markets in order to improve our capacity utilizatend reduce our exposure to uncertainty relatéaviorable governmental policies currently
supporting the U.S. wind energy industry. Withie th.S. wind energy industry, we provide products services to turbine manufacturers,
wind farm developers and wind farm operators. @etsif the wind energy market, we provide precigjearing, specialty weldments and
services to a broad range of industrial customarsif and gas, mining, steel and other indusajgllications.

In 2013, 80% of our sales were linked ®wind energy industry, predominantly for towersdifor new wind turbines, but also to sen
the installed base of wind turbines. The markenfaw U.S. wind energy installations is affectedahyumber of factors, including: (i) econor
growth and the associated demand for new elegtigeiheration; (ii) the cost of competing energyrses, primarily natural gas; (iii) federal
and statdevel wind energy development incentives; (iv) éafalie transmission infrastructure and the prolifieraof smart grid technology; a
(v) improvements in wind energy cost competitivene=sulting from the maturation of technologies sanvices within the wind energy
industry. The highest impact development incenitige been the federal PTC for new wind turbinesgulacto service. Legislation supporting
this incentive has been intermittent, which hasseduvolatility in the demand for new wind projedtsr example, after the industry achieved
record new installations totaling 13,131 MW in 20t level of wind turbine installations in 201®pgdped sharply to 1,084 MW, a reduction
of more than 90%. This decrease was largely dtiestéemporary expiration of the PTC at the end0dfZ, anticipation of which broadly
curtailed wind farm development across the U.Sjriyegg in mid-2012. Although the PTC was reinstattthe beginning of 2013, the lack of
advanced stage projects in the development pipatitieat time resulted in only a minimal level n$tallations completed during 2013. In
response to the reinstatement of the PTC, therbédws a resurgence of development activity, andinstallations are expected to rise
significantly beginning in 2014.

Our sales of wind towers and services avadly correlated to the demand for new wind tugbirHowever, demand for our products also
reflects the level of competition in our respectinarkets, as well as other macro-economic faciusing 2013, despite the sharp drop in wing
turbine installations, our tower demand was stioegause several competitors had exited the busiedsve have penetrated large customer
representing a significant portion of the marketalitwe did not previously serve. By contrast, dechiom our service offerings dropped
sharply in 2013 as customers insourced a largeesifaheir service activities in a year of lowtaltation activity.

Outside of wind energy, we serve a numibetteer industrial markets, including oil and gasning, and steel production. Although sales
to these customers currently represent only ab@#t & our revenue, our strategic objective is mwgm these markets, with a target of
deriving a greater share of our revenue outsideeaf wind installations. Our products sold into thesarkets include
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gearboxes (both new and rebuilt), loose gearind lamge industrial weldments. The following tabktalls the percentage of our revenue
generated in each sector for the past two years:

Annual
Revenue
2013 2012
New Wind Installation: 69% 62%
Wind Installed Base Suppc 11% 13%
Industrial Gearing & Weldmen 20% 25%
Total 10(% 10(%

During 2011, we conducted a review of ousibess strategies and product plans given thealufbr the economy at large, the forecast
for the industries we serve and our own businegs@mment. As a result, we have been executingtueturing plan to rationalize our facility
capacity and our management structure, and to tidasmand increase the efficiencies of our opereti

In 2011, we concluded that our manufactufootprint and fixed cost base were too large expensive for our medium-term needs. We
are executing a plan to reduce our facility foatphly approximately 40% through the sale and/oswile of facilities comprising a total of
approximately 600,000 square feet. In April 2018,as@mpleted the sale of the Brandon Facility, gatimeg a gain on sale of $3,585 and
approximately $8,000 in net proceeds after closimgts and the repayment of the mortgage on thedBraRacility. To date, we have closed or
reduced our leased presence at six facilities ahkaed a reduction of approximately 400,000 sqfegt The most significant remaining
reduction relates to the anticipated closure arsgddafition of the Cicero Avenue Facility. The usehaf Cicero Avenue Facility in our
production was significantly curtailed at the efi@@13 and we recorded a related $1,732 impairnpeimharily in cost of sales in the fourth
quarter of 2013. We believe the remaining locatiiisbe sufficient to support our Towers and Welksnts, Gearing, Services and general
corporate and administrative activities while aliogvfor growth for the next several years.

Including costs incurred to date, we expleat a total of approximately $13,200 of net cegtsbe incurred to implement this
restructuring initiative. To date, we have incureggbroximately $11,500, or 88% of the total expeéctstructuring costs. Of the total
restructuring costs incurred, a total of approxeha$4,800 consists of non-cash charges.

During 2012, we established a three-ye& (I revolving credit agreement with AloStar BailCommerce ("AloStar"). In connection
with this agreement, AloStar advanced funds agauasborrowing base, which consists of approxinya8&% of eligible receivables and
approximately 50% of eligible inventory. Proceedsf the transaction were used to repay certairtandgg indebtedness. Under this new
recapitalized borrowing structure, borrowings asatmuous and all cash receipts are automaticalhfied to the outstanding borrowed bala
As a result of this structure, we anticipate trasticbalances will remain at a minimum at all tinvbgn there are amounts outstanding unde
credit line.

In the third quarter of 2013, we resolvddrag-standing environmental matter related to our Ggasggment and recorded a $1,500 ct
for a regulatory settlement associated with tha Rlgreement. Refer to Item 3 "Legal Proceedingsfdaher discussion of this matter.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2012

The summary of selected financial datagtdlgllow should be referenced in connection witbvéew of the following discussion of our
results of operations for the year ended Decembge?®L3 compared to the year ended December 32, 201

For the Year Ended December 31 2013 vs. 201!
2013 % of Total 2012 % of Total $ Change % Change
Revenue: $ 215,71 100.(% $ 210,70° 100.(% $ 5,00¢ 2.0%
Cost of sale: 198,37! 92.% 202,25 96.(%  (3,87% (1.9%
Restructuring cosl 4,98¢ 2.2% 1,614 0.6% 3,37 208.%
Gross profit 12,34¢ 5.7% 6,83¢ 3.2% 5,50¢ 80.6%
Operating expenst
Selling, general and
administrative
expense: 21,41« 9.€% 21,63¢ 10.2% (220 (1.0%
Intangible
amortization 1,552 0.7% 1,75¢ 0.8% (207) (11.9%
Regulatory settleme 1,50( 0.7% — 0.C% 1,50(C N/A
Restructuring cosl 1,08¢ 0.5% 74C 0.4% 34¢ 47.2%
Total operating
expense: 25,55¢ 11.8% 24,13: 11.5% 1,42 5.%%
Operating los! (13,210) (6.)% (17,29 (8.9% 4,08 23.€%
Other income (expens
Interest expense,
net (985) 0.5% (1,71) (0.8% 72€ 42.4%
Other, ne 1,00( 0.5% 1,271 0.6% (277 (21.9%
Gain (loss) on sal
of assets and
restructuring 2,87¢ 1.2% (144) 0.C% 3,022 2098.%
Total other
(expense)
income, ne 2,89: 1.2% (584) (0.2)% 3,47 595.2%
Net loss fron
continuing operatior
before provision for
income taxe: (10,317 4.8% (17,88) (8.5)%  7,56¢ 42.2%
Provision for income
taxes 72 0.C% 26 0.C% 4€ 176.9%
Loss from continuing
operations (10,389 (4.8% (17,909 (8.5)%  7,51¢ 42.(%
Loss from discontinue:
operations, net of ta (110 (0.1)% — 0.C% (110 N/A
Net loss $ (10,499 (4.9%3$ (17,907 (8.5%%$ 7,40¢ 41.4%
Consolidated

Revenues increased by $5,003, from $210at0he year ended December 31, 2012, to $215atlibe year ended December 31, 2013.
The increase in revenues was primarily attributablen 18%, or $24,257, increase in our Towers\dettiments segment revenue due to
increased volumes, partially offset by declinestimer segments. We experienced a revenue declid2%f or $12,510, in our Gearing segmr
due to production delays and decreased indus&rakaid, as compared to the prior year. In our Ses\vdegment, we experienced an 22%
decrease in revenue in the current year compartetprior year, due to sharp declines in consodctivity, partially offset by a large
industrial project performed by our Abilene, Texivetrain service center facility (the "Gearboxchigy™) in the first half of 2013.
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Gross profit increased by $5,509, from $6,8r the year ended December 31, 2012, to $1X@4bBe year ended December 31, 2013.
The increase in gross profit was attributable twéased Towers and Weldments volumes and margittseeaturrent mix of towers, partially
offset by lower margins and lower volumes in Geguand Services for the period ended December 313 28 compared to the period ended
December 31, 2012. As a result, our gross margireased from 3.2% for the year ended December@®D,20 5.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2013. Gross profit margin excludirggreeturing charges increased to 8.0% in the cugrear, from 4.0% in the prior year.

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&#&%penses decreased by $220, from $21,634 fordeended December 31, 2012, to
$21,414 for the year ended December 31, 2013. ifladl slecrease was the result of a variety of itemakiding lower facility cost of $362,
temporary labor costs of $147 and legal expens82109, partially offset by higher professional feé$507, insurance expenses of $241 and
director fees of $108. SG&A expenses as a percerttbgales decreased slightly from 10.3% in therpréar to 9.9% in the current year.

Intangible amortization expense decreasmd $1,759 for the year ended December 31, 20181 862 for the year ended December 31,
2013 due to the previous acceleration of amortipatelated to a portion of our customer relatiopshtangible asset that became fully
amortized during the second quarter of 2013. We r@sorded a $1,500 charge for a regulatory setttémssociated with the Plea Agreement.

Net loss improved from $17,907 for the yeaded December 31, 2012, to $10,499 for the yededDecember 31, 2013, as a result o
factors described above and a $3,585 gain on the&the Brandon Facility.

Towers and Weldments Segment

The following table summarizes the Towerd Weldments segment operating results for thesyeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31

2013 2012
Revenue: $ 159,47¢ $ 135,22:
Operating incom 19,55( 2,76¢
Operating margil 12.5% 2.C%

Towers and Weldments segment revenuesasedeby $24,257, from $135,221 for the year endszbMBber 31, 2012, to $159,478 for the
year ended December 31, 2013. Towers and Weldresegtaent revenues increased due to a $23,469 iadretmsvers revenues, and a $
increase in weldments revenues. Towers and Weldnsegiment revenues increased 18%, while towensscibld increased by 5% in the
current year period largely because we producedget number of smaller sections in the prior yeaiod. Weldments revenue for large
industrial customers increased 7% as comparecetpribr year period. We have continued our stratémgus on diversifying our end-markets;
however, expansion of the weldments business basdlrecently due to a downturn in the mining indus

Towers and Weldments segment operatingmiciocreased by $16,784, from $2,766 for the yeded December 31, 2012, to $19,550
for the year ended December 31, 2013. The incrieasgerating income was attributable to increaseldmes and margins on the current mix
of towers which includes less variability in towdsigns than in the prior year period, the reduatibproduction inefficiencies experienced in
the prior year period and the expansion of weldsmesxenue. Operating margin
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increased from 2.0% during the year ended Deceihe2012, to 12.3% during the year ended Decembe2(BL3.
Gearing Segment

The following table summarizes the Geasagment operating results for the years ended Deee®1, 2013 and 2012:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31

2013 2012
Revenue: $ 43,15( $ 55,66(
Operating los! (17,916 (7,62€)
Operating margil (41.9% (13.)%

Gearing segment revenues decreased by Z6m $55,660 for the year ended December 312 2@ $43,150 for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The 22% decrease in total regawas due to production delays attributable toptamt consolidation and the transitior
increased volumes of complex gearbox productiod,detreased mining and natural gas related sagegdudecline in industrial demand, as
compared to the prior year.

Gearing segment operating loss increasegllBy?290, from $7,626 for the year ended Decembe2@12, to $17,916 for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase in operating laessdue to lower sales and production volumes, &varable product mix, $3,295 of
increased restructuring expenses, and a $1,50(ategusettlement associated with the Plea Agre¢npanmtially offset by $1,497 of lower
depreciation and amortization, and $498 in lowepleyee compensation expense. As a result of therfadescribed above, operating margin
deteriorated from (13.7%) for the year ended Deaarlhh, 2012, to (41.5%) for the year ended Decer@bep013.

Services Segment

The following table summarizes the Servieegment operating results for the years endedrbleee31, 2013 and 2012:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2013 2012
Revenue: $ 17,24: $ 22,10¢
Operating los! (4,727 (4,18Y
Operating margil (27.H)% (18.9%

Services segment revenues decreased b§3$4r8m $22,106 for the year ended December 312 2@ $17,243 for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The 22% decrease in revenuerivaarily the result of greatly decreased constoucactivity, partially offset by a large
industrial project performed in the first half 323 at the Gearbox Facility. The low level of wiiadm construction and installations in 2013
negatively affected our Services segment revertd, directly and indirectly, as wind farm operathesse performed non-routine maintenance
projects themselves.

Services segment operating loss deteridfayeb536, from $4,185 for the year ended Decer8heR012, to $4,721 for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The decline reflects lower valsiand margins, and higher inventory charges, tdffséower operating expenses due to a
reduction in headcount in response to the dowrituattivity experienced, and also offset by highmargins in the first half of the year due to
the large industrial project. Operating margin detated
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from (18.9%) for the year ended December 31, 2@127.4%) for the year ended December 31, 2013.
Corporate and Other

Corporate and Other expenses increased By $, from $8,252 for the year ended Decembe2@12, to $10,123 for the year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase in expense wasupigrattributable to increased employee compeasatosts of $504, increased
professional fees of $537 and increased restrugi@xpense of $413.

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2011

The summary of selected financial datagtdigllow should be referenced in connection witkvéew of the following discussion of our
results of operations for the year ended Decembge?@®12 compared to the year ended December 31, 201

For the Year Ended December 31 2012 vs. 201
2012 % of Total 2011 % of Total $ Change % Change
Revenue: $ 210,70 100.(% $ 185,85: 100.(% $ 24,85 13.%%
Cost of sale: 202,25 96.% 178,53t 96.(% 23,72: 13.2%
Restructuring cosl 1,61¢ 0.8% 131 0.1% 1,48: 1132.%
Gross profit 6,83¢ 3.2% 7,187 3.€% (35)) (4.99%
Operating expenst
Selling, general and
administrative
expense: 21,63¢ 10.2% 26,31¢ 14.2% (4,687 17.9%
Intangible
amortization 1,75¢ 0.8% 85¢ 0.5% 90C 104.89%
Restructuring cosl 74C 0.4% 441 0.2% 29¢ 67.8%
Total operating
expense: 24,13: 11.5% 27,61¢ 14.9% (3,487 (12.0%
Operating los: (17,297 (8.9% (20,429 (11.0%  3,13: 15.2%
Other (expense) incon
Interest expense,
net (1,71) 0.9% (1,119 (0.6% (5949 (53.9%
Other, ne 1,271 0.6% 1,16¢ 0.6% 10z 8.7%
Loss on sale of
assets and
restructuring (144 0.C% (297) (0.2)% 152 51.5%
Total other
(expense)
income, ne (589) (0.2% (24E) (0.2)% (339 (138.9%
Net loss fromr
continuing operatior
before provision for
income taxe: (17,88) (8.55% (20,679 (11.29%  2,79: 13.5%
Provision for income
taxes 2€ 0.C% 68 0.C% (42) (61.9)%
Loss from continuing
operations (17,907 (8.55% (20,74 (11.29% 2,83t 13.1%
Loss from discontinuel
operations, net of ta — 0.C% (1,206 (0.6)%  1,20¢ 100.(%
Net loss $ (17,907 (8.5)%% (21,94% (11.%$ 4,041 18.%%

Consolidated

Total revenues increased $24,853, or 188 185,854 during the year ended December 311,2061$210,707 during the year ended
December 31, 2012. The increase in revenues wasply
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attributable to a 16%, or $18,295, increase inTmwers and Weldments segment revenue due to giowteldments revenue and higher steel
content in the towers sold. Our Gearing segmeat tetzenues increased by 3%, as increases in nalugtaring revenue more than offset the
declines in wind gearing revenue, consistent withfocus on diversifying our business. RevenuesuinServices segment increased by 36%
due to increased services to our two largest cumtomas well as sales of gearboxes and loose gaaraonnection with the Gearbox Facility,
which opened in February, 2011.

Total gross profit decreased $351 or 5%mff7,187 for the year ended December 31, 20146,836 for the year ended December 31,
2012. The decrease in gross profit was primarihytaitable to increased restructuring charges,céirdein Towers and Weldments gross profit
due to a lower margin mix of tower sales, the dasean wind tower sections manufactured and operatiefficiencies related to new tower
and weldments design production stgpt-partially offset by margin improvements at Geguand Services during the year ended Decemb
2012 as compared to the prior year. The gross maeyicentage declined from 3.9% in 2011 to 3.2%0ih2. Gross profit excluding
restructuring charges increased by $1,132, ancethéting gross margin percentage would have be# & the absence of those restructu
charges.

SG&A expenses decreased from $26,316 duhegear ended December 31, 2011, to $21,634glthisnyear ended December 31, 2012
The decrease was primarily attributable to redustio employee compensation expense of $1,449, éeganses of $1,406, professional fees
of $378, and bad debt expense of $862 as partr&rgecost containment efforts. SG&A expensesereentage of sales decreased from 14¢
in the year ended December 31, 2011 to 10% in¢he gnded December 31, 2012.

Intangible amortization expense increasenhf$859 during the year ended December 31, 20141759 during the year ended
December 31, 2012. The increase was attributalileetacceleration of amortization of an intangdset related to one customer contract.

We recorded restructuring costs of $443@®&A expenses in 2011, primarily due to the closafreur European sales office, and $740 in
2012 due primarily to the consolidation of our Geguoperations. Total other expense, net, was $24ihg the year ended December 31, 2
compared to other expense, net, of $584 during¢he ended December 31, 2012. The increased experssa result of increased financing
expenses, partially offset by lower restructuringts associated with sales of assets.

During the year ended December 31, 201 Ireperted a provision for income taxes of $68, carag to a provision for income taxes of
$26 during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Net loss decreased from $21,948 during/éfee ended December 31, 2011, to $17,907 duringgheended December 31, 2012,
primarily as a result of the factors as descrildealva.

Towers and Weldments Segment

The following table summarizes the Toward Weldments segment operating results for thesyeaded December 31, 2012 and 2011

Twelve Months Ended
December 31

2012 2011
Revenue: $ 135,22: $ 116,92¢
Operating incom 2,76¢ 5,18
Operating margil 2.C% 4.4%

Towers and Weldments segment revenuesaseceby $18,295, from $116,926 during the year@éibieember 31, 2011, to $135,221
during the year ended December 31, 2012. Towers and
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Weldments segment revenues increased due to adfin@@ase in weldment revenues, and an $11,204&dse in tower revenues. The $11,
increase in tower revenue represents sales of higgbel content towers, partially offset by a reducin tower volume shipped in the current
year. In the current year, significant steel costge included in the vast majority of our toweresawhile in the prior year fabricati-only
tower sections represented 26% of our volume. Wmate that the impact of the reduced share ofi¢ation-only tower sections accounted
approximately $19,800 of the increase in tower neres from the prior year. Towers MW sold decredgédwith a 12% decrease in the
volume of wind tower sections sold compared to 20¥& sold 1,207 tower sections during the year émdlecember 31, 2012, versus 1,369
sections sold during the year ended December 31,.20

Towers and Weldments segment operatingnirecdeclined by $2,421 from $5,187 during the yealee December 31, 2011, to $2,766
during the year ended December 31, 2012. The dezinaperating income was primarily attributalo@tiower margin mix of tower sales,
decrease in wind tower sections manufactured, padating inefficiencies related to new tower anddwents design production sta-in the
current year period. Our operating margin was 2f@@the year ended December 31, 2012, versus 4o4%hé year ended December 31, 2011

Gearing Segment

The following table summarizes the Geasagment operating results for the years ended Disee®1, 2012 and 2011:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31

2012 2011
Revenue! $ 55,66( $ 54,29¢
Operating los! (7,626 (10,737
Operating margil (13.9)% (19.9%

Gearing segment revenues increased $1i@64,$54,296 during the year ended December 311,201$55,660 during the year ended
December 31, 2012. The increase in industrial ggagvenue of 25% more than offset the declinetal tvind revenue of 37%, consistent v
our strategic diversification focus. The challengethe wind energy industry depressed the manurfacif wind turbine gearing, which had
typically accounted for the majority of our gearimyenues in the recent past. As demand for wiadigg decreased, we increased our sales
force and shifted our focus to the manufactureust@am-engineered gearing systems and gearboxes ford gas, mining and other industrial
customers. Gearing sales to oil and gas, miningo#imet industrial customers in 2012 represented @#&ur total revenues, and orders from
these customers represented 82% of our backlofjBsaember 31, 2012.

Gearing segment operating loss improve#3¢07, from $10,733 during the year ended Dece®bge?011, to $7,626 during the year
ended December 31, 2012. The operating margin wepnent is due to both improved gross margin dumpsoved mix despite increased
restructuring cost of goods sold of $1,257, andblaer SG&A expenses. The SG&A expenses reductionprinarily due to reduced legal ¢
professional fees of $1,231, lower bad debt expeh$&74 and lower employee compensation of $482. SG&A expense reduction was
partially offset by increased intangible amortieatdf $900 related to our decision to shorten seful life associated with a portion our
customer relationship asset, increased restrugtasipense of $486, and increased selling cost@ tf.$Gearing operating margin was (19.8)%
during the year ended December 31, 2011 compar@8td)% during the year ended December 31, 201 talthese factors.
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Services Segment
The following table summarizes the Servieegment operating results for the years endedrbleee31, 2012 and 2011:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31

2012 2011
Revenue: $ 22,10¢ $ 16,29:
Operating los! (4,185 (5,247
Operating margil (18.9% (32.29%

Services segment revenues increased $5/81%$16,291 during the year ended December 311 20 $22,106 during the year ended
December 31, 2012. Revenues within our Servicemergincreased by 36% due to increased servicesdeabto our two largest customers
well growth in sales of gearboxes and loose geanmgnnection with the Gearbox Facility which opdnn February 2011.

Services segment operating loss improved6®] from $5,247 during the year ended Decembg2@11, to $4,185 during the year ended
December 31, 2012. Services segment operatingngs®vement was primarily due to increased contidsumargins, partially offset by
higher operating expenses including a one-timel lsgflement expense of $283 and increased emplmymeensation expenses of $292.
Services operating margin was (32.2%) during thee yaded December 31, 2011 compared to (18.9%)glthe year ended December 31,
2012, due to these factors.

Corporate and Other

Corporate and Other operating loss decd=$%e384 from $9,636 during the year ended Dece®be2011, to $8,252 during the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease was prindaglyo legal fee decreases of $866 and the absé&ac®406 prior year restructuring
charge primarily related to the European officesale.

SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The methods, estimates and judgments thats& in applying our critical accounting policies/e a significant impact on the results that
we report in our financial statements. Some ofamaounting policies require us to make difficuldaubjective judgments, often as a result of
the need to make estimates regarding matters ithatlaerently uncertain.

We have identified the accounting polidisted below to be critical to obtain an undersiagdf our consolidated financial statements.
This section should also be read in conjunctiomwbte 1, "Description of Business and Summaryighificant Accounting Policies" in
Part IV, Item 15 in the notes to our consolidatedricial statements for further discussion of these other significant accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the earningsepmois complete and when persuasive evidence arfrangement exists, transfer of title has
occurred or services have been rendered, thegeltioe is fixed or determinable, collectabilityresasonably assured and delivery has occurre
per the terms of the contract. Customer deposidso#trer receipts are deferred and recognized wieretvenue is realized and earned.

In some instances, typically within our Tereand Weldments segment, products are sold teches included in bill and hold sales
arrangements that result in different timing foresue
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recognition. We recognize revenue under these geraents only when the buyer requests the arrangetitknand risk of ownership has
passed to the buyer, a fixed schedule for delieargts, the ordered goods are segregated from tomeand not available to fill other orders
and the goods are complete and ready for shiprAsstiming these required revenue recognition caiterée met, revenue is recognized upon
completion of product manufacture and customer@ecee.

Warranty Liability

We provide warranty terms that generallygefrom one to five years for various products sendices relating to workmanship and
materials supplied by us. In certain contractshese recourse provisions for items that would emabklto seek recovery from third parties for
amounts paid to customers under warranty provisions

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cosharket. We have recorded a reserve for exdesssb over market value in our inventory
allowance. Market value of inventory, and managdmgmdgment of the need for reserves, encompassesderation of other business factor:
including physical condition, inventory holding jet, contract terms, and usefulness. Inventoriessalued based either on the firstfirst ou
("FIFO") method, or on a standard cost basis thpt@imates the FIFO method.

Inventories consist of raw materials, workprocess, and finished goods. Raw materials sbn§icomponents and parts for general
production use. Work-in-process consists of laar @verhead, processing costs, purchased subcomgpaad materials purchased for
specific customer orders. Finished goods consisbnfponents purchased from third parties as welbagponents manufactured by us that
be used to produce final customer products.

Intangible Assets

We review intangible assets for impairmghenever events or circumstances indicate thayicgramounts may not be recoverable. If
such events or changes in circumstances occur,ilveegognize an impairment loss if the undiscounfigture cash flows expected to be
generated by the assets are less than the cakging of the related asset. The impairment losdavadjust the asset to its fair value.

In evaluating the recoverability of defatiived intangible assets, we must make assumptegerding estimated future cash flows and
other factors to determine the fair value of sus$ess. If our fair value estimates or related aggioms change in the future, we may be
required to record impairment charges relatedtemigible assets. Asset recoverability is first nnead by comparing the assets' carrying
amounts to their expected future undiscounted as flows to determine if the assets are impaifesiich assets are considered to be impe
the impairment recognized is measured based oantftoeint by which the carrying amount of the assatseds the fair value.

Due to the Gearing segment's operatingfosseach quarter of 2013 combined with its hystdrcontinued operating losses, we continue
to evaluate the recoverability of certain of ouamgible assets associated with the Gearing segBaséd upon our December 31, 2013 ov
impairment assessment, the recoverable amountwbasasitially in excess of the carrying amount ef telated assets, and no impairment to
these assets was indicated. To the extent thegpianjs used in our analysis are not achieved, timagbe a negative effect on the valuation of
these assets.
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Long-Lived Assets

We review property and equipment and oliveg-ived assets for impairment whenever events ouanstances indicate that their carry
amounts may not be recoverable. If such eventbamges in circumstances occur, we will recognizergrairment loss if the undiscounted
future cash flows expected to be generated bydbets are less than the carrying value of theeglagsets. The impairment loss would adjust
the asset to its fair value.

In evaluating the recoverability of longdud assets, we must make assumptions regardimgagst! future cash flows and other factors to
determine the fair value of such assets. If ourviaiue estimates or related assumptions chantieifuture, we may be required to record
impairment charges related to property and equipraea other londived assets. Asset recoverability is first meadurg comparing the asse
carrying amounts to their expected future undistedimet cash flows to determine if the assetsmapaired. If such assets are considered to b
impaired, the impairment recognized is measureddas the amount by which the carrying amount efabsets exceeds the fair value.

Due to the Gearing and Services segmepgsating losses in each quarter of 2013 combindul their history of continued operating
losses, we continue to evaluate the recoveralafigertain of the long-lived assets associated thighGearing and Services segments. Based
upon our December 31, 2013 overall impairment assest, the recoverable amount of undiscounted fbash based upon our most recent
projections were substantially in excess of theyoag amount of invested capital for the Gearind &ervices segments, respectively, and no
impairment to these assets was indicated. To ttenegrojections used in our evaluations are nbteaed, there may be a negative effect on
the valuation of these assets.

During the first half of 2013, we took a882charge to adjust the carrying value of the Gfintlle Facility assets to fair value, and
reclassified the resulting $790 carrying value froraperty and equipment to Assets Held for Salés Treatment was due to our decision to
the Clintonville Facility for sale as a result afraletermination that the Clintonville Facility was longer required in our operations.
Additionally, we took a $345 charge to adjust therging value of certain Gearing equipment to falue, and reclassified the resulting $1,40(
carrying value to Assets Held for Sale as a resfudt decision to sell this equipment. During thertb quarter of 2013, we recorded a $1,732
charge to adjust the carrying value of the Ciceverue Facility's land and building down to fairwel This treatment was in response to the
Cicero Avenue Facility becoming predominately afliprior to year-end in conjunction with our plantsolidation initiative. As the Cicero
Avenue Facility is not immediately available fotesat has not been classified as Assets Held &e.SThe three aforementioned impairment
charges were recorded as Restructuring expenseis witr Statement of Operations.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes based uporsaetand liability approach. Deferred tax asseatdliabilities represent the future tax
consequences of the differences between the fiabstaitement carrying amounts of assets and liggsilversus the tax basis of assets and
liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax asseesrecognized for deductible temporary differenead operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities are recagu for taxable temporary differences. Deferredassets are reduced by a valuation allow.
when, in the opinion of management, it is moreljikban not that some portion or all of the defdrtax assets will not be realized. The impac
of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets antitiéahis recognized in the year that the charggenacted.

In connection with the preparation of oansolidated financial statements, we are requivezstimate our income tax liability for each of
the tax jurisdictions in which we operate. Thisqass
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involves estimating our actual current income tapemse and assessing temporary differences ragfiiim differing treatment of certain
income or expense items for income tax reportirdyfarancial reporting purposes. We also recogrtieeeixpected future income tax benefit
NOL carryforwards as deferred income tax assetsvéduating the realizability of deferred income #ssets associated with N(
carryforwards, we consider, among other thingseetqul future taxable income, the expected timintpefreversals of existing temporary
reporting differences, and the expected impacaxplanning strategies that may be implementeddwent the potential loss of future income
tax benefits. Changes in, among other things, irctan legislation, statutory income tax rates,ubuife taxable income levels could materially
impact our valuation of income tax assets andlltads and could cause our income tax provisiomary significantly among financial reporti
periods.

We also account for the uncertainty in imectaxes related to the recognition and measureafientax position taken or expected to be
taken in an income tax return. We follow the apdlie pronouncement guidance on derecognition, ifitzed®on, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andgition related to the uncertainty in these incomepositions.

Workers' Compensation Reserves

At the beginning of the third quarter oftl3)we began to self-insure for our workers' congpéon liabilities that include reserves for self:
retained losses. Historical loss experience conabivieh actuarial evaluation methods and the apftioeof risk transfer programs are used to
determine required workers' compensation reseiWestake into account claims incurred but not regibxthen determining our workers'
compensation reserves. Workers' compensation esare included in accrued liabilities. While wéidoe that we have adequately reserved
for these claims, the ultimate outcome of thesdaramay exceed the amounts recorded and additmssss may be incurred.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We review new accounting standards as ésshithough some of the accounting standards issuedfective in the current fiscal year n
be applicable to us, we believe that none of the standards have a significant impact on our coseléronsolidated financial statements.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL POSITION AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At December 31, 2013, cash assets tot&6dL$2, compared to $846 at December 31, 2012. @u# 23, 2012, we entered into a Loan
and Security Agreement (the "Loan Agreement") wtbStar, providing us with a new $20,000 securaatlitrfacility (the "Credit Facility").
Under this recapitalized borrowing structure, baiirgs are continuous and all cash receipts aremaatioally applied to any outstanding
borrowed balance. As a result of this structureamtcipate that cash balances will remain at ammim at all times when there are amounts
outstanding under the credit line.

In analyzing our liquidity, we focus on ogeng working capital, which is comprised of A/Rdainventories, net of accounts payable and
customer deposits. Our operating working capit@etember 31, 2013 was $5,348, or 2% of trailimgetmonths of sales annualized. This
decrease of $16,239 from December 31, 2012, wheratipg working capital was $21,587, or 12% oflimgi three months of sales annualiz
The reduction in operating working capital has Bigantly enhanced our liquidity position compatedhe prior year.

While we believe that we will continue tave sufficient cash flows to operate our businegst our financial debt covenants and execut
our restructuring plan, there can be no assurahe¢®ur operations will generate sufficient casthat credit facilities will be available in an
amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebésdror to fund our other liquidity needs. If asstioms regarding our
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restructuring efforts, cash advances, sales angksulent collections from several of our large qusts, as well as revenues generated from
new customer orders, are not materially consistétht management's expectations, we may encounsérftav and liquidity issues. Addition
funding may not be available when needed or ondexoeeptable to us, which could adversely affecowarall operations. Any additional
equity financing, if available, may be dilutivegtockholders or result in limitations on our alilib utilize our NOL carryforwards, and
additional debt financing, if available, will likekequire financial covenants or other restrictions

Sources and Uses of Cash
Operating Cash Flows

During the year ended December 31, 201i3camh provided by operating activities totaled,338, compared to net cash used in
operating activities of $2,882 for the year endet&mber 31, 2012. The increase in net cash flomdged by operating activities as compe
to the prior year was primarily attributable to dEased operating losses and larger receipts abrogstdeposits associated primarily with towe
orders, which were used to fund raw material gteethases. Partially offsetting this increase \hascbrresponding inventory buildup that
occurred during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Investing Cash Flows

During the year ended December 31, 201i3;ash provided by investing activities totaledéB8, compared to net cash used in investing
activities of $4,704 during the year ended Decen3fie2012. The increase in net cash provided bgsting activities as compared to the prior
year period was primarily attributable to the safi¢ghe Brandon Facility, which resulted in groseqeeds of approximately $12,0(

Financing Cash Flows

During the years ended December 31, 208is@tember 31, 2012, net cash used in financingites totaled $7,488 and $5,238,
respectively. The increase in net cash used imdimg activities as compared to the prior yearqukvias primarily attributable to increased
payments on capital leases and our line of credit.

Credit Facilities
AloStar Credit Facility

On August 23, 2012, we entered into thenLAgreement with AloStar, providing us with the @itéFacility. The Credit Facility is a
secured three-year asset-based revolving creditfapursuant to which AloStar will advance fundéen requested against a borrowing base
consisting of approximately 85% of the face valtiewr eligible receivables and approximately 509%haf book value of our eligible invento
Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interatsa per annum rate equal to the one-month Londienank Offered Rate plus a margin of
4.25%, with a minimum interest rate of 5.25% peaman. We must also pay an unused facility fee toS#o equal to 0.50% per annum on the
unused portion of the Credit Facility along witthet standard fees. The initial term of the Loanegnent ends on August 23, 2015.

The Loan Agreement contains customary sepritions and warranties applicable to us an&tisidiaries. It also contains a requiren
that we, on a consolidated basis, maintain a minimwonthly fixed charge coverage ratio and minimuonthly Adjusted EBITDA, along
with other customary restrictive covenants, certdiwhich are subject to materiality thresholdsskeds and customary exceptions and
qualifications. During the third quarter of 2018etl oan Agreement was
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amended to: (i) redefine certain exclusions tofitked charge coverage ratio; (ii) exclude the pdidanon-cash portion of the environmental
regulatory settlement charges from the AdjustedTER calculation and (iii) increase the capital empigure limit for 2013.

The obligations under the Loan Agreemeeatsarcured by, subject to certain exclusions, fisapriority security interest in all of the A/R,
inventory, chattel paper, payment intangibles, aaghcash equivalents and other working capitatassd stock or other equity interests in
the Subsidiaries and (ii) a first priority securityerest in all of the equipment of Brad Foote.

As of December 31, 2013, there was no anthhg indebtedness under the Credit Facility. \at the ability to borrow up to $15,807 as
of December 31, 2013, and the per annum interéstrauld have been 5.25%. The Company was in camdi with all applicable covenants
under the Loan Agreement as of December 31, 2013.

Great Western Bank Loans

On April 28, 2009, Broadwind Towers enteneth a Construction Loan Agreement with Great \WWesBank ("GWB"), pursuant to which
GWB agreed to provide up to $10,000 in financirge ({GWB Construction Loan") to fund constructiortioé Brandon Facility. Pursuant to a
Change in Terms Agreement dated April 5, 2010 betw®WB and Broadwind Towers, the GWB Constructioah. was converted to a term
loan (the "GWB Term Loan") providing for monthlyyraents of principal plus interest, extending theurity date to November 5, 2016,
reducing the principal amount to $6,500, and chamtfie per annum interest rate to 8.5%.

The GWB Term Loan was secured by a firsttgame on the Brandon Facility and all fixtures @nolceeds relating thereto, pursuant to a
Mortgage and a Commercial Security Agreement, éativeen Broadwind Towers and GWB, and by a Commk@uaranty from the
Company. In addition, we agreed to subordinatentdicompany debt with Broadwind Towers to the GW&m Loan. The documents
evidencing and securing the GWB Term Loan contam@desentations, warranties and covenants thauatemary for a term financing
arrangement and contained no financial covenatis Brandon Facility was sold in April 2013 and @¥&/B Term Loan was repaid in its
entirety with a portion of the proceeds.

Other

Included in Long Term Debt, Net of Currdfdturities is $2,600 associated with the New MasKidx Credit transaction described furthel
in Note 19, "New Markets Tax Credit Transaction'Part IV, Item 15 in the notes to our consoliddiadncial statements. Additionally, we
have approximately $350 of other term loans outitan
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Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth, as of Debem31, 2013, minimum future cash payments duerwa@ractual obligations, including,
among others, our debt and credit agreements amadarecelable operating and capital lease agreerasritdlows:

2019 &
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Thereafter Total

Debt and credit

agreements(1 $ 201 $ 15C $ 5% — $ 2600 $ — $ 2,95¢
Liabilities held for sal¢ 74¢ — — — — — 74¢
Estimated interest

payments(2 31C 22% 68 68 5C — 71¢
Operating lease

obligations 3,167 2,65k 2,537 2,44( 2,397 17,317 30,41
Capital lease

obligations(3) 1,021 80¢€ 43E — — — 2,26
Total contractual cast

obligations $ 5,44t $ 3,732 $ 3,045 $ 2508 $ 5,047 $ 17,317 $ 37,09¢

Q) Debt and credit agreements represent the mimifiuture principal payments due under our outstandontractual
obligations.

(2) Interest payments represent an amount calculatezkfected interest payments due under our outisiguaigbt and cred
agreements. Assumptions used to derive these amae@né based upon current interest rates as ofnileare31, 2013,
required minimum principal payments due, and matuf our debt and credit agreements per our conted agreement
Actual interest payments could vary materially frtrase set out in this table.

3) Capital lease obligations include both the futwiagipal and interest payments related to theseeagents

Debt and Credit Agreements.Debt and credit agreements include outstanidargowings under our lines of credit, term notdatesl to
vehicle and equipment purchases, and a purchaseragnt for manufacturing equipment. See Note 1bt'Bed Credit Agreements" in
Part IV, Item 15 "EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCHEDULES" in the notes to our consolidated finahstatements for further
discussion of our outstanding indebtedness andt@greements.

Operating Lease Obligations. We lease a number of our facilities and cerggjunipment under operating leases expiring at uariates
through 2026. Lease terms generally range froml®5tgears with renewal options for extended teffh& amounts in the table above repre
future minimum lease payments for non-cancelabérating leases.

Capital Lease Obligations. We have capital lease obligations related ttagemanufacturing equipment and vehicles expighgarious
dates through 2016. As of December 31, 2013, ttenba of our outstanding capital lease obligatiwas approximately $2,262, which
includes accrued interest of approximately $136.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to financial market risksictv include changes in interest rates on our bégieate obligations, credit risks on A/R and
raw material price fluctuations.

Interest Rate Exposure

As of December 31, 2013, the majority of third party borrowings under our debt and craditeements bear annual interest at fixed
interest rates; therefore, we have limited interats exposure. We are subject to interest ratéUftion exposure only through amounts
financed under the
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Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2013, there wasutstanding indebtedness under the Creditifadihere was $955 of borrowings
outstanding under the Credit Facility as of Decen3dg 2012.

Credit Risk Exposure

We are exposed to credit risk on our A/Rabees and cash balances. Historically, our A/Riti@gs are highly concentrated with a select
number of financially stable customers. Duringykars ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, our figedacustomers accounted for
approximately 83% and 67%, respectively, of comnlstéd revenues. Additionally, as of December 3132ihd 2012, our five largest
customers comprised approximately 63% and 41%edisely, of our outstanding A/R balances.

Commodity Risk Exposure

We are dependent upon the supply of certainmaterials used in our production processeasilzase raw materials are exposed to price
fluctuations on the open market. The primary ravtamal we use is steel. To reduce price risk catlyeaharket fluctuations, we have
incorporated price adjustment clauses in certdessantracts. Management believes a hypothet@d ¢hange in the price of steel and other
raw materials would not have a significant effectonir consolidated results of operations or cashiflbecause these costs are generally pass
through to our customers.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA

The financial information required by Itéhis contained in Part IV, Item 15 "EXHIBITS ANDRANCIAL STATEMENT
SCHEDULES" of this Annual Report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedes

We seek to maintain disclosure controls pradedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) andl5%el} under the Exchange Act) that are
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed in our reports filed under the Exchangeig\recorded, processed, summarized an
reported within the time periods specified in tH&CS rules and forms. This information is also acglated and communicated to managen
including our Chief Executive Officer ("CEQO") andhi&éf Financial Officer ("CFQ"), as appropriate aibow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. Our management, under thergigpn and with the participation of our CEO anBQ@; evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls@dedures as of the end of the most recent fepeaiter reported on herein. Based on that
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that oudalisice controls and procedures were not effectivefahe end of our 2013 reporting
period because of the material weaknesses in alteamtrol over financial reporting described below

(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial R@orting

There were no changes in our internal obwaiver financial reporting that occurred during tast fiscal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeef, our internal control over financial reporting
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(c) Report of Management on Internal Control OverFinancial Reporting

Our management, including our CEO and GB@esponsible for establishing and maintaininggadée internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15()15der the Exchange Act).

Our management, including our CEO and C&3essed the effectiveness of our internal coowel financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013. Management based this assessmeriteria for effective internal control ovendincial reporting described in "Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (1992)" issued byG@menmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred®@ommission. Based on this
assessment, management determined that, as of bec&t 2013, our internal control over financeporting is not effective because of the
material weaknesses in internal control over fim@neporting described below.

Segregation of duties, account reconciliations aachmunication of policies and procedures

On January 31, 2014, the Audit CommitteewfBoard (the "Audit Committee™) concluded thas previously issued financial statements
contained in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Qtlierperiods ended March 31, 2013, June 30, 20d Baptember 30, 2013 should no
longer be relied upon because of errors in thasmftial statements that originated in our Towers\Afeldments segment. In addition to the
financial statements for these periods, relatedspreleases furnished on Current Reports on Fafha®d reports and stockholder
communications describing our financial statemémtshese periods should no longer be relied upon.

The Audit Committee has completed an inddpet investigation into the errors that were ideat in the quarterly financial statements
our Towers and Weldments segment. The Audit Coresigtinvestigation found that we understated guosfit and overstated net loss in the
2013 quarterly financial statements of our Towerd Weldments segment by $938 for the nine-monthds@iSeptember 30, 2013. We have
restated the quarterly financial statements becafide above understatement, and have correctedudarterly figures to address other
unrecorded errors which were previously deemedjmificant. This Annual Report contains quarterlyafincial data that reflects the updated
restated figures for quarters in 2013.

The investigation also found that durinig theriod deficiencies in the design and effectégnof certain internal controls over financial
reporting allowed accounting errors to occur, safwhich arose from instances of intentional mitsteent relating to the deferral of income
within the affected business segment. As a reguttis investigation, management concluded thaehmaterial weaknesses exist as describet
below:

1) We did not maintain effective controls over gireparation, support, review and approval of jalemntries. Specifically,
effective controls were not in place to ensure praggegregation of duties between the preparatidrapproval of journal entrie

2) We did not maintain effective control over the necitiation of the accrual account for inventorynite that have been received
for which the related vendor invoice is pendinge8fically, the reconciliation was not properly dgeed to identify, investigate
and resolve reconciling items on a timely basis.

3) We did not maintain effective controls overunirsy our commitment to integrity and ethical vau&pecifically, our controls

over internal communications regarding the imparéaof maintaining effective internal control overaincial reporting and a
commitment to integrity and ethical values were oyrating effectively.

The above material weaknesses resultecatenal misstatements to accounts payable ando€sstes that required us to restate the
Company's previously issued 2013 quarterly findratEtements.
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Inventory Accountin

We did not maintain effective controls ottee costing and valuation of inventory. Specifigatontrols over standard cost updates,
capitalization of variances into ending inventaimination of intercompany profits in inventorydamaluation of inventory related reserves
were not properly designed to prevent or deteceratmisstatements on a timely basis, that we looled in the aggregate, constitute a
material weakness. This material weakness resinteaventory misstatements that were correctedrpadhe issuance of this Annual Report
and give rise to a reasonable possibility that meltenisstatements of inventory in our annual aeiim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Revenue Accountir

As previously disclosed under "ltem 4—Cofttrand Procedures” on Form 10-Q for the quartdeédune 30, 2013, management
identified a material weakness in our internal colndver financial reporting related to the revemeeognition process in our Towers and
Weldments segment, specifically related to managémeequisite knowledge regarding the applicatibrevenue recognition accounting
guidance. This material weakness resulted in rexemigstatements that were corrected prior to #eaisce of this Annual Report and give rise
to a reasonable possibility that material misstatets of revenue in our annual or interim finanstakements will not be prevented or detected
on a timely basis.

This Annual Report does not include anssdtiion report of our independent registered puddimounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting pursuant to the ruleshaf SEC that permit us to provide only managemes'srt in this Annual Report.

(d) Remediation Plan

As part of our commitment to strengtheniyg internal control over financial reporting, wavie implemented various personnel actions
and will initiate other remedial actions under tiversight of the Audit Committee, including:

Segregation of duties, account reconciliations aachmunication of policies and procedures

. We will conduct comprehensive training of all apmiate management regarding the importance obfull transparent
communication and disclosure over matters that anpar internal controls and financial reportinglafisclosure. This will
include a program of continuous education for neanagers and refresher courses for all managers ongoing basis.

. We will enhance separation of incompatible dsisarrounding preparation and approval of journaii@s and account analysis.

. We will enhance controls over the review andrapgl of manual journal entries.

Inventory Accountin

. We will review and revise the design of controlshawiespect to standard cost updates, capitalizafieariances into ending
inventory, elimination of intercompany profits imvientory and the calculation of our inventory reser

. We will train existing staff in the specific neigements of generally accepted accounting priesipélated to inventory costing
and valuation.
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Revenue Accountir

Subsequent to the discovery of the revammeeunting material weakness, we changed our @iteaontrol process and procedures and
began remediating the material weakness in thd thuarter of 2013 by performing the following:

. We implemented participation in SEC reporting agekbnue recognition training classes by relevargqrerel.

. We implemented a formal contract review contraldentify and account for key terms affecting revemecognition covering &
contracts and purchase orders related to salesvefs.

We believe we have made substantial pregesard completing our remediation of the reveaceounting material weakness in the
fourth quarter of 2013 and throughout our year-elnding process by performing a comprehensive aisabf detailed revenue transactions
posted to our financial statements and evalualirgd revenues against the previously completedamiranalyses. We will continue to
maintain and verify the effective operation of taesntrols into 2014, before concluding that weeh@mediated this material weakness in
revenue recognition controls.

We can give no assurance that the meawae¢ake will remediate the material weaknesseswiatlentified or that any additional
material weaknesses will not arise in the future. WMl continue to monitor the effectiveness ofg¢d@nd other processes, procedures and
controls and will make any further changes managemetermines appropriate.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE

With the exception of the description of @ode of Ethics and Business Conduct below, tfanmation required by this item is
incorporated herein by reference from the discussitder the headings "Directors and Director Corapton,” "Corporate Governance" and
"Other Matters—Section 16(a) Beneficial OwnershgpBrting Compliance” in our definitive Proxy Statamhto be filed in connection with
our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "2@tdxy Statement").

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Besi@®nduct (the "Code") that applies to all of divectors, executive officers and senior
financial officers (including our principal execsi officer, principal financial officer, principalccounting officer, controller, and any person
performing similar functions). The Code is avaiibh our website atww.bwen.cominder the caption "Investors" and is availablerintp
free of charge, to any stockholder who sends aggtdfor a paper copy to Broadwind Energy, Inc.nAlhvestor Relations, 3240 South Central
Avenue, Cicero, IL 60804. We intend to include am website any amendment to, or waiver from, a isiom of the Code that applies to our
principal executive officer, principal financialfafer, principal accounting officer or controller;, persons performing similar functions, that
relates to any element of the code of ethics dadimienumerated in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information regarding director and execaittompensation is incorporated by reference fravdtbcussion under the headings "Directors
and Director Compensation" and "Compensation Dsonsand Analysis" in the 2014 Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Certain of the information required by thé&m is incorporated herein by reference fromdiseussion under the heading "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Holders and Managethin the 2014 Proxy Statement.

The following table provides information@sDecember 31, 2013, with respect to shares oEommon stock that may be issued under
our existing equity compensation plans:

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

(@ (b) ©
Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities future issuances under
to be issued upon Weighted-average equity compensation
exercise of exercise price of plans (excluding
outstanding options, outstanding options, securities reflected in
Plan Category warrants, and rights warrants, and rights column (a))
Equity compensation plans
approved by stockholde 878,11(1)% 10.7¢ 1,367,79'
Total 878,11. $ 10.7¢ 1,367,79

Q) Includes outstanding stock options to purchaseeshairour common stock and outstanding restridimcksawards
pursuant to the Amended and Restated Broadwindgignbrc. 2007 Employee Incentive Plan and the Brnoad
Energy, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Pl:

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item isdmporated herein by reference from the discussiater the headings "Certain Transactions an
Business Relationships" and "Corporate Governainctiie 2014 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item isdanporated herein by reference from the discussimter the heading "Ratification of
Appointment of Independent Registered Public ActimgnFirm" in the 2014 Proxy Statement.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES
1. Financial Statements
The financial statements listed on the kneFinancial Statements (page 38) are filed asqfahis Annual Report.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

These schedules have been omitted bedagseduired information is included in the consatéd financial statements or notes thereto o
because they are not applicable or not required.

3. Exhibits
The exhibits listed on the Index to Extsk{bages 71 through 74) are filed as part of tmaual Report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Broadwind Energy, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying conselitialance sheet of Broadwind Energy, Inc. (andididries) as of December 31, 2013, and
the related consolidated statement of operatidaskkolders' equity, and cash flows for the yeateghDecember 31, 2013. These consolidate
financial statements are the responsibility of@mmpany's management. Our responsibility is toesgan opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgiet8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditiges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finan@tdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the financial position of
Broadwind Energy, Inc. (and subsidiaries) as ofddelger 31, 2013, and the results of its operatiodsta cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2013, in conformity with U.S. gengralicepted accounting principles.

/sl KPMG LLP

Chicago, IL
March 12, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Broadwind Energy Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conselitialance sheet of Broadwind Energy Inc. (a Dalawarporation) and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2012, and the relatesitidated statements of operations, stockholdgrsty, and cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 201@sd financial statements are the responsibilith®@fCompany's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform a @fuithe Company's internal control over financigborting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company's internal contr@rdinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnéxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlebarsd significant estimates made by managememtebss evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imalerial respects, the financial position of
Broadwind Energy Inc. and subsidiaries as of Deegrlh, 2012, and the results of their operatiomsthair cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2012, ifoamity with accounting principles generally acasgin the United States of Americ

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 27, 2013

47




Table of Contents

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

As of December 31

2013 2012
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 2493t $ 51€
Shor-term investment 1,14: —
Restricted cas 83 33C
Accounts receivable, n 18,73¢ 20,03¢
Inventories, ne 37,14 21,98¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,32t 3,83¢
Assets held for sal 1,97( 8,04
Total current asse 86,33 54,75
LONG-TERM ASSETS:
Property and equipment, r 69,077 79,88¢
Intangible assets, n 5,90z 7,45¢
Other asset 2,37¢ 81€
TOTAL ASSETS $ 163,69: $ 142,91(
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Lines of credit and notes payal $ — $ 95¢
Current maturities of lor-term deb 201 352
Current portions of capital lease obligatic 93:< 2,215
Accounts payabl 27,53 16,37
Accrued liabilities 8,11¢ 6,012
Customer deposit 22,99 4,06:
Liabilities held for sal¢ 74¢ 3,86(
Total current liabilities 60,52¢ 33,83¢
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-term debt, net of current maturiti 2,75¢ 2,95¢
Long-term capital lease obligations, net of currentipag 1,19: 641
Other 3,88¢ 2,16¢
Total lon¢-term liabilities 7,83¢€ 5,76¢
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 steuthorized; no
shares issued or outstand — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 30,000,000 shartmazed;
14,627,990 and 14,197,792 shares issued and oditsfaas of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respecti' 15 14
Additional paic-in capital 376,12! 373,60!
Accumulated defici (280,81() (270,31)
Total stockholders' equit 95,33( 103,30¢
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 163,69: $ 142,91(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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BROADWIND ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

For the Years Ended December 3

2013 2012 2011
Revenue: $ 215,71( $ 210,700 $ 185,85:
Cost of sale! 198,37¢ 202,25 178,53t
Restructuring 4,98¢ 1,614 131
Gross profit 12,34¢ 6,83¢€ 7,187
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Selling, general and administrati 21,41« 21,63« 26,31¢

Intangible amortizatiol 1,552 1,75¢ 85¢

Regulatory settlemel 1,50(C — —

Restructuring 1,08¢ 74C 441

Total operating expens: 25,55¢ 24,13: 27,61¢

Operating los! (13,210 (17,297 (20,429
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), net:

Interest expense, n (985) (1,71)) (1,117

Other income, ne 1,00( 1,271 1,16¢

Gain (loss) on sale of assets and restructt 2,87¢ (144) (297)

Total other (expense) income, | 2,89: (584) (245)

Net loss from continuing operations before providior

income taxe: (10,31 (17,889 (20,679
Provision for income taxe 72 26 68
LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (10,389 (17,90 (20,749
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET OF

TAX (110 — (1,206
NET LOSS $ (10,499 $ (17,90) $ (21,949
NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE—BASIC AND

DILUTED:
Loss from continuing operatiol $ 079% (@Q2n$ (@179
Loss from discontinued operatio (0.00) — (0.10
Net Loss $ (079 % @12)$ (189
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES

OUTSTANDING—Basic and diluted 14,45} 14,05¢ 11,61°

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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BROADWIND ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

BALANCE, December31, 201C

Stock issued under equity
offering (net of offering cost:
of $458)

Stock issued for restricted sto

Stock issued under defined
contribution 401(k) retiremel
savings plar

Stock repurchased as part of t
sale of Badger Transport, I

Sharebased compensatic

Net loss

BALANCE, December31, 2011

Stock issued for restricted sto

Stock issued under defined
contribution 401(k) retiremel
savings plar

Reclass between APIC and C!
due to 11 Split

Sharebased compensatic

Net loss

BALANCE, December31, 2012

Stock issued for restricted sto

Stock issued under stock optic
plans

Stock issued under defined
contribution 401(k) retiremel
savings plar

Shar+-based compensatic

Net loss

BALANCE, December 31, 201%

(In thousands, except share data)

Common Stock

Shares Additional
Issued and Issued Paid-in Accumulated
Outstanding Amount Capital Deficit Total
10,711,228 $ 107 $ 356,54! $ (230,45 $ 126,19¢
3,250,001 33 11,66 — 11,69°
16,06: — — — —
10,57; — 15C — 15C
(10,000 — (142) (142)
— — 1,90¢ — 1,90¢
— — — (21,949 (21,949
13,977,992 $ 14C $ 370,12 $ (252,409 $ 117,85¢
38,66 — — — —
181,20! — 522 — 52%
(126) 12€ —
— — 2,83: — 2,83:
= = = (17,907  (17,90)
14,197,79 $ 14 $ 373,60' $ (270,31) $ 103,30¢
258,28: 1 — — 1
5,40( 0 18 — 18
166,51- 0 681 — 681
— — 1,821 — 1,821
— — — (10,499 (10,499
14,627,99 $ 15 $ 376,12! $ (280,81() $ 95,33(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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BROADWIND ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Loss from discontinued operatio

Loss from continuing operatiol

Adjustments to reconcile net cash used in operatingctivities:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 2011

$ (10499 $ (17,90) $ (21,949
11¢ — 1,20¢
(10,389 ~ (17,90) (20,747

Depreciation and amortization expel 14,85¢ 16,537 14,53«
Impairment charge 2,36¢ — —
Stock-based compensatic 1,821 2,83t 1,90¢
(Recovery of) allowance for doubtful accou (436) 15 1,00¢
Common stock issued under defined contribution K0Odlen 681 522 15C
(Gain) loss on disposal of ass (3,509) 54¢ 474
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl 1,80¢ 5,257 (4,88¢)
Inventories (15,15Y) 1,367 (5,61€)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 1,411 51¢ (20)
Accounts payabl 11,67 (1,165 (5,009)
Accrued liabilities 2,20¢ 17¢ (64¢€)
Customer deposi 18,93( (13,25¢) 8,447
Other no-current assets and liabilitic (14) 1,671 93
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activititsontinued operatior 26,25¢ (2,882) (10,309
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from the sale of logistics business daterenote receivab 25C 37t 952
Purchases of available for sale secur (1,989 — —
Maturities of available for sale securiti 84C — —
Purchases of property and equipm (6,950 (5,739 (4,70%)
Proceeds from disposals of property and equipi 13,24¢ 11z 1,87¢
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢ 24¢ 54€ (70€)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activibésontinued operatior 5,654 (4,704 (2,58¢)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from issuance of st 18 — 11,697
Payments on lines of credit and notes pay (80,37¢) (78,78%) (2,517
Payments on related party notes pay: — (2,79)) (20¢
Proceeds from lines of credit and notes pay 75,20¢ 77,62( 2,311
Payments for debt issuance cc — (63€) —
Principal payments on capital lea: (2,33¢) (644) (977)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activitégontinued operatior (7,48%) (5,23¢) 11,30¢
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS:
Operating cash flow — — (857)
Investing cash flow — — —
Financing cash flow — — (83)
Net cash used in discontinued operati — — (939
Add: Cash balance of discontinued operations, Iméggnof perioc — — 53C
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S 24,42( (12,829) (1,997
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of the year 51€ 13,34( 15,33:

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the year

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paic
Income taxes pai

Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Issuance of restricted stock gra
Equipment addition via capital lea

The accompanying notes are an

$ 2493 $ 51€ $ 13,34(

$ 78¢ ¢ 1508 $  1,02¢
$ 22 ¢ 26 $ 34

$ 1328 § 181t $ 90C
$ 148 $ — $ =

integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

Broadwind Energy, Inc. (the "Company") pdms technologically advanced high-value produnts services to energy, mining and
infrastructure sector customers, primarily in th&Urhe Company's most significant presence isinvitie U.S. wind energy industry, althou
the Company has diversified into other industriarkets in order to improve its capacity utilizat@md reduce its exposure to uncertainty
related to favorable governmental policies cursestipporting the U.S. wind energy industry. The @any's product and service portfolio
provides its wind energy customers, including wimidbine manufacturers, wind farm developers andiviémm operators, with access to a
broad array of component and service offeringssidatof the wind energy market, the Company pravjgecision gearing and specialty
weldments to a broad range of industrial custorf@reil and gas, mining and other industrial apations. The Company has three reportable
operating segments: Towers and Weldments, GeaimServices.

Towers and Weldments

The Company manufactures towers for winbines, specifically the large and heavier windeosvthat are designed for 2 megawatt
("MW") and larger wind turbines. Production fagés, located in Manitowoc, Wisconsin and Abilenexds, are situated in close proximity to
the primary U.S. domestic wind energy and equipmeartufacturing hubs. The two facilities have a corath annual tower production
capacity of up to approximately 500 towers, suéfitito support turbines generating more than 1\00of power. This product segment also
encompasses the manufacture of specialty fabritetiod specialty weldments for mining and otheustidal customers.

Gearing

The Company engineers, builds and rematwifeg precision gears and gearing systems fondilgas, wind energy, mining, steel and
other industrial applications. The Company usestagrated manufacturing process, which includeshimng and finishing processes in
Cicero, lllinois, and heat treatment in Nevillealstl, Pennsylvania.

Services

The Company offers a comprehensive rangenfices, primarily to wind farm developers anérapors. The Company specializes in nor
routine maintenance services for both kilowatt B wind turbines. The Company also offers compreahenfield services to the wind
energy industry. The Company is increasingly faegsis efforts on the identification and/or devetamt of product and service offerings
which will improve the reliability and efficiencyf avind turbines, and therefore enhance the econbmefits to its customers. The Company
provides wind services across the U.S., with prnsarvice locations in South Dakota and Texas . dbr&ary 2011, the Company put into
operation its dedicated drivetrain service centekbilene, Texas (the "Gearbox Facility"), whichHaégused on servicing the growing installed
base of MW wind turbines as they come off warraantg, to a limited extent, industrial gearboxes @yl precision repair and testing.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity

The Company has a limited history of opgerat and has incurred operating losses since iimepthe Company anticipates that current
cash resources and cash to be generated from ioperat 2014 will be adequate to meet the Compdiggdity needs for at least the next
twelve months. As discussed further in Note 11,B10snd Credit Agreements” of these consolidateafiial statements, the Company is
obligated to make principal payments on outstandielgf totaling $201 during 2014. If sales and sgbeat collections from several of the
Company's large customers, as well as revenuesajeddrom new customer orders, are not mater@hsistent with management's plans,
Company may encounter cash flow and liquidity isséelditional funding may not be available whendextor on terms acceptable to the
Company, which could affect its overall operatiofigy additional equity financing, if available, mbg dilutive to stockholders, and additional
debt financing, if available, will likely requiréiancial covenants or other restrictions on the @amy. There can be no assurances the
Company's efforts to generate sufficient cash flalvbe successful.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presermtia

These consolidated financial statementsidtecthe accounts of Broadwind and entities in Whiidhas a controlling financial interest. All
significant intercompany transactions and balames® been eliminated in consolidation. The Comphetgrmines whether it has a controlling
financial interest in an entity by first evaluatimipether the entity is a voting interest entityaorariable interest entity (“VIE").

When the Company obtains an economic isténean entity, the Company evaluates the ergiygtermine if the entity is deemed a VIE,
and if the Company is deemed to be the primaryfi@agy, in accordance with the accounting standardhe consolidation of VIE's. The
accounting standard for the consolidation of VHeguires the Company to qualitatively assess iGbmpany was the primary beneficiary of
the VIE based on whether the Company had (i) thveepdo direct those matters that most significairtipacted the activities of the VIE and
(i) the obligation to absorb losses or the rightéceive benefits of the VIE that could potenyidle significant. Refer to Note 19, "New
Markets Tax Credit Transaction" of these consoéiddtnancial statements for a description of twé&'glincluded in the Company's
consolidated financial statements.

Management's Use of Estima

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally apted in the U.S. ("GAAP") requires
management to make certain estimates and assumhiainaffect the reported amounts of assets abilities and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities as of the date of the financial staternseand reported amounts of revenues and expenseg the reported period. Significant
estimates, among others, include revenue recognfiidure tax rates, inventory reserves, warraeggrves, stock option fair values and
allowance for doubtful accounts. Although these

53




Table of Contents

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

estimates are based upon management's best knendédgrrent events and actions that the Comparyundertake in the future, actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Invessment

Cash and cash equivalents typically compash balances and readily marketable investmeéttit®riginal maturities of three months or
less, such as money market funds, short-term govemhbonds, Treasury bills, marketable securitres@mmercial paper. Marketable
investments with original maturities between thaed twelve months are recorded as short-term imegs. The Company's treasury policy is
to invest excess cash in money market funds or atkkestments, which are generally of a short-tduration based upon operating
requirements. Income earned on these investmerdgsasded to interest income in the Company's dafeted statements of operations. As of
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, cashashdequivalents totaled $24,936 and $516, respdgtiand short-term investments
totaled $1,143 and $0, respectively. For the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, interemnia was $8, $5 and $28, respectively.

Restricted Cas

Restricted cash balances relate primagilgrovisions contained in certain vendor agreemdrte Company anticipates that all restricted
cash balances will be used for current purposesfAecember 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company hadctes cash in the amounts of $83 anc
$330, respectively.

Revenue Recognitic

The Company recognizes revenue when th@regy process is complete and when persuasivermadsf an arrangement exists, transfer
of title has occurred or services have been reddéne selling price is fixed or determinable, eothbility is reasonably assured and delivery
has occurred per the terms of the contract. Custdeygosits, deferred revenue and other receiptdedezred and recognized when the revenu
is realized and earned.

In some instances, typically within the Gmany's Towers and Weldments segment, productoldeisder terms included in bill and hold
sales arrangements that result in different tiniargevenue recognition. The Company recognizesnmeg under these arrangements only v
the buyer requests the arrangement, a fixed schédublelivery exists, the ordered goods are sedeelgfrom inventory and not available to fill
other orders and the goods are complete and readhipment. Assuming these required revenue retiogrriteria are met, revenue is
recognized upon completion of product manufactumek @stomer acceptance.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales represents all direct anitéticosts associated with the production of potslor sale to customers. These costs include
operation, repair and maintenance of equipmenteriads, direct and indirect labor and benefit casisurance, equipment rentals, freight in
and depreciation.

54




Table of Contents

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Freight out to customers is at times classified aslling expense and is then excluded from costlefs. For the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, freight out included in sglligeneral and administrative expenses was $@&r#D$303 respectively.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expsriselude all corporate and administrative functisnch as legal, human resource managemel
finance, investor and public relations, informatienhnology and senior management. These funcsieng to support the Company's current
and future operations and provide an infrastructoirgupport future growth. Major expense itemshis tategory include management and staf
wages and benefits, share-based compensation afedgional services.

Accounts Receivab

The Company generally grants uncollategealizredit to customers on an individual basis baget the customer's financial condition
credit history. Credit is typically on net 3y terms and customer deposits are frequentlyinetjat various stages of the production proce
minimize credit risk.

Historically, the Company's accounts reablg ("A/R") are highly concentrated with a seleaginber of customers. During the year endec
December 31, 2013, the Company's five largest ouste accounted for 83% of its consolidated reveaneds63% of outstanding A/R balanc
compared to the year ended December 31, 2012 vlee@dmpany's five largest customers accounted7® 6f its consolidated revenues and
41% of its outstanding A/R balances.

Allowance for Doubtful Accoun

Based upon past experience and judgmenCtmpany establishes an allowance for doubtfud@aus with respect to A/R. The
Company's standard allowance estimation methodatoggiders a number of factors that, based oroltsations experience, the Company
believes will have an impact on its credit risk diné realizability of its A/R. These factors inctuimhdividual customer circumstances, history
with the Company and other relevant criteria. A#abces that remain outstanding after the Compasyekhausted reasonable collection
efforts are written off through a charge to theuadibn allowance and a credit to A/R.

The Company monitors its collections andeaoff experience to assess whether or not adjgistento its allowance estimates are
necessary. Changes in trends in any of the fatttatshe Company believes may impact the realizglf its A/R, as noted above, or
modifications to the Company's credit standardiection practices and other related policies mmagact its allowance for doubtful accounts
and its financial results. Bad debt expense foytters ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 10&s $136 and $1,036, respectively.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cosharket. Cost is determined either based offirstein, first-out ("FIFO") method, or on a
standard cost basis that approximates the FIFOadeMarket is determined based on net realizallgev#\ny excess of cost over market
value is included in the Company's inventory alloe& Market value of inventory, and managemendgrent of the need for reserves,
encompasses consideration of other business fantdusling physical condition, inventory holdingrpmsl, contract terms and usefulness.

Inventories consist of raw materials, woriprocess and finished goods. Raw materials coasisomponents and parts for general
production use. Work-in-process consists of lalmal @verhead, processing costs, purchased subcomigared materials purchased for
specific customer orders. Finished goods consisbofponents purchased from third parties as watbagponents manufactured by the
Company that will be used to produce final custopreducts.

Property and Equipmel

Property and equipment are stated at egstdccumulated depreciation and amortization. daégtion and amortization of property and
equipment is recognized using the straight-linehoétover the estimated useful lives of the relatsskts for financial reporting purposes, and
generally an accelerated method for income taxrtegppurposes. Depreciation expense and amouizaélated to property and equipment
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 204 $12a410, $13,919 and $13,675, respectively. Eipees for additions and
improvements are capitalized, while replacemengsntanance and repairs that do not improve or extiea useful lives of the respective as
are expensed as incurred. The Company has in gieggitalized interest costs incurred on indelgsdused to construct property and
equipment. Capitalized interest is recorded asqfdtte asset to which it relates and is amortiregt the asset's estimated useful life. There
was no interest cost capitalized during the yeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 or 2011. Propertguipment sold or disposed of is removed
from the respective property accounts, with anyespgonding gains and losses recorded to other ia@raxpense in the Company's
consolidated statement of operations.

Property and equipment and other long-liasskts are reviewed for impairment whenever everdscumstances indicate that carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. If such eventhamges in circumstances occur, the Company witlgeize an impairment loss if the
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be géeeiby the assets are less than the carrying véline related asset. The impairment loss
would adjust the asset to its fair value.

In evaluating the recoverability of longdd assets, the Company must make assumptionslieg@&stimated future cash flows and other
factors to determine the fair value of such assetlke Company's fair value estimates or relashienptions change in the future, the Comg
may be required to record impairment charges reletgroperty and equipment and other long-livesktss Asset recoverability is first
measured by comparing the assets' carrying ameatitieir expected future undiscounted net cashdltmndetermine if the assets are impairec
If such assets are considered to be impairedptpairment recognized is measured based on the darhguvhich the carrying amount
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

of the assets exceeds the fair value. To the ettterfirojections used in its analysis are not agtiethere may be a negative effect on the
valuation of these assets.

Intangible Asset

The Company reviews intangible assetsnfgrairment whenever events or circumstances indtbatecarrying amounts may not be
recoverable. If such events or changes in circumssgoccur an impairment loss is recognized itti#iscounted future cash flows expecte
be generated by the assets are less than thentpuglue of the related asset. The impairmentwasdd adjust the asset to its fair value.

In evaluating the recoverability of defetiived intangible assets, the Company must magenagtions regarding estimated future cash
flows and other factors to determine the fair valfisuch assets. If fair value estimates or relasstimptions change in the future, the
Company may be required to record impairment clsargkated to intangible assets. Asset recovenplislitirst measured by comparing the
assets' carrying amounts to their expected futndésaounted net cash flows to determine if thetasse impaired. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment recoghizeneasured based on the amount by which thgiecgramount of the assets exceeds the
fair value. To the extent the projections useddranalysis are not achieved, there may be a megeffiect on the valuation of these assets.

Warranty Liability

The Company provides warranty terms thaegaly range from one to five years for variousducts and services relating to
workmanship and materials supplied by the Compbmgertain contracts, the Company has recoursegioms for items that would enable the
Company to pursue recovery from third parties faoants paid to customers under warranty provisidferanty liability is recorded in
accrued liabilities within the consolidated balasbeet. The changes in the carrying amount of tmapgainy's total product warranty liability
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 antl @efe as follows:

As of December 31

2013 2012 2011
Balance, beginning of ye: $ 707 $ 98: $ 1,071
Warranty expens (189) 52 21C
Warranty claims (67) (19%) (29¢)
Other adjustment (133 —
Balance, end of ye: $ 457 $ 707 $ 98:
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Income Taxe

The Company accounts for income taxes baped an asset and liability approach. Deferrechtemets and liabilities represent the future
tax consequences of the differences between thadial statement carrying amounts of assets ahilitiies versus the tax basis of assets and
liabilities. Under this method, deferred tax assetsrecognized for deductible temporary differsnesd operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax liabilities are recagaul for taxable temporary differences. Deferredassets are reduced by a valuation allow.
when, in the opinion of management, it is moreljikban not that some portion or all of the defdrtax assets will not be realized. The impac
of tax rate changes on deferred tax assets arititiesbis recognized in the year that the charggenacted.

In connection with the preparation of itmsolidated financial statements, the Companydgaired to estimate its income tax liability for
each of the tax jurisdictions in which the Compapgrates. This process involves estimating the @Goiylp actual current income tax expense
and assessing temporary differences resulting tifi@ring treatment of certain income or expenseni for income tax reporting and financial
reporting purposes. The Company also recognizdsfasred income tax assets the expected futureniadax benefits of net operating loss
("NOL") carryforwards. In evaluating the realizatyilof deferred income tax assets associated width Marryforwards, the Company
considers, among other things, expected futurebtaxacome, the expected timing of the reversalsxidting temporary reporting differences
and the expected impact of tax planning stratethi@smay be implemented to prevent the potentis ff future income tax benefits. Changes
in, among other things, income tax legislationtugtay income tax rates or future taxable inconvele could materially impact the Company's
valuation of income tax assets and liabilities aadld cause its income tax provision to vary sigaifitly among financial reporting periods.

The Company also accounts for the uncextamincome taxes related to the recognition amdsurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in an income tax return. Tdragainy follows the applicable pronouncement guidastderecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim psjaisclosure and transition related to the uagdst in these income tax positions.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company grants incentive stock optimd restricted stock units to certain officersediors, and employees. The Company accoun
for share-based compensation related to these awas®d on the estimated fair value of the equitré and recognizes expense ratably ovet
the vesting term of the award. See Note 16 "Shase®8 Compensation” of these consolidated finastagéments for further discussion of the
Company's share-based compensation plans, theeradtahare-based awards issued and the Compangsraing for share-based
compensation.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Net Loss Per Shai

The Company presents both basic and diluétdoss per share. Basic net loss per sharesedisolely upon the weighted average numbe
of common shares outstanding and excludes anywdileffects of options, warrants and convertibleusiies. Diluted net loss per share is
based upon the weighted average number of comnarshnd common-share equivalents outstandinggitirenyear excluding those
common-share equivalents where the impact to megitoss per share would be anti-dilutive.

2. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table presents a reconcitiatof basic and diluted earnings per share foyéazas ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 20
as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Basic earnings per share calculation
Net loss to common stockholde $ (10,499 $ (17,907 $ (21,949
Weighted average common shares

outstanding 14,457 14,05¢ 11,617
Basic net loss per sha $ 079 % @12n % (189
Diluted earnings per share calculation:
Net loss to common stockholde $ (10,499 $ (17,907 $ (21,949

Weighted average common shares

outstanding 14,457 14,05¢ 11,617
Common stock equivalent

Stock options and non-vested stock

awards(1 — — —
Weighted average common shares

outstanding 14,457 14,05¢ 11,617

Diluted net loss per sha $ (079 % (@2) 9% (1.89

(1) Stock options and restricted stock units grdraind outstanding of 878,113, 1,048,117 and 4S233mf
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectivelyexaieided from the computation of diluted earnidge to the
ant-dilutive effect as a result of the Company's nes lfior these respective yee

3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In December 2010, the Company's Board ofdrs (the "Board") approved a plan to divestGoenpany's wholly-owned subsidiary
Badger Transport, Inc. ("Badger"), which formerbntprised the Company's Logistics segment. In Madi, the Company completed the
sale of Badger to BTI Logistics, LLC. As a componehthe proceeds from the sale, the Company redeiv$1,500 secured promissory note
payable from the purchaser. During the first quasfe2013, the Company recorded a $210 discontirpedations charge to adjust the net
balance of the Company's note receivable down
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3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

to the $150 estimated value of the Company's sgdnterest. During the third quarter of 2013, @@mpany received a payment under the
in excess of the $150 net receivable recordedrecatded a discontinued operations gain of $1Geftect the additional amount received.
There is a balance of $860 outstanding on the nemteivable, all of which is considered past dueaAssult of the uncertainty related to any
future expected payments from the purchaser, theewas fully reserved for at December 31, 2013.

Results of operations associated with Badgkich are reflected as discontinued operatiartté Company's consolidated statements of
income for the twelve months ended December 31328012 and 2011, were as follows:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Revenue: $ — $ — $§ 43t
Loss before provision (benefit) for income ta (110 — (1,20%)
Income tax provision (benefi — — 1
Loss from discontinued operatio $ (110 $ — $ (1,200

4. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Company reviews new accounting stargdasdssued. Although some of the accounting stdedssued or effective in the current
fiscal year may be applicable to it, the Companielses that none of the new standards have a g&gnifimpact on its condensed consolidate
financial statements.

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTM ENTS

The components of cash and cash equivaerdshorterm investments as of December 31, 2013 and Deme8ih 2012 are summariz
as follows:

As of
December 31,
2013 2012
Cash and cash equivaler
Cash $ 12,02: $ 464
Money market fund 7,42: 52
Municipal bonds 5,492 —
Total cash and cash equivale 24,93t 51€
Shor-term investments (availal-for-sale):
Municipal bonds 1,14 —
Total cash and cash equivalents and -term investment 26,07¢ 51€
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6. ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The activity in the A/R allowance from optons for the years ended December 31, 2013, 88d2011 consists of the following:

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of ye $ 45 $ 43t $  48¢
Bad debt expens 107 13¢€ 1,03¢
Write-offs (549 (221) (1,087%)
Other adjustment — — —
Balance at end of ye $ 17 $ 45z $ 43¢

7. INVENTORIES
The components of inventories from operatias of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are summarizédiows:

As of December 31

2013 2012
Raw material $ 21,85¢ $ 5,961
Work-in-process 11,21 12,15(
Finished good 6,381 4,64¢

39,45: 22,76(
Less: Inventory Resen (2,309 (772)
Net inventories $ 37,141 $ 21,98¢

8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
The cost basis and estimated lives of ptg@and equipment from continuing operations aBetember 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows

As of December 31

2013 2012 Life
Land $ 183 $ 2,35
Buildings 21,21¢ 23,54 39 years
Machinery and equipme 100,71« 104,36! 2-10 years
Office furniture and equipmel 3,19¢ 2,56t 3-7 years
Leasehold improvemen 4,54( 4,47C Asset life or life of leas
Construction in progres 8,49t 5,79¢

139,99¢ 143,08

Less-accumulated depreciation and
amortizatior (70,927) (63,200
$ 69,077 $ 79,88¢
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During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Camyp continued to experience triggering events aatmtwith the Gearing and Services
segments' current period operating losses combifthdheir history of continued operating losses. &result, the Company evaluated the
recoverability of certain of its long-lived assassociated with the Gearing and Services segnigased upon the Company's assessment, the
recoverable amount of undiscounted cash flows baped the Company's most recent projections sutisiigrexceeded the carrying amount
of invested capital for the Gearing and Servicggrsmts respectively, and no impairment to thesetaisgs indicated as of December 31,
2013.

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the lsasis, accumulated amortization and net book vadlirgtangible assets were as follows:

December 31, 201. December 31, 201;
Weighted Weighted
Net Average Net Average
Accumulated Book  Amortization Accumulated Book  Amortization
Cost Amortization Value Period Cost Amortization Value Period
Intangible
assets
Customer
relationsh $ 3,97¢ $§ (3,599 $ 384 7.2$ 397¢$ (2,444 $1,53¢ 7.2
Trade
names 7,99¢ (2,48() 5,51¢ 20.C 7,99¢ (2,08() 5,91¢ 20.C
Intangible
assett $11,97¢ $ (6,075 $5,90¢ 15.€ $11,97¢ $ (4,524 $7,45¢ 15.€

During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Camp continued to experience a triggering event@atad with the Gearing segment's current
period operating loss combined with its historycoftinued operating losses. As a result, the Compaaluated the recoverability of certain of
its intangible assets associated with the Geaeggent. Based upon the Company's assessmentctherable amount was substantially in
excess of the carrying amount of the invested ah@hd no impairment to these assets was indigeted December 31, 2013.

Intangible assets are amortized on a $trdige basis over their estimated useful livesiollrange from 10 to 20 years. Amortization
expense was $1,552, $1,759 and $859 for the yedeiedDecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectikslpf December 31, 2013, estime
future amortization expense is as follows:

2014 $ 444
2015 444
2016 444
2017 444
2018 444
2019 and thereaftt 3,68:¢
Total $ 5,90
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10. ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2@h8l 2012 consisted of the following:

December 31

2013 2012
Accrued payroll and benefi $ 514¢ $ 2,91
Accrued property taxe 14z 367
Income taxes payab 49¢ 44%
Accrued professional fet 36 52€
Accrued warranty liability 457 707
Accrued environmental reser 50C 352
Accrued selinsurance resery 803 —
Accrued othe 53¢ 704
Total accrued liabilitie: $ 8,11t $ 6,017

11. DEBT AND CREDIT AGREEMENTS
The Company's outstanding debt balance$ Becember 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of theviatg:

December 31

2013 2012
Line of credit — 95t
Term loans and notes paya 2,95¢ 3,30¢
Les<—Current portior (207) (1,307)
Long-term debt, net of current maturiti $ 2,758 $ 2,95¢

As of December 31, 2013, future annualgipal payments on the Company's outstanding ddlgaiions were as follows:

2014 $ 201
2015 15C
2016 5
2017 —
2018 2,60(
2019 and thereafte —
Total $ 2,95¢
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11. DEBT AND CREDIT AGREEMENTS (Continued)
Credit Facilities
AloStar Credit Facility

On August 23, 2012, the Company and itssilidries entered into a Loan and Security Agreerttee "Loan Agreement”) with AloStar
Bank of Commerce ("AloStar"), providing the Compamd its wholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Subsidigf) with a new $20,000 secured
credit facility (the "Credit Facility"). The Crediacility is a secured three-year asset-basedvienptredit facility, pursuant to which AloStar
will advance funds when requested against a bongWwase consisting of approximately 85% of the fadae of eligible A/R of the Company
and the Subsidiaries and approximately 50% of tieklvalue of eligible inventory of the Company dhd Subsidiaries. Borrowings under the
Credit Facility bear interest at a per annum ratgakto the onenonth London Interbank Offered Rate plus a mar@ih.25%, with a minimun
interest rate of 5.25% per annum. The Company adestpay an unused facility fee to AloStar equd).&0% per annum on the unused por
of the Credit Facility along with other standarégeThe initial term of the Loan Agreement end®\agust 23, 2015.

The Loan Agreement contains customary ssprtions and warranties applicable to the Compadythe Subsidiaries. It also contains a
requirement that the Company, on a consolidateid b@asintain a minimum monthly fixed charge coveraatio and minimum monthly
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, eration, restructuring and share-based paymenamj@sted EBITDA"), along with other
customary restrictive covenants, certain of whighsubject to materiality thresholds, baskets arsiotnary exceptions and qualifications.
During the third quarter of 2013, the Loan Agreetneas amended to: (i) redefine certain exclusionthé fixed charge coverage ratio;

(ii) exclude the periodic non-cash portion of tiiwieonmental regulatory settlement charge fromAkgisted EBITDA calculation and
(iii) increase the capital expenditure limit for13)

The obligations under the Loan Agreemeatsacured by, subject to certain exclusions, fiijsapriority security interest in all of the A/R,
inventory, chattel paper, payment intangibles, aaghcash equivalents and other working capitatassd stock or other equity interests in
the Subsidiaries and (ii) a first priority securitiyerest in all of the equipment of the Compamywlly-owned subsidiary, Brad Foote Gear
Works, Inc. ("Brad Foote").

As of December 31, 2013, there was no antkhg indebtedness under the Credit Facility. Chmpany had the ability to borrow up to
$15,807 as of December 31, 2013, and the per ammenest rate would have been 5.25%. The Comparyinveompliance with all applicable
covenants under the Loan Agreement as of Decenih&(3.3.

Great Western Bank Loans

On April 28, 2009, the Company's wholly-@drsubsidiary, Broadwind Towers, Inc. ("Broadwinonvers") entered into a Construction
Loan Agreement with Great Western Bank ("GWB"),quant to which GWB agreed to provide up to $10,00thancing (the "GWB
Construction Loan") to fund construction of its @itower manufacturing facility in Brandon, Southkota (the "Brandon Facility"). Pursuant
to a Change in Terms Agreement dated April 5, 288tveen GWB and
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11. DEBT AND CREDIT AGREEMENTS (Continued)

Broadwind Towers, the GWB Construction Loan wasveoted to a term loan (the "GWB Term Loan") proxglfor monthly payments of
principal plus interest, extending the maturityedit November 5, 2016, reducing the principal anh¢ém$6,500, and changing the per annum
interest rate to 8.5%.

The GWB Term Loan was secured by a firsttgage on the Brandon Facility and all fixtures @noiceeds relating thereto, pursuant to a
Mortgage and a Commercial Security Agreement, éatlveen Broadwind Towers and GWB, and by a Comrmak@iaranty from the
Company. In addition, the Company agreed to subatdiall intercompany debt with Broadwind Towersh® GWB Term Loan. The
documents evidencing and securing the GWB Term looatained representations, warranties and coverastomary for a term financing
arrangement and contained no financial covenatis.Brandon Facility was sold in April 2013 and @¥/B Term Loan was repaid in its
entirety with a portion of the proceeds.

Other

Included in Long Term Debt, Net of Curréfdturities is $2,600 associated with the New MasKesx Credit transaction described furthel
in Note 19, "New Markets Tax Credit Transaction'tltése condensed consolidated financial statem&dtstionally, the Company has
approximately $350 of other term loans outstanding.

12. LEASES

The Company leases various property angpemnt under operating lease arrangements. Leass tgenerally range from 3 to 15 years
with renewal options for extended terms. Certaisés contain rent escalation clauses that reggdlianal rental payments in the later years
of the term. Rent expense for these types of ldasesognized on a straight-line basis over theimmim lease term. Any lease concessions
received by the Company are deferred and recogrigeah adjustment to rent expense ratably oventhiemum lease term. The Company is
required to make additional payments under cepeaperty leases for taxes, insurance and othemtipgrexpenses incurred during the
operating lease period. Rental expense for thesymaied December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $%2,824 and $4,779, respectively. In
addition, the Company has entered into capitakl@asangements to finance property and equipmehiasumed capital lease obligations in
connection with certain acquisitions. During 20f4@ny of the Company's capital leases expired, tieguh a reduced number of assets sut
to capital leases. The cost basis and accumulaediation of assets recorded under capital leadesh are included in property and
equipment, are as follows as of December 31, 20832812:

December 31

2013 2012
Cost $ 289 $ 7,681
Accumulated depreciatic (577) (2,086€)
Net book value $ 2321 $ 559
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12. LEASES (Continued)

Depreciation expense recorded in conneatitim assets recorded under capital leases was $88Y and $620 for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

As of December 31, 2013, future minimunrsiepayments under capital leases and operatingsieas as follows:

Capital Operating

Leases Leases Total

2014 $ 1,021 $ 3,167 $ 4,18¢
2015 80¢€ 2,55k 3,361
2016 43k 2,53 2,972
2017 — 2,44( 2,44(
2018 — 2,39 2,39
2019 and thereafte — 17,31 17,31
Total 2,26z $ 30,41! $ 32,67t
Less—portion representing interest at a

weighted average annual rate of 5. (13€)
Principal 2,12¢
Less<—current portior (933
Capital lease obligations, noncurrent pori $ 1,19:

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal Proceeding

From time to time, the Company is subjedegal proceedings or claims arising from its nalgourse of operations. The Company
accrues for costs related to loss contingenciesisheh costs are probable and reasonably estintatiept as otherwise noted, as of
December 31, 2013, the Company is not aware ofvaatgrial pending legal proceedings or threatertggation that would have a material
adverse effect on the Company's financial conditioresults of operations, although no assuranadeayiven with respect to the ultimate
outcome of pending actions. Refer to Note 22, "L&gaceedings" of these consolidated financiakstents for further discussion of legal
proceedings.

Environmental Compliance and Remediation Liab#i

The Company's operations and productsiudrjest to a variety of environmental laws and ratjahs in the jurisdictions in which the
Company operates and sells products governing, gmtbrer things, air emissions, wastewater disclsattpe use, handling and disposal of
hazardous materials, soil and groundwater contadinmaemployee health and safety, and product conperformance and packaging. Also,
certain environmental laws can impose the entig¢ opa portion of the cost of investigating anehacling up a contaminated site, regardless o
fault, upon any one or more of a number of partreduding the current or previous owners or opgaabf the site. These
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13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

environmental laws also impose liability on anygmer who arranges for the disposal or treatmenapéitdous substances at a contaminated
site. Third parties may also make claims againsteya/ or operators of sites and users of dispoeas fir personal injuries and property dan
associated with releases of hazardous substarmadtiose sites. Refer to Note 22, "Legal Proceedinfthese consolidated financial
statements for further discussion of environmecdahpliance and remediation liabilities.

In connection with the Company's ongoirgfnecturing initiatives, during the third quartéra®12, the Company identified a $352 liabi
associated with the planned sale of one of the Goiylp gearing facilities located in Cicero, lllindthe "Cicero Avenue Facility"). The liabil
is associated with environmental remediation ctigtswere identified while preparing the site fates During 2013, the Company applied and
was accepted into the lllinois Environmental PritecAgency voluntary site remediation program. Twmpany intends to submit its
environmental sampling data, as well as its remedigectives plan, during the first quarter of 20The Company reevaluated its reserve
balance in the fourth quarter of 2013 based omahelts of additional site sampling that was comeldiin 2013. As a result, the Company
recorded an additional $258 charge during fourtdregn of 2013. The Company will continue to reeasduts reserve balance associated with
this matter as it gathers additional informatios.@ December 31, 2013, the accrual balance renwigi$500.

Collateral

In select instances, the Company has ptedpgecific inventory and machinery and equipmesétssto serve as collateral on related
payable or financing obligations.

Warranty Liability

The Company provides warranty terms thaegaly range from one to five years for variousducts and services relating to
workmanship and materials supplied by the Compbmgertain contracts, the Company has recoursegioms for items that would enable the
Company to pursue recovery from third parties fopants paid to customers under warranty provisions.

Liguidated Damage

In certain customer contracts, the Comgeas/agreed to pay liquidated damages in the eveptadifying delivery or production delays.
These damages are typically limited to a speciicentage of the value of the product in questmmhdependent on actual losses sustained b
the customer. The Company does not believe thantiat exposure for such damages will have a nadtadverse effect on the Company's
consolidated financial position or results of opierss. There was no reserve for liquidated damages December 31, 2013.

Workers' Compensation Reserves

At the beginning of the third quarter ofl3)the Company began to self-insure for its wakesmpensation liabilities, including reserves
for self-retained losses. Historical loss expergeaambined with actuarial evaluation methods aedahplication of risk transfer programs are
used to determine
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13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

required workers' compensation reserves. The Coyniadees into account claims incurred but not regmbihen determining its workers'
compensation reserves. Although the ultimate outcofithese matters may exceed the amounts recardkddditional losses may be incur
the Company does not believe that any additiontdrg@l exposure for such liabilities will have atarial adverse effect on the Company's
consolidated financial position or results of operss. As of December 31, 2013, the Company ha8 $80rued for self-insured workers'
compensation claims.

Other

As of December 31, 2013, approximately I%he Company's employees were covered by twecte bargaining agreements with
local unions in Cicero, lllinois and Neville Islanélennsylvania. The collective bargaining agreemattit the Neville Island union is expected
to remain in effect through October 2017. The abile bargaining agreement with the Cicero uniopied in February 2014; the parties are
currently negotiating a new collective bargainiggement.

On July 20, 2011, the Company executedagegfic financing transaction (the "NMTC Transact)janvolving the following third parties:
AMCREF Fund VII, LLC ("AMCREF"), a registered commity development entity; COCRF Investor VIII, LLOGQOCRF"); and Capital On
National Association ("Capital One"). The NMTC Tsawtion allows the Company to receive below marketest rate funds through t
federal New Markets Tax Credit ("NMTC") programgdeote 19, "New Markets Tax Credit Transactionthafse consolidated financial
statements. Pursuant to the NMTC Transaction, thesgoan and investment in the Gearbox Facilit$1df,000 will generate $3,900 in tax
credits over a period of seven years, which the M Tansaction makes available to Capital One. Téarox Facility must operate and be in
compliance with the terms and conditions of the NBMTransaction during the seven year complianceogedr the Company may be liable for
the recapture of $3,900 in tax credits to whichi@®ne is otherwise entitled. The Company dodsanticipate any credit recaptures will be
required in connection with the NMTC Transaction.

14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company measures its financial assetdiabilities at fair value. Fair value is definad the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.e., exicp) in an orderly transaction between marketigigants at the measurement date. Additionally,
the Company is required to provide disclosure atdgorize assets and liabilities measured at &irevinto one of three different levels
depending on the assumptions (i.e., inputs) usétkeivaluation. Level 1 provides the most reliabkasure of fair value while Level 3
generally requires significant management judgnieintncial assets and liabilities are classifiethiir entirety based on the lowest level of
input significant to the fair value measurementaficial instruments are assessed quarterly tordigtethe appropriate classification within
fair value hierarchy. Transfers between fair vallassifications are made based upon the naturéyaedf the observable inputs. The fair v:
hierarchy is defined as follows:

Level 1—Valuations are based on unadjugtexted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.
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14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Level 2—Valuations are based on quotedegrior similar assets or liabilities in active metgk or quoted prices in markets that are not
active for which significant inputs are observalgi#her directly or indirectly. For the Company'smicipal bonds and money market funds,
although quoted prices are available and usedli®\said assets, they are traded less frequently.

Level 3—Valuations are based on pricesatnation techniques that require inputs that ath boobservable and significant to the overal
fair value measurement. Inputs reflect managembassestimate of what market participants woukdins/aluing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. The Company used market negosidt value its Gearing assets. The Company es¢estate appraisals to value its
Clintonville, Wisconsin facility (the "Clintonvillé-acility").

The following table represents Companysetssmeasured at fair values as of December 3B, &@d 2012:

December 31, 201

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets measured on arecurring basis:

Municipal bonds and money market fur $ — $ 14058 $ — $ 14,05¢
Assets measured on a nonrecurring basis:

Gearing equipmer — — 1,14¢ 1,14¢

Clintonville, WI facility — — 821 821

Gearing Cicero Ave. facilit — — 56( 56(

Total assets at fair valt $ — $ 14,05¢ $ 2,53 $ 16,58t¢

December 31, 201,

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets measured on arecurring basis:
Money market fund $ — $ 52 % — $ 52
Total assets at fair valt $ — $ 52 % — $ 52

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company's famarinstruments, which include cash and cash edents, restricted cash, short-term
investments, accounts receivable, accounts pagadleustomer deposits, approximate their respefaivealues due to the relatively short-
term nature of these instruments. Based upon sitemges currently available to the Company fortdéth similar terms, the carrying value of
the Company's long-term debt is approximately etk fair value.
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14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
Assets measured at fair value on a nonrecurring b&s

The fair value measurement approach fogHored assets utilizes a number of significanthservable inputs or Level 3 assumptions.
These assumptions include, among others, projectbthe Company's future operating results, thaied fair value of these assets using an
income approach by preparing a discounted cashdlmalysis and a market-based approach based @othpany's market capitalization, and
other subjective assumptions. To the extent prgjestused in the Company's evaluations are noeaeli there may be a negative effect ol
valuation of these assets.

Due to the Company's operating lossescdh e&the quarters of 2013 combined with its higtoir continued operating losses, the
Company continues to evaluate the recoverabilityesfain of its identifiable intangible assets aedain property and equipment assets. Base
upon the Company's December 31, 2013 assessmemngdbverable amount of undiscounted cash flowsdapon the Company's most recen
projections substantially exceeded the carryingwarhof invested capital for the Gearing and Sew/gegments, respectively, and no
impairment to these assets was indicated.

During the first half of 2013, the Compangk a $288 charge to adjust the carrying valugefClintonville Facility assets to fair value,
and reclassified the resulting carrying value fiomperty and equipment to Assets Held for Sales THeéiatment was due to the decision to list
the Clintonville Facility for sale as a result ohnagement's determination that the Clintonvilleilfgavas no longer required in the Compar
operations. The Company also took a $345 chargédjtest the carrying value of certain Gearing eq@iphio fair value, and reclassified the
resulting carrying value to Assets Held for Sal@assult of a decision to sell this equipment. iliddally, during the fourth quarter of 2013,
the Company recorded a $1,732 charge to adjustaitging value of the Cicero Avenue Facility's laardl building down to fair value. This
treatment was in response to the Cicero Avenudifydoecoming predominately offline in conjunctianith the Company's plant consolidation
initiative. As the Cicero Avenue Facility is notrinediately available for sale, it has not been diaslsas Assets Held for Sale. The three
aforementioned impairment charges were record&katucturing expenses within the Statement of &jmers.
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15. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes for the weanded December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 consists fwllowing:

For the Years Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Current provisior
Federal $ — $ — $ —
Foreign — — 5
State 72 26 63
Total current (benefit) provisic 72 26 68
Deferred credi
Federal (2,849 (5,882) (9,149
State (585) (386€) (1,227)
Total deferred cred (3,429 (6,26¢) (10,377
Increase in deferred tax valuation allowa 3,42¢ 6,26¢ 10,37
Total provision (benefit) for income tax $ 72 % 26 9 68

The increase in the deferred tax valuatitmwance was $3,429, $6,268 and $10,371 for thesyended December 31, 2013, 2012 and

2011, respectively. The changes in the deferreddéation allowances in 2013, 2012 and 2011 weraarily the result of increases to the
deferred tax assets pertaining to additional fdderd state NOL's.
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The tax effects of the temporary differenaad NOL's that give rise to significant portiaigleferred tax assets and liabilities are as
follows:

As of December 31

2013 2012
Current deferred income tax asst

Accrual and reserve $ 5231 $ 4,601
Total current deferred tax ass 5,231 4,601
Valuation allowanct (5,23)) (4,607)
Current deferred tax assets, net of valuation e — —
Noncurrent deferred income tax ass

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 66,90F $ 61,27¢

Intangible assel 30,44¢ 33,51°

Other 182 16¢€
Total noncurrent deferred tax ass 97,53: 94,95¢
Valuation allowanct (95,559  (92,760)
Noncurrent deferred tax assets, net of valuatimwalnce 1,97: 2,19¢
Noncurrent deferred income tax liabilitie

Fixed asset $ (1,979 $ (2,199

Intangible assel — —
Total noncurrent deferred tax liabiliti (1,979 (2,199
Net deferred income tax liabilit $ — $ —

Valuation allowances of $100,790 and $97 8&ve been provided for deferred income tax assetshich realization is uncertain as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. A rediation of the beginning and ending amounts ofitakiation is as follows:

Valuation allowance as of December 31, 2 $ (97,36)
Gross increase for current year acti (3,429
Valuation allowance as of December 31, 2 $ (100,790

As of December 31, 2013, the Company hddrid NOL carryforwards of approximately $167,22pigng in various years through
2033. The majority of the NOL carryforwards willgse in various years from 2028 through 2033.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company hagpartioned state NOL's in the aggregate of appratély $167,229, expiring in various
years from 2021 through 2033, based upon various dEdryforward periods as designated by the diffetaxing jurisdictions

72




Table of Contents

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
15. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The reconciliation between the statutor$.UJederal income tax rate and the Company's @feegicome tax rate is as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Statutory U.S. federal income tax ri 34.(% 34.(% 35.(%
State and local income taxes, net of federal incon

tax benefil 3.4 1.3 5.C
Permanent difference (6.0 1.3 (1.5
Change in valuation allowan: (319 (34.)) (38.9)
Change in uncertain tax positic (0.3 (0.2 (0.2)
Other 0.1 0.1 —
Effective income tax rat (0.7% (0.)% (0.9%

The Company accounts for the uncertainipéome taxes by prescribing a minimum recognittmeshold for a tax position taken, or
expected to be taken, in a tax return that is reduio be met before being recognized in the firsstatements. The changes in the Company
uncertain income tax positions for the years eridecember 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of the fotigwi

For the Year

Ended
December 31
2013 2012

Beginning balanc $ 28¢ $ 28¢
Tax positions related to current ye

Additions — —

Reductions — —
Tax positions related to prior yea

Additions — —

Reductions — —

Settlement: — —

Lapses in statutes of limitatio — —

Additions from current year acquisitio — —
Ending balanc: $ 28€ $ 28¢

The amount of unrecognized tax benefiBetember 31, 2013 that would affect the effectarertite if the tax benefits were recognized
was $326.
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It is the Company's policy to include imtstrand penalties in tax expense. During the yeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012, the
Company recognized and accrued approximately $d1$3i, respectively, of interest and penalties.

The Company files income tax returns intth8. federal and state jurisdictions. As of Decenfil, 2013, open tax years in the federa
some state jurisdictions date back to 1996 dubedaxing authorities' ability to adjust NOL caogfards. The Company's 2008 and 2009
federal tax returns were examined in 2011 and nemahadjustments were identified related to ahthe Company's tax positions. Although
these periods have been audited, they continusntain open until all NOL's generated in those targ have either been utilized or expire.

It is reasonably possible that unrecognizedbenefits will decrease by up to approxima&dg as a result of the expiration of the
applicable statutes of limitations within the n&2tmonths. In addition, Section 382 of the InteifRalenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
"IRC"), generally imposes an annual limitation e amount of NOL carryforwards and associatedfmilbsses that may be used to offset
taxable income when a corporation has undergonaicathanges in stock ownership. The Company'#yhil utilize NOL carryforwards and
built-in losses may be limited, under this sectiorotherwise, by the Company's issuance of comrtak ©r by other changes in stock
ownership. Upon completion of the Company's anglg§iRC Section 382, the Company has determinatatgregate changes in stock
ownership have triggered an annual limitation onLN(@d built-in losses available for utilization. Tlee extent the Company's use of NOL
carryforwards and associated built-in losses isi@antly limited in the future due to additiongthanges in stock ownership, the Company's
income could be subject to U.S. corporate incomeéalier than it would if the Company were ablaisg@ NOL carryforwards and built-in
losses without such annual limitation, which cowddult in lower profits and the loss of benefitanfrthese attributes.

The Company announced on February 13, 2648jts Board had adopted a Stockholder Righaa Rhe "Rights Plan") designed to
preserve the Company's substantial tax assetsiatesbwith NOL carryforwards under IRC Section 38Be Rights Plan is intended to act as
deterrent to any person or group, together withffiiates and associates, being or becoming #resficial owner of 4.9% or more of the
Company's common stock and thereby triggering théadimitation of the Company's available NOL gdorwards. In connection with the
adoption of the Rights Plan, the Board declaredrataxable dividend of one preferred share purchgbé (a "Right") for each outstanding
share of the Company's common stock to the Compatytkholders of record as of the close of businesFebruary 22, 2013. Each Right
entitles its holder to purchase from the Comparg-thhousandth of a share of the Company's SeriegJParticipating Preferred Stock at an
exercise price of $14.00 per Right, subject to stjient. As a result of the Rights Plan, any pemsagroup that acquires beneficial ownership
of 4.9% or more of the Company's common stock wittibe approval of the Company's Board would bgesmitbo significant dilution in the
ownership interest of that person or group. Stolddrs who owned 4.9% or more of the outstandingeshaf the Company's common stock as
of February 12, 2013 will not trigger the prefers¥thre purchase rights unless they acquire additghrares. The Rights Plan was subsequent
approved by the Company's stockholders at the Cop'@013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

74




Table of Contents

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
16. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Overview of Share-Based Compensation Plan
2007 Equity I ncentive Plan

The Company has granted incentive stocionptand other equity awards pursuant to the Ametadel Restated Broadwind Energy, Inc.
2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2007 EIP"), whighs approved by the Board in October 2007 and &thmpany's stockholders in June
2008. The 2007 EIP has been amended periodicalte sis original approval.

The 2007 EIP reserved 691,051 shares dftimpany's common stock for grants to officersctors, employees, consultants and
advisors upon whose efforts the success of the @oynand its affiliates depends to a large degreeofdDecember 31, 2013, the Company
reserved 90,788 shares for issuance upon the seartstock options outstanding and 81,167 sharassuance upon the vesting of restricted
stock unit ("RSU") awards outstanding. As of Decem®il, 2013, 208,745 shares of common stock reddéovestock options and RSU awards
under the 2007 EIP have been issued in the foroomimon stock.

2012 Equity I ncentive Plan

On March 8, 2012, the Board approved treaBwind Energy, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plare(tB012 EIP;" together with the 2007
EIP, the "Equity Incentive Plans"), and at the Camps Annual Meeting of Stockholders on May 4, 2@h2 Company's stockholders
approved the adoption of the 2012 EIP. The purpot#se 2012 EIP are (i) to align the interestshaf Company's stockholders and recipients
of awards under the 2012 EIP by increasing thertgpy interest of such recipients in the Compsugybwth and success; (i) to advance the
interests of the Company by attracting and retgiwifiicers, other employees, non-employee direc@osindependent contractors; and (iii) to
motivate such persons to act in the long-term inéstests of the Company and its stockholders. Utide2012 EIP, the Company may grant
(i) non-qualified stock options; (ii) "incentiveastk options" (within the meaning of IRC Section %J#i) stock appreciation rights;
(iv) restricted stock and RSU's; and (v) perforneawards.

The 2012 EIP reserves 1,200,000 shardsea€bmpany's common stock for grants to officergctbrs, employees, consultants and
advisors upon whose efforts the success of the @oynand its affiliates will depend to a large degis of December 31, 2013, the Company
had reserved 116,987 shares for issuance upoxéneise of stock options outstanding and 589,1ateshfor issuance upon the vesting of
RSU awards outstanding. As of December 31, 2018,114 shares of common stock reserved for stodkmgpand RSU awards under the
2012 EIP have been issued in the form of commarksto

Stock Options. The exercise price of stock options grantedeumite Equity Incentive Plans is equal to the dggirice of the Compan
common stock on the date of grant. Stock optiomegely become exercisable on the anniversaryefjtnt date, with vesting terms that n
range from one to five years from the date of grAdditionally, stock options expire ten years aftee date of grant. The fair value of stock
options granted is expensed ratably over theirinvgserm.
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Restricted Stock Units. The granting of RSU's is provided for under Bugiity Incentive Plans. RSU's generally vest anahniversary
of the grant date, with vesting terms that may eafngm one to five years from the date of granie Tdir value of each RSU granted is equal tc
the closing price of the Company's common stockherdate of grant and is generally expensed rataldy the vesting term of the RSU awe

Stock option activity during the years eshdxcember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 under the Etnggntive Plans was as follows:

Weighted Average Aggregate Intrinsic

Weighted Average Remaining Value
Options Exercise Price Contractual Term (in thousands)

Outstanding as of December

2010 91,71¢ $ 87.5(

Granted 44,72¢ 13.6(

Exercisec — —

Forfeited (6,357 99.6(

Cancellec (2,589 132.6(
Outstanding as of December

2011 127,50 $ 60.1(

Granted 164,99° 3.3¢

Exercisec — —

Forfeited (6,047) 89.61

Cancellec —
Outstanding as of December

2012 286,45! $ 26.8(

Granted —

Exercisec (5,400

Forfeited (59,247 12.81

Cancellec (14,039 103.4:
Outstanding as of December

2013 207,770 % 26.2:2 6.9z $ 707
Exercisable as of December

2013 101,33. $ 47.41 5.6¢ $ 17¢€

The following table summarizes informatioith respect to all outstanding and exercisablekstiptions under the Equity Incentive Plans
as of December 31, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted

Average
Weighted Average Remaining Weighted Average

Number of options Contractual Number
Exercise Price or Range outstanding Exercise Price Term Exercisable Exercise Price

$3.40- $13.50 140,33: $ 5.0¢ 7.9 year 43,26: $ 6.67
$14.20- $54.40 35,40z 26.6¢ 6.4 year 26,03: 27.71
$77.80- $128.5C 24,53¢ 100.1: 4.1 year 24,53¢ 100.1:
$178.0C- $178.0C 7,50( 178.0( 0.3 year 7,50( 178.0(
207,770 $ 26.22 6.9 year 101,33. $ 47.41
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The following table summarizes informatisith respect to outstanding RSU's as of DecembgP@13, 2012 and 2011:

Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair Value

Number of Shares Per Share
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 71,29C $ 40.9(
Grantec 321,17 $ 9.5C
Vested (18,770 $ 40.9(
Forfeited (9,099 $ 45.8(
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 364,60( $ 13.1¢
Grantec 515,07 $ 3.0¢
Vested (50,549 $ 21.7%
Forfeited (67,459 $ 10.4¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 761,66. $ 6.01
Grantec 463,21t $ 3.6¢
Vested (326,64) $ 6.6(C
Forfeited (227,899 $ 4.7z
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 670,33¢ $ 4.47

The fair value of each stock option awardstimated on the date of grant using the Bidleles option pricing model. The determina
of the fair value of each stock option is affedbgcthe Company's stock price on the date of gamntyell as assumptions regarding a number
highly complex and subjective variables. Thesealdeis include, but are not limited to, the Compaeypected stock price volatility over the
expected life of the awards and actual and projesteck option exercise behavior. There were nckstptions granted during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2013.

During the years ended December 31, 20082 2nd 2011, the Company utilized a forfeiture @t25% for estimating the forfeitures of
stock compensation granted.
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The following table summarizes share-basedpensation expense included in the Company'sotidated statements of operations for
the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2(0fbliags:

For the Years Ended
December 31

2013 2012 2011
Share-based compensation expense
Cost of sale: $ 226 ¢ — $ —
Selling, general and administrati 1,59: 2,83: 1,90¢
Income tax benefit(1 — — —
Net effect of share-based compensation exp
on net los: $ 1,821 $ 2,83: $ 1,90¢
Reduction in earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share $ 01z $ 02C $ 0.1¢

(1) Income tax benefit is not illustrated because tbem@any is currently operating at a loss and ansh@tecome tax
benefit was not realized for the years ended Deeerdb, 2013, 2012 and 2011. The result of thedadaation
creates a timing difference, resulting in a deféétex asset, which is fully reserved for in theuadidon allowance.

(2) Diluted earnings per share for the years efdszember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 does not incanenon stock
equivalents due to their anti-dilutive nature assult of the Company's net losses for these réigpqueriods.
Accordingly, basic earnings per share and dilutatiiags per share are identical for all periods@néed

As of December 31, 2013, the Company estisthat pre-tax compensation expense for all dadeshare-based awards, including both
stock options and RSU's, in the amount of approteéiy&2,313 will be recognized through the year®0llhe Company expects to satisfy the
exercise of stock options and future distributiésiares of restricted stock by issuing new shafesmmon stock.

17. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company is organized into reportingnsegts based on the nature of the products andcesruifered and business activities from
which it earns revenues and incurs expenses farthadiscrete financial information is available aadularly reviewed by the Company's chief
operating decision maker. The Company's segmendtshair product and service offerings are summadrtzsow:

Towers and Weldments

The Company manufactures towers for winbities, specifically the large and heavier windeéosvthat are designed for 2 MW and large
wind turbines. Production facilities, located in hM@awoc, Wisconsin and Abilene, Texas, are situatedose proximity to the primary U.S.
domestic
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17. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

wind energy and equipment manufacturing hubs. Wueefacilities have a combined annual tower productiapacity of up to approximately
500 towers, sufficient to support turbines genarathore than 1,200 MW of power. This product segrmaéso encompasses the manufacture c
specialty fabrications and specialty weldmentaiaring and other industrial customers.

Gearing

The Company engineers, builds and rematurfeg precision gears and gearing systems fondilgas, wind, mining, steel and other
industrial applications. The Company uses an iatiegk manufacturing process, which includes macyiaird finishing processes in Cicero,
lllinois, and heat treatment in Neville Island, Rsylvania.

Services

The Company offers a comprehensive rangefices, primarily to wind farm developers anérapors. The Company specializes in nor
routine maintenance services for both kilowatt eredjawatt turbines. The Company also offers commste field services to the wind ene
industry. The Company is increasingly focusingeff®rts on the identification and/or developmenpodduct and service offerings which will
improve the reliability and efficiency of wind tures, and therefore enhance the economic benefits tustomers. The Company provides
wind services across the U.S., with primary serlacations in South Dakota and Texas. In Febru@d12the Company put into operation the
Gearbox Facility, which is focused on servicing ¢inewing installed base of MW wind turbines as tieyne off warranty and, to a limited
extent, industrial gearboxes requiring precisiqgraieand testing.

Corporate and Other

"Corporate and Other" is comprised of atljigts to reconcile segment results to consolidegsalts, which primarily includes corporate
administrative expenses and intercompany eliminatio

The accounting policies of the reportaldgnsents are the same as those referenced in Ntidedgription of Business and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies" of these consota&thfinancial statements. Summary financial infaioraby reportable segment is as follows:

Towers and
Weldments Gearing Services Corporate Eliminations Consolidated
2013:
Revenues from
external
customers $ 159,26¢ $ 39,21 $ 17,22¢ $ — $ 215,71
Intersegment
revenues(1l 20¢ 3,931 15 — (4,16)) —
Operating profit
(loss) 19,55( (17,916 (4,727 (10,197 69 (13,210
Depreciation and
amortization 3,87: 9,63t 1,39¢ 51 — 14,85¢
Capital expenditure 1,811 4,26 301 57€ — 6,95(
Assets held for sal 821 1,14¢ — — — 1,97(
Total asset 52,75¢ 67,357 14,80( 300,83t (272,05) 163,69
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17. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Towers and
Weldments Gearing Services Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

2012:
Revenues from

external custome $ 135,22: $ 53,56¢ $ 21,92( $ — % — $ 210,70
Intersegment

revenues(1l — 2,094 18¢€ — (2,280) —
Operating profit

(loss) 2,76¢ (7,626 (4,18Y (8,260 8 (17,29
Depreciation and

amortization 3,67¢ 10,95t 1,841 65 — 16,537
Capital expenditure 62¢ 3,17¢ 1,30 627 — 5,73¢
Assets held for sal 8,047 — — — — 8,04:
Total asset 58,84: 71,37: 13,97¢ 308,33t (309,616 142,91(

Towers and
Weldments Gearing Services Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

2011:
Revenues from

external

customer: $ 116,86¢( $ 52,75( $ 16,23t $ — 3 — $ 185,85
Intersegment

revenues(1l 58 1,54¢ 55 — (1,659 —
Operating profit

(loss) 5,18 (20,737 (5,247 (9,599 (43 (20,429
Depreciation and

amortization 3,50¢ 9,927 937 167 — 14,53¢
Capital expenditure 52¢ 287 3,82¢ 66 — 4,70¢
Assets held for sal 8,052 — — — — 8,052
Total asset 76,23" 80,64: 15,75: 317,41 (317,15) 172,89:

Q) Intersegment revenues primarily consist of salesfGearing to Services. Sales from Gearing to Sesviotaled $3,937,
$2,094 and $1,546 for the years ended Decemb@03B, 2012 and 2011, respective

The Company generates revenues entirety fransactions completed in the U.S. and its lovedl assets are all located in the U.S. All
intercompany revenue is eliminated in consolidatiduaring 2013, two customers each accounted foertttan 10% of total net revenues.
These two customers accounted for revenues of 68#&8d $64,598 respectively, and were reportedmitte Towers and Weldments
segment. During the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011, five customers accounted for 83%4 &nd 76%, respectively, of total
net revenues.

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Retirement Savings and Profit Sharing Plans
Retirement Savings and Profit Sharing Pl

The Company offers a 401(k) retirementsgwiplan to all eligible employees who may eleatdotribute a portion of their salary on a
pre-tax basis, subject to applicable statutory limaasi. Participating n-union employees are eligible to receive safe hamiatching



contributions equal to 100% of the first 3% of haaticipant's elective deferral contributions alé®bof the next 2% of the participant's elec
deferral contributions. In accordance with the edtive bargaining agreements in
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

place at its two union locations, the Companyisdlk-based union employees are eligible to recaidescretionary match in an amount up to
50% of each participant's first 4% of elective defecontributions, and the Company's Pennsylvéaised union employees are eligible to
receive a discretionary match in an amount up @%4.0f each participant's first 3% and 50% of thet 2846 of elective deferral contributions.
The Company has the discretion, subject to apgkcstiatutory requirements, to fund any matchingrtoation with a contribution to the plan
of the Company's common stock. Starting in secaradtgr of 2011 and through the fourth quarter df122@he Company funded matching
contributions in cash. Beginning with the first giga 2012, the Company resumed funding matchingriganions in the form of the Compan
common stock. Under the plan, elective deferratslaasic company matching will be 100% vested diraks.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, a6d2011, the Company recorded expense under pleseof approximately $705, $661
and $636, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Ple

The Company maintains a deferred compeamsatan for certain key employees and nhonemployeetdrs, whereby certain wages
earned, compensation for services rendered, antetinary company-matching contributions may biemled and deemed to be invested in
the Company's common stock. Changes in the fairevaf the plan liability are recorded as chargesredits to compensation expense.
Compensation expense associated with the defeoragensation plan recorded during the years endedrblger 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,
was $41, ($26) and ($45), respectively. The falu@af the plan liability to the Company is incluti® accrued liabilities in the Company's
consolidated balance sheets. As of December 3B 20d 2012, the fair value of plan liability to tiempany was $54 and $12, respectively.

In addition to the employee benefit plapsatibed above, the Company participates in cectastomary employee benefits plans,
including those which provide health and life iresure benefits to employees.

19. NEW MARKETS TAX CREDIT TRANSACTION

On July 20, 2011, the Company received&2j8 proceeds via the NMTC Transaction. The NMTi@nEaction qualifies under the
NMTC program and included a gross loan from AMCR&Fkhe Company's whol-owned subsidiary, Broadwind Services, LLC, in the
principal amount of $10,000, with a term of fifteggars and interest payable at the rate of 1.4%umenm, largely offset by a gross loan in the
principal amount of $7,720 from the Company to CGCRIth a term of fifteen years and interest pagatilthe rate of 2.5% per annum.

The NMTC regulations permit taxpayers t@irol credits against their federal income taxeaufoto 39% of qualified investments in the
equity of community development entities. The NMT@ansaction could generate $3,900 in tax creditscivthe Company has made availé
under the structure by passing them through tot&@laPne. The proceeds have been applied to the @ayrpinvestment in the Gearbox
Facility assets and operating costs, as permitteénuthe NMTC program.
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The Gearbox Facility must operate and b@mpliance with various regulations and restritsior seven years to comply with the terms
of the NMTC Transaction, or the Company may beldiamder its indemnification agreement with Cap@ale for the recapture of tax credits.
In the event the Company does not comply with tliegalations and restrictions, the NMTC programdeedits may be subject to 100%
recapture for a period of seven years as provideka IRC. The Company does not anticipate thataxgredit recapture events will occur or
that it will be required to make any payments t@i@d One under the indemnification agreement.

The Capital One contribution, includingoan origination payment of $320, has been incluedther assets in the Company's condense
consolidated balance sheet. The NMTC Transacticindies a put/call provision whereby the Company tmapbligated or entitled to
repurchase Capital One's interest in the thirdtgoaf 2018. Capital One may exercise an optigoutioits investment and receive $130 from
Company. If Capital One does not exercise its ptiba, the Company can exercise a call option athien fair market value of the call. The
Company expects that Capital One will exercisepiliteoption at the end of the tax credit recaptumegal. The Capital One contribution other
than the amount allocated to the put obligation mélrecognized as income only after the put/sadixercised and when Capital One has no
ongoing interest. However, there is no legal ottiarafor Capital One to exercise the put, and thenany has attributed only an insignificant
value to the put option included in this transatttructure.

The Company has determined that two passHfi financing entities created under this tratisactructure are variable interest entities
("VIE's"). The ongoing activities of the VIE's—cetiting and remitting interest and fees and comglywth NMTC program requirements—
were considered in the initial design of the NMT@saction and are not expected to significanfigcafeconomic performance throughout
life of the VIE's. Management also considered theti@actual arrangements that obligate the Compaudgliver tax benefits and provide
various other guarantees under the transactiootstr) Capital One's lack of a material intereghaunderlying economics of the project, and
the fact that the Company is obligated to absasbde of the VIE's. The Company has concluded tiatequired to consolidate the VIE's
because the Company has both (i) the power totdllese matters that most significantly impactabsvities of each VIE and (ii) the
obligation to absorb losses or the right to recéierefits of each VIE.

The $262 of issue costs paid to third parin connection with the NMTC Transaction are rded as prepaid expenses, and are being
amortized over the expected seven year term diiM&C arrangement. Capital One's net contributio82600 is included in Long Term
Debt, Net of Current Maturities in the consolidabedance sheet. Incremental costs to maintainréimsaction structure during the compliance
period will be recognized as they are incurred.
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The Company's total net restructuring cearigr the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@iid consist of the following:

2011 2012 2013 Total

Actual Actual Actual Incurred
Restructuring charges
Capital expenditure $ 5 % 259 $ 2,352 $ 4,95¢
Gain on sale of Brandon Facili — — (3,585 (3,58Y)
Accelerated depreciatic — 81¢ 89¢ 1,715
Severanci 43C — 43t 86¢E
Impairment charge — — 2,36¢ 2,36¢
Moving and other ex-related cost 43¢ 1,67 3,08¢ 5,201
Total 874 5,092 5,55( 11,51¢

During the third quarter of 2011, the Compaonducted a review of its business strategidspanduct plans based on the outlook for the
economy at large, the forecast for the industtissiives, and its business environment. The Compamgiuded that its manufacturing footpi
and fixed cost base were too large and expensiviesfmedium-term needs and began restructurinigdi$ity capacity and its management
structure to consolidate and increase the effidéenaf its operations.

The Company is executing a plan to redtscéacility footprint by approximately 40% througte sale and/or closure through the end of
2014 of facilities comprising a total of approxirligt600,000 square feet. As part of this planhthird quarter of 2011, the Company
determined that the Brandon Facility should be ,saidl as a result the Company reclassified thedgmaffracility property and equipment to
Assets Held for Sale and the related indebtedmesimbilities Held for Sale. In April 2013, the Cpany completed the sale of the Brandon
Facility, generating a gain on sale of $3,585 goreximately $8,000 in net proceeds after closiogt€and the repayment of the mortgage or
the Brandon Facility. Including the sale of the @tan Facility, the Company has so far closed ouced its leased presence at six facilities
achieved a reduction of approximately 400,000 sgjéeet. During 2013, the Company determined ttatintonville Facility was no longer
required in its operations and reclassified thepprty and equipment associated with the ClintoeRhcility, as well as certain Gearing
equipment, to Assets Held for Sale. The most sicanit remaining reduction relates to the anticigatesure and disposition of the Cicero
Avenue Facility. The use of the Cicero Avenue Rgcih our production was significantly curtailetithe end of 2013, and we recorded a
related $1,732 impairment, primarily in cost ofesain the fourth quarter of 2013. The Company keBats remaining locations will be
sufficient to support its Towers and Weldments, i@gg Services and general corporate and admitiigractivities, while allowing for growt
for the next several years.

In the third quarter of 2012, the Compatignitified a $352 liability associated with the plad sale of the Cicero Avenue Facility. The
Company further adjusted the liability in the fduduarter of 2013 by recording an additional $2b&rge. The liability is associated with
environmental remediation costs that were originaéntified while preparing the site for sale. Tdenses associated with this
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20. RESTRUCTURING (Continued)
liability have been recorded as restructuring ceargnd as of December 31, 2013 the accrual batenw@ning is $500.

Including costs incurred to date, the Conypaxpects that a total of approximately $13,208atfcosts will be incurred to implement this
restructuring initiative. To date, the Company mesirred approximately $11,500, or 88% of the tetglected restructuring costs. The
Company's restructuring charges generally includ#scto close or exit facilities, costs to moveipment, the related costs of building
infrastructure for moved equipment and employeateel costs. Of the total restructuring costs iremdljra total of approximately $4,800 cons
of noncash charges. Restructuring costs incurred toideliede $900 of severance and $1,750 of acceled®prkciation of the Cicero Aven
Facility. During 2013, the Company incurred restuiinig-related impairment charges of $1,732 relatetthe Cicero Avenue Facility, $288
related to the Clintonville Facility and $345 reldtto certain Gearing segment machinery and equipritee table below details the Compa
total net restructuring charges incurred to datethr total net expected restructuring charges Becember 31, 2013:

2011 2012 2013 Total Total
Actual Actual Actual Incurred Projected
Capital expenditures
Gearing $ 5 %2072 ¢ 207t $ 4,15 $ 4,96(
Corporate — 524 277 801 801
Total capital expenditure 5 2,59¢ 2,352 4,95: 5,761
Cash expense
Cost of sales
Gearing 131 30¢ 2,17¢ 2,61¢t 3,44¢
Services — 22F 234 45¢ 45¢
Total cost of sale 131 53¢ 2,41( 3,07¢ 3,90¢
Selling, general, and administrative
expenses
Towers and Weldmen — 13C 17¢€ 30€ 30€
Gearing 35 52C 451 1,00¢ 1,00¢
Services — 40 — 40 40
Corporate 40€ 49 462 917 917
Total selling, general and administrati
expense: 441 73¢ 1,08¢ 2,26¢ 2,26¢
Other—Towers and Weldments gain on
Brandon Facility: — — (3,585 (3,58Y) (3,58Y)
Nor-cash expense
Towers and Weldmen — — 291 291 291
Gearing 247 1,16¢ 3,00¢ 4,421 4,421
Services — 58 (15) 43 43
Corporate 50 — — 50 50
Total nor-cash expense 297 1,22¢ 3,28¢ 4,80¢ 4,80¢
Grand tota $ 874 $ 5092 $ 5550 $ 11,51¢ $ 13,15¢
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The following table provides a summary elested financial results of operations by quéaidethe years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 as follows:

2013 First Second Third Fourth
Revenue: $ 45,50¢ $ 52,94¢ $ 60,86: $ 56,397
Gross profit 2,17¢ 3,401 4,61¢ 2,15¢
Operating los! (4,489 (2,489 (2,289 (3,950
(Loss) income from continuing operations, net af (4,549 404 (2,499 (3,746
Net (loss) incomi (4,759 404 (2,399 (3,74¢6)
(Loss) income from continuing operations per sh

Basic and Dilutec (0.32) 0.0z (0.1¢ (0.25)
Net (loss) income per shal

Basic and Dilutet $ (039 % 00 $ (0179 $ (0.20
2012 First Second Third Fourth
Revenue: $ 54,44% $ 56,31 $ 55,04¢ $ 44,90¢
Gross profit 2,232 1,65¢ 2,71t 23C
Operating los! (3,94)) (4,159 (3,527) (5,670
Loss from continuing operations, net of (3,860 (4,23)) (3,939 (5,87%)
Net loss (3,860 (4,23 (3,939 (5,87¢
Loss from continuing operations per shi

Basic and Dilutec (0.2¢) (0.30 (0.2¢) (0.47
Net loss per shar

Basic and Dilutet $ (028 $ (030 % (0289 $ (0.4)

22. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Shareholder Lawsuits

On February 11, 2011, a putative clas®aatias filed in the United States District Coutt ttee Northern District of Illinois (the "USDC
against the Company and certain of its currenbomér officers and directors. The lawsuit was purmtly brought on behalf of purchasers of
the Company's common stock between March 17, 266%agust 9, 2010. A lead plaintiff was appointed @an amended complaint was filed
on September 13, 2011. The amended complaint nasadditional defendants certain of the Companyi®nt and former directors, certain
Tontine entities, and Jeffrey Gendell, a princigial ontine. The complaint sought to allege thatdb&endants violated Section 10(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (tkeH&nhge Act"), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereyraded/or Section 20(a) of the
Exchange Act by issuing or causing to be issueatiasof allegedly false and/or misleading stateseancerning the Company's financial
results, operations, and prospects, including vésipect to the January 2010 secondary public offesf the Company's common stock (the
"Offering™). The plaintiffs alleged that the Comp&nstatements were false and misleading becams®aother things, the Company's
reported financial results during
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the class period allegedly violated GAAP becausy fhiled to reflect the impairment of goodwill aather intangible assets, and the Compan
allegedly failed to disclose known trends and oth&rmation regarding certain customer relatiopstat Brad Foote. In support of their
claims, the plaintiffs relied in part upon six glézl confidential informants, all of whom are alldge be former employees of the Company.
November 18, 2011, the Company filed a motion smilss. On April 19, 2012, the USDC granted in pad denied in part the Compan
motion. The USDC dismissed all claims with prejedéagainst each of the named current and formerenffiexcept for J. Cameron Drecoll and
held that the plaintiffs had failed to state armldor any alleged misstatements made after Mar¢l2Q®0. In addition, the USDC dismissed all
claims with prejudice against the named Tontinéieatand Mr. Gendell. The USDC denied the motidgthwespect to certain of the claims
asserted against the Company and Mr. Drecoll. Tdragany filed its answer and affirmative defensed/aly 21, 2012. The plaintiffs' class
certification was filed on June 22, 2012, and thdips agreed to a briefing schedule. The partiesaipated in a mediation session on

August 20, 2012, and reached agreement on a setitesfithe matter in the amount of $3,915, payabléhe Company's insurance carrier. The
USDC granted final approval of the settlement ameJ2i7, 2013.

Between February 15, 2011 and March 30120tee putative shareholder derivative lawsuisenfiled in the USDC against certain of
the Company's current and former officers and thirsc and certain Tontine entities, seeking tolehgke alleged breaches of fiduciary duty,
waste of corporate assets, and unjust enrichmentiding in connection with the Offering. One oétlawsuits also alleged that certain
directors violated Section 14(a) of the ExchangeiAconnection with the Company's Proxy Statenfenits 2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. Two of the matters pending in the GSiere subsequently consolidated, and on May 182 2be USDC granted the
defendants' motion to dismiss the consolidatedscasd also entered an order dismissing the thed.can January 17, 2014, the Company an
the plaintiffs from the consolidated derivative kit filed a joint motion to reopen the derivataetion and preliminarily approve a derivative
settlement. The USDC subsequently reopened theadiee action and granted preliminary approvalhaf settlement on February 3, 2014. The
final approval hearing is scheduled for April 3,120 The settlement resolves outstanding sharehdkt@rative claims, including those raised
in certain shareholder demand letters receivedh&yBbard. The terms of the settlement include ttopton by the Company of certain
corporate governance reforms, along with other thaheneasures. The settlement provides for the @myip insurance carrier and/or the
Company to pay plaintiffs' counsel's attorneyssfaed expenses in the amount of $600, subject CJ&pproval.

The Company received a request from thdiflerlefendants for indemnification in the derivatsuits and the class action lawsuit from
Tontine and/or Mr. Gendell pursuant to various aegrents related to shares of the Company's commok etvned by Tontine. The Company
maintains directors and officers liability insurantiowever, the costs of indemnification for Mr.n@ell and/or Tontine would not be covered
by any Company insurance policy. The Company sulesgty entered into an agreement with Tontine mhog, among other things, for the
settlement of these indemnification claims andteelanatters in consideration for a payment in thewnt of $495, which was paid in 2013.
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SEC Inquiry

In August 2011, the Company received a eabp from the United States Securities and Exch@ogemission ("SEC") seeking
documents and other records related to certainuationy practices at Brad Foote. The subpoena vgagdsin connection with an informal
inquiry that the Company received from the SEC av&mber 2010, which likely arose out of a whistbetr complaint that the SEC received
related to revenue recognition, cost accountingiatahgible and fixed asset valuations at Brad €o06he Company has been in regular col
with the SEC, and in its communications the SECdhasfied or supplemented its requests. The Comas produced documents responsive
to such requests and completed the process ofrrdéspto the subpoena for documents. Followingdheance of subpoenas for testimony
SEC has deposed certain current and former BrateRoa Company employees. The Company cannot tlyrpgrdict the outcome of this
investigation. The Company does not believe thatdsolution of this matter will have a materiaveide effect on the Company's consolidate:
financial position or results of operations. Naraste regarding the loss or range of loss, if &ngt may be incurred in connection with this
matter is possible at this time. All pending reingement requests from Tontine related to the SEGiiy were resolved in the above-
referenced settlement.

Environmental

On February 15, 2011, pursuant to a seaerhant, officials from the United States Enviromta Protection Agency ("USEPA") entered
and conducted a search of the Cicero Avenue Ratilitonnection with the alleged improper dispaffahdustrial wastewater to the sewer.
Also on or about February 15, 2011, in connectidh the same matter, the Company received a gragdsjbpoena requesting testimony anc
the production of certain documents relating toGlieero Avenue Facility's past compliance with agrienvironmental laws and regulations
relating to the generation, discharge and dispafsabistewater from certain of its processes betva&4 and the present. On or about
February 23, 2011, the Company received anothadgray subpoena relating to the same investigatiequesting testimony and the
production of certain other documents relatinggdain of the Cicero Avenue Facility's employeesjimnmental and manufacturing
processes, and disposal practices. On April 5, 20E2Company received a letter from the UnitedeStattorney's Office, Northern District of
lllinois ("USAQ") requesting the production of cairt financial records from 2008 to the present. Toenpany completed its response to the
subpoenas and to the USAQ's request and has dlsttardly instituted corrective measures at thee@icAvenue Facility, including changes to
its wastewater disposal practices. On Septembe2®@3, the USAO commenced a criminal action inlls®C based on this investigation.
Subsequently, Brad Foote entered into a plea agneewith the USAO (the "Plea Agreement") with rebso this criminal action, pursuant to
which Brad Foote agreed to plead guilty to one ta@iknowingly violating the Clean Water Act, TitB3, United States Code, Section 1319(c
(2)(A) and pay a $1,500 fine (payable in threeakstents of $500 within three years of the datseasftencing), subject to the USDC's approva
of the Plea Agreement. Brad Foote pled guilty pansto the Plea Agreement on November 13, 2013tletd SDC approved the Plea
Agreement on February 19, 2014.

87




Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

2.1

2.4

2.€

3.1

3.4

4.1

Share Exchange Agreement dated as of NovemI280B, among Blackfoot

Enterprises, Inc., Tower Tech Systems Inc. andltaeeholders of Tower Tech

Systems Inc. (incorporated by reference to Extalitto the Company's Current Report on
Form &K filed November 21, 200¢

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of Septemb20@3,among the Company,
R. B. A. Inc. and the shareholders of R. B. A. Ificcorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
to the Company's Current Report on Foi-K filed September 17, 200

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 2Z, 20ng the Company, Brad Foote
Gear Works, Inc. and the shareholders of Brad FGet Works, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Curregppdt on Form 8-K filed August 24,
2007)

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of April 24, 2008ng the Company, Badger
Transport, Inc. and the shareholders of Badgerspam, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on F8-K filed April 30, 2008)

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated Rsadmber 9, 2007 among the
Company, Energy Maintenance Service, LLC, and tembrers of Energy Maintenance
Service, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhihit to the Company's Current Report
Form &K filed December 13, 200°

Amendment No. 1 dated as of January 8, 2008 to Meship Interest Purchase Agreerr
dated as of December 9, 2007 among the Companyg¥Maintenance Service, LLC, @
the members of Energy Maintenance Service, LLCofiparated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on F8-K filed January 14, 200¢

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of March 4, @8ttbhg the Company, Badger
Transport, Inc. and BTI Logistics, LLC (incorpordtley reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company's Current Report on For-K filed March 10, 2011

Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Company's Quarterly Report on Formr-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2(

Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Ingoration of the Company (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's CurReport on Form 8-K filed August 23,
2012)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 3.1
the Company's Current Report on For-K filed November 5, 201C

Certificate of Designation of the Series A JuniartRipating Preferred Stock of the
Company dated February 13, 2013 (incorporated teyence to Exhibit 2 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Fo-A filed February 13, 201:

Section 382 Rights Agreement, dated as of Febrl2ar2013, between the Company and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as righgera, which includes the Form of Rig
Certificate as Exhibit B thereto (incorporated bference to Exhibit 1 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Fori-A filed February 13, 201z
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4.2

10.1

10.2

10.2

10.¢

10.5

10.¢

10.7

10.¢

10.€

10.1(

10.11

Certificate of Designation of Series A JuniortRgpating Preferred Stock of the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 to the Camys Registration Statement on Form 8-
A filed February 13, 2013

Lease Agreement dated December 26, 2007 betweearTieeh Systems Inc. and City
Centre, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhil@it3lto the Company's Annual Report
Form 1(-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Purchase Agreement Addendum dated as of FebruaB008 between Brad Foote Gear
Works, Inc. and BFG Cicero LLC (incorporated byerehce to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Fori-K filed February 21, 200¢

Assignment and Assumption of Purchase Agreemertidad of February 11, 2008
between Brad Foote Gear Works, Inc. and 1309 Soiatro Avenue, LLC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's GurReport on Form 8-K filed
February 21, 200¢

Purchase Agreement Addendum dated as of FebruaB008 between Brad Foote Gear
Works, Inc. and BFG Pittsburgh LLC (incorporatedrbference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Current Report on Fori-K filed February 21, 200¢

Assignment and Assumption of Purchase Agreemertdad of February 11, 2008
between Brad Foote Gear Works, Inc. and 5100 NeRtad, LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's CurReport on Form 8-K filed February 21,
2008)

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Mar2iQl, among the Company, Tontine
Capital Partners, L.P. and Tontine Capital Overséaster Fund, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's CurRaport on Form 8-K filed March 5,
2007)

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Augu&@® among the Company, Tontine
Capital Partners, L.P. and Tontine Capital Overséaster Fund, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's CurReport on Form 8-K filed August 24,
2007)

Amended and Restated Securities Purchase Agreefatd as of January 3, 2008 among
the Company, Tontine Capital Partners, L.P., TenRartners, L.P. and Tontine 25
Overseas Master Fund, L.P. (incorporated by reterém Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Forrr-K filed January 4, 200¢

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Aprik@28 among the Company, Tontine
Capital Partners, L.P., Tontine Partners, L.P.tihenOverseas Fund, Ltd. and Tontine 25
Overseas Master Fund, L.P. (incorporated by rateréo Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's
Current Report on Forrmr-K filed April 28, 2008)

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Apri2@28 between the Company and
Charles H. Beynon (incorporated by reference toiltikh0.2 to the Company's Current
Report on Form-K filed April 28, 2008)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Mar2007 among the Company, Tontine
Capital Partners, L.P. and Tontine Capital Overséaster Fund, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's CurRaport on Form 8-K filed March 5,
2007)
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10.1%

10.1:

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.17

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2(

10.21F

10.2:F

Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement datedf October 19, 2007 among the
Company, Tontine Capital Partners, L.P., TontinpitahOverseas Master Fund, L.P.,
Tontine Partners, L.P., Tontine Overseas Fund,dnd. Tontine 25 Overseas Master
Fund, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibi61d the Company's Current Report on
Form &K filed October 24, 2007

Amendment No. 2 to Registration Rights Agreemem¢dias of July 18, 2008 among the
Company, Tontine Capital Partners L.P., Tontindrieas, L.P., Tontine Capital Overseas
Master Fund, L.P., Tontine 25 Overseas Master Furfil,and Tontine Overseas Fund,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tler@any's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed July 23, 2008

Amendment No. 3 to Registration Rights Agreemem¢dias of September 12, 2008
among the Company, Tontine Capital Partners L.@ntilie Partners, L.P., Tontine Capital
Overseas Master Fund, L.P., Tontine 25 Overseatdvigund, L.P. and Tontine Overseas
Fund, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibitll® the Company's Current Report on
Form &K filed September 12, 200:

Amendment No. 4 to Registration Rights Agreemem¢dias of October 31, 2008 among
the Company, Tontine Capital Partners, L.P., TenBartners, L.P., Tontine Capital
Overseas Master Fund, L.P., Tontine Overseas Huddand Tontine 25 Overseas Master
Fund, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl1i® the Company's Current Report on
Form &K filed November 4, 200€

Waiver relating to Registration Rights Agreemeiatied January 9, 2009, by Tontine
Capital Partners, L.P., Tontine Partners, L.P. tihenCapital Overseas Master Fund, L.P.,
Tontine Overseas Fund, Ltd. and Tontine 25 Overbéaster Fund, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's CurReport on Form 8-K filed January 15,
2009)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of OctoBePQ07 among the Company and the
shareholders of Brad Foote Gear Works, Inc. (ineajed by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company's Current Report on For-K filed October 24, 2007

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Januér008 among the Company and the
members of Energy Maintenance Service, LLC (incafeml by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Company's Current Report on Foi-K filed January 23, 200¢

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April2808 between the Company and
Charles H. Beynon (incorporated by reference toiltikh0.3 to the Company's Current
Report on Form-K filed April 28, 2008)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Jun®dg8 detween the Company and the
shareholders of Badger Transport, Inc. (incorparatereference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Current Report on Fori-K filed June 10, 200¢

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datefiascember 17, 2012 between
the Company and Peter C. Duprey (incorporated t@yerce to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Fori-K filed December 17, 201:

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datefiscember 17, 2012 between
the Company and Jesse E. Collins, Jr. (incorpoiayagéference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Current Report on Fori-K filed December 21, 201:
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10.3ct

10.31F

10.3:F

10.3:T

10.3F

10.3¢t
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10.37T

Separation Agreement dated as of October 24,,2818nd between the Company and
Jesse E. Collins, Jr. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form-K filed October 28, 2013

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datefilascember 17, 2012 between
the Company and Stephanie K. Kushner (incorporayeference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Current Report on For-K filed December 21, 201:

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement datefiscember 17, 2012 between
the Company and J.D. Rubin (incorporated by refegea Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's
Current Report on Formr-K filed December 21, 201:

Separation Agreement, dated as of January 14, 2@t®een the Company and J.D. Rubin
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tler@any's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed January 15, 201:

Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by referéa Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's
Current Report on Formr-K filed October 26, 2007

Broadwind Energy, Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Plarc¢rporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report omk10-Q for the quarterly period
ended September 30, 20:

Broadwind Energy, Inc. 2012 Equity Incentive Plarc¢rporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report omk10-Q for the quarterly period
ended September 30, 20:

Form of Executive Incentive Stock Option Agreem@mtorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report om10-Q for the quarterly period
ended June 30, 201

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forgpis@rterly period ended June 30,
2010)

Form of Nonqualified Option Agreement (incorporatsdreference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Formr-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2(

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forarterly period ended June 30,
2010)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (irmrated by reference to Exhibit 1!
to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-QHerquarterly period ended June 30,
2010)

Form of Performance Award Agreement (incorporatgddierence to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2(

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement (inargied by reference to Exhibit 10.%
the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forpiarterly period ended June 30,
2010)

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock AdvAgreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quartedport on Form 1@ for the quarterl
period ended March 31, 201
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10.3¢F

10.3¢t

10.4ct

10.41

10.4-

10.4:

10.4¢

10.4¢

10.4¢

16.1

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (irmrated by reference to Exhibit 1!
to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-QHerquarterly period ended March 31,
2012)

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (irmrated by reference to Exhibit 11
to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-QHerquarterly period ended March 31,
2012)

Form of Stock Option Agreement (incorporated brefce to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Formr-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2C

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of Augus2@32 among the Company, Brad
Foote Gear Works, Inc., Broadwind Towers, Inc.,&lwind Services, LLC and AloStar
Bank of Commerce (incorporated by reference to Ekh0.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form-K filed August 23, 2012

First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement\AMadver, dated as of February 13,
2013, among the Company, Brad Foote Gear Works, Brioadwind Services, LLC,
Broadwind Towers, Inc., 1309 South Cicero AvenueC| 5100 Neville Road, LLC and
AloStar Bank of Commerce (incorporated by refereincExhibit 10.56 to the Company's
Annual Report on Form =K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemen¥éaidter, dated as of
September 30, 2013, among the Company, Brad Foede Works, Inc., Broadwind
Services, LLC, Broadwind Towers, Inc., 1309 Soutte@® Avenue, LLC, 5100 Neville
Road, LLC and AloStar Bank of Commerce (incorpatdig reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forgiinarterly period ended
September 30, 201

Amended and Restated Lease for Industrial/ManufagfiBpace dated as of May 1, 2010
between Tower Tech Systems Inc. and City Centte(L.(incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Quarterly Report omk10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 201!

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporatedrbference to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2C

Amendment Agreement dated as of April 1, 2013, ayrtbe Company; Tontine Capital
Management, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liabilitynapany; Tontine Capital Overseas GP,
L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company; Toné Management, L.L.C., a Delaware
limited liability company; Tontine Overseas Asstes L.L.C., a Delaware limited liabili
company; Tontine Capital Overseas Master Fund.R,,la Cayman Islands limited
partnership; Tontine Power Partners, L.P., a Delawmited partnership; Tontine
Associates, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liabilitymmpany; Tontine Partners, L.P., a
Delaware limited partnership; Tontine Capital ParspL.P., a Delaware limited
partnership; Tontine Overseas Fund, LTD., a Caylslands exempted company; Tontine
25 Overseas Master Fund, L.P., a Cayman Island®trpartnership; and Tontine Capital
Overseas Master Fund, L.P., a Cayman Islands linpitetnership (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quartedport on Form 1@ for the quarterl
period ended March 31, 201

Letter from Grant Thornton LLP to the Securitiesl &xchange Commission dated
October 31, 2013 (incorporated by reference to lEkh6.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form-K filed October 31, 201z
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendele registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by ¢hundersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 12 day of March, 2014.

BROADWIND ENERGY, INC.

By: /sl PETER C. DUPREY

PETER C. DUPREY
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Examge Act of 1934, as amended, this report has besigned below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant andri the capacities and on the dates indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/s/ PETER C. DUPREY President and Chief Executive
Officer and Director March 12, 2014
Peter C. Dupre (Principal Executive Officer
Is/ STEPHANIE K. KUSHNER Executive Vice President and Chief
) Financial Officer March 12, 2014
Stephanie K. Kushner (Principal Financial Officer
/s/ ROBERT R. ROGOWSKI Vice President and Corporate
) Controller March 12, 2014
Robert R. Rogowski (Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ DAVID P. REILAND

Director and Chairman of the Bo¢ March 12, 2014

David P. Reilanc
/sl TERENCE P. FOX
Director March 12, 2014
Terence P. Fo
/s/ CHARLES H. BEYNON
Director March 12, 2014
Charles H. Beyno
/s/ WILLIAM T. FEJES, JR.
Director March 12, 2014
William T. Fejes, Jr
/sl THOMAS A. WAGNER
Director March 12, 2014

Thomas A. Wagne
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Subsidiaries of the Registrant

EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiaries State of Incorporation/Formation
Brad Foote Gear Works, In lllinois
Broadwind Services, LL( Delaware

Broadwind Towers, Inc Wisconsin
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated Februarg@¥3, with respect to the consolidated finansiatements included in the Annual Report of
Broadwind Energy Inc. on Form 10for the year ended December 31, 2013. We herehgent to the incorporation by reference of sgidnt
in the Registration Statements of Broadwind Enéngy on Forms S-3 (File Nos. 333-176066 and 3334839 and on Forms S-8 (File
Nos. 33.-160039, 333-181168, 333-181170, 333-181901 anell38311).

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Chicago, lllinois
March 12, 2014
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EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeecimcthe registration statements (Nos. 333-176086383-159487) on Form S-3 and (Nos. 333
160039, 333-181168, 333-181170, 333-181901, andl38311) on Form S-8 of Broadwind Energy, Inc. of teport dated March 12, 2014,
with respect to the consolidated balance sheetadiddvind Energy, Inc. as of December 31, 2013,thadelated consolidated statement of
operations, stockholders' equity and cash flowsgHeryear ended December 31, 2013, and all refatedcial statement schedules, which re
appears in the December 31, 2013 annual reporbom EO-K of Broadwind Energy, Inc.

/S/ KPMG LLP

Chicago, IL
March 12, 2014
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, Peter C. Duprey, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10flBroadwind Energy, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortdnstate a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-(f)) for the registrant hage:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial répgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princijples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyedis report, based on such

evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigisanternal control over financial reporting tloatturred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasir's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anglalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's Board of Directfspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contratiofmancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apobrt financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that ined management or other employees who have ais@mifole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2014

/sl PETER C. DUPREY

Peter C. Duprey
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
I, Stephanie K. Kushner, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10flBroadwind Energy, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortdnstate a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-(f)) for the registrant hage:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial répgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@gorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princijples

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and preséntai report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyedis report, based on such

evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigisanternal control over financial reporting tloatturred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasir's internal control over financial reportinggan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anglalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's Board of Directfspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contratiofmancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apobrt financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that ined management or other employees who have ais@mifole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2014

/sl STEPHANIE K. KUSHNER

Stephanie K. Kushner
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onfdr0K of Broadwind Energy, Inc. (the "Company") for thear ended December 31, 2013
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissthe {Commission™) on the date hereof (the "Repptt'Peter C. Duprey, President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify rpuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley AQOOR ("Section 906"), that:

(i) the Report fully complies with thequirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) efSkcurities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the "Exchange Act"); and

(ii) the information contained in the Refpfairly presents, in all material respects, fihancial condition and results of operations
of the Company as of, and for, the periods presentéhe Report.

March 12, 2014

/sl PETER C. DUPREY

Peter C. Duprey
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 and shall not be deemedi fijethe Company for purposes of Sectiol
of the Exchange Act.

A signed original of this written statemesadjuired by Section 906 has been provided to tiragany and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Commission or its staff upsouest.
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onfdr0K of Broadwind Energy, Inc. (the "Company") for thear ended December 31, 2013
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissthe {Commission™) on the date hereof (the "Reppit'$tephanie K. Kushner, Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of then@pany, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of theb&aes-Oxley Act of 2002 ("Section 906"),
that:

(i) the Report fully complies with thequirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) efSkcurities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the "Exchange Act"); and

(ii) the information contained in the Refpfairly presents, in all material respects, fihancial condition and results of operations
of the Company as of, and for, the periods preskeintthe Report.

March 12, 2014

/s/ STEPHANIE K. KUSHNER

Stephanie K. Kushner
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Reparspant to Section 906 and shall not be deemedi fijethe Company for purposes of Sectiol
of the Exchange Act.

A signed original of this written statemesadjuired by Section 906 has been provided to tiragany and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Commission or its staff upsuest.
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